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| am pleased to present the annual results of Rare Earth Magnesium
Technology Group Holdings Limited (the "Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the "REMT Group” or the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 December 2018 (the “Year”) on behalf of the board
of directors of the Company (the “Board”) for the shareholders’
perusal.

The Chinese Government has introduced policies in support of the
development of the magnesium industry. In 2018, the Ministry of
Industry and Information Technology (‘MIIT') announced the “Action
Plan for Harmonization of Standards for Jointly Building the Belt
and Road (2018-2020)", which boosted the standardization of
exchanges and cooperation with countries along the “One Belt, One
Road”, and also promoted the cooperation within the manufacturing
industry. Among them, in the field of non-ferrous metals, the focus
is on strengthening the formulation of international standards in
terms of rare earth, copper, lead, zinc, aluminum, magnesium and
magnesium alloys, titanium and titanium alloys, to promote the
formulation of relevant new material standards in cooperation with
countries along the belt and road, so as to facilitate the trading of
China's non-ferrous metal products along the "One Belt, One Road"
countries. At the same time, the Development Plan for the Non-
ferrous Metal Industry (2016 -2020) (the “Thirteenth Five-Year Plan
for the Non-ferrous Metals Industry”) has been issued by the Central
Government earlier, where the development and production of new
magnesium alloy materials has been listed as the development
priority. Under the “One Belt, One Road” and the favorable policies
of the magnesium industry, the Group's business on magnesium
alloy production has achieved high-speed development against the
backdrop of the favourable policies.

Magnesium alloys are widely used in transportation, such as high-
speed railway and automobile; 3C electronic products such as
computers, mobile phones and cameras; as well as applications on
biomedical and aerospace industries and so on. For the application
of new magnesium alloy materials in the aspect of weight
reduction for automobiles, the Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology, together with the National Development and Reform
Commission and the Ministry of Science and Technology, jointly
issued the “Plan for the Middle and Long-term Development of the
Automobile Industry”’, the "Plan”, proposing the development of
advanced automotive materials and manufacturing equipment, and
the acceleration of the application of magnesium alloys and rare
earth magnesium (aluminum) alloys. The “Plan” will further promote
the development of magnesium alloy automotive component
industry, as well as its application on weight reduction for new
energy vehicles, which has a positive effect on the development of
energy-saving and emission reduction of vehicles as well as new
energy automotives.
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The China Society of Automotive Engineers (CSAE) has issued “the
Roadmap for the Technology of Energy Conservation and New
Energy Vehicles”, which clearly sets the goals of weight reduction
for an entire vehicle by 10%, 20% and 35% by 2020, 2025 and 2030,
respectively, and the consumption of magnesium per vehicle will
reach 15kg, 25kg and 45kg respectively. The rapid development
of automobile industry will lead to a high demand of magnesium
alloy. With the trend of "Green Economy” prevailing today, new
magnesium alloy materials will have a broader market space
under the industrial trend, and the promotion and application of
lightweight automobiles.

Xinjiang Tengxiang Magnesium Products Company Limited
("Xinjiang Tengxiang "), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group,
was recognized as a “"High and New Technology Enterprise” by
the Leading Group for the Administration of Determination of High
And New Tech Enterprises throughout the Country of the People’s
Republic of China in 2018. The affirmation and approval from the
relevant State's departments denote the nation-level achievements
for REMT and Xinjiang Tengxiang on their research and development
capabilities, advanced technology, innovation sustainability and
standardized business management.

The Group continued its innovation efforts, and has increased its
investments in research and development, while adopting the
innovative vertical retorts smelting technology. It also optimized
the production procedures and operation regulations. The Xinjiang
production base being our wholly-owned subsidiary has officially
completed construction and commenced the production line by
using the advanced technology of vertical retorts for magnesium
smelting during the year, marking the Group's leading technology
among its peers in magnesium production. The vertical retorts
smelting technology is the most advanced smelting technology
in the magnesium industry, being the direction for development
of mechanization, automation and humanized production of
the magnesium smelting process. The Group will continue to
accumulate new momentum of development and stimulate
the driving force of the enterprise through R&D innovation and
technological upgrade.

During the year, the Group successfully sold its electronic business.
We will focus our resources and attention on the development of
our new magnesium alloy material business, and strive to become
China's largest leading magnesium product enterprise. By building
the premier magnesium technology industrial platform, realizing
modernization of production technology, and promoting the
industrialization of science and technology achievements, the group
leads the high-tech development of the magnesium industry to a
new era.

MERHEEEZER AR AR
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

HIRjg B FINAL DIVIDEND

RARzERERERN-_E—/\F+=H The Board of the Company recommends the declaration of final
=T —HLEFEMAQARRREEIRAREK dividend HK$0.50 cents to the shareholders of the Company for the

B.0.5081l - year ended 31 December 2018.

IS 3t APPRECIATION

RABRRAEER  HERE - ESEK On behalf of the Group, | would like to thank our shareholders,
8 8P RITREEBHNZERC— members of the Board, customers, bankers and other partners for

BUREAEBENBIRERA A N T FHFEH their great support. We will be faithful to our duties and will make
ARG - BPIASIERIBT - BEBS continual efforts to the future business development as well as the
RREBEE  BASBERRAIEER - creation of returns to the shareholders of the Group.

EREEEW By order of the Board

i Shum Sai Chit

= Chairman

BE —E-hEF=ZA=+NH Hong Kong, 28 March 2019
Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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During the Year, the magnesium production of the Group contributed
HK$1,537,781,000 to the revenue of the Group, representing a year-
on-year growth of 33%, which drove an increase of 18% in profit of
the Group (excluding one-off gain on disposal of electronic business)
to HK$216,377,000 (2017: HK$184,067,000). The significant increase
in profit was mainly due to the increase in overall production
and sales volume, as well as the cost efficiency driven by the
optimization of production processes. Furthermore, in July 2018,
the Group completed the disposal of its electronic business. The
Group has officially changed its name to Rare Earth Magnesium
Technology Group Holdings Limited, indicating the commencement
of the milestone with its focus on magnesium products business.
The abovementioned disposal has also generated additional one-off
revenue for the Group's profit of the year.

During the Year, Xinjiang Tengxiang, a subsidiary of the Group, has
been recognized as a national-level "High and New Technology
Enterprise” by the Leading Group for the Administration of
Determination of High and New Tech Enterprises throughout the
Country of the People's Republic of China. Leveraging on such
achievement, the Group has accelerated the development of
scientific research and introduction of technical expertise in the
promotion of rare magnesium technologies, and continue to further
strengthen the research and development of rare earth magnesium
alloys. By taking the advantage of the technology of the Group’'s R&D
centre and the resource of Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater
Bay Area, it improves the competitiveness of the Group, increases
the proportion of high-tech products, improves economic efficiency,
and further expands the market network.

The Group adopts the most advanced technology within the
magnesium industry and makes full use of the abundant high-
qguality local raw material resources in Xinjiang to safeguard
the sustainable development of the Group’s magnesium alloy
production business. After obtaining the title of "High and New
Technology Enterprise”’, Xinjiang Tengxiang will enjoy preferential
policies such as tax concessions, which facilitate enterprises to
increase investments in research and development, and continue
to promote high quality development through innovations in
technologies and craftsmanship as well as product upgrades. We
will accelerate the development of magnesium business, expand
our production capacity, and enhance the economies of scale. We
are committed to become the largest leading enterprise in the
magnesium alloys industry in China.

MERHEEEZER AR AR
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During the Year, the Group continued to promote the upgrades
of production technologies and increase the investments in
technologies optimization and innovations. The Group boldly
adopted the innovative vertical retorts smelting technology, as well
as perfecting the production procedures and operation regulations.
The new vertical retorts smelting production line installed in
Xinjiang Tengxiang production base has officially completed
construction and commenced operation, which effectively improves
energy conservation and environmental protection, as well as
improves production efficiency, reduces labor intensity, and
achieves mechanization, automation and humanized production
of the magnesium smelting process. The vertical retorts smelting
technology is the most advanced smelting technology in the
magnesium industry, as the cutting-edge technology for magnesium
production process, providing a new driver for the Group's high-
guality products development. The Group will continue to devote
itself to innovative technologies and research development for the
magnesium industry in the future, creating an advanced platform
for magnesium technology and leading the industry into the new
era of high-and-new technologies development.

Hami City in Xinjiang is the eastern front of Xinjiang, as well as a
strategic center of the State along “One Belt, One Road". As one of
the enterprises in the southern circular economy industrial park
of Hami High-tech Zone, Xinjiang Tengxiang takes advantage of
its geological location, characteristic economy and the accelerated
development within the circular economy. Xinjiang Tengxiang fully
utilizes the advantageous high quality and low priced resources
in Hami area, to speed up project construction and industrial
optimization, so as to promote the subsequent production capacity
of magnesium and magnesium alloys and the construction of
auxiliary ferro-silicon projects. After the completion of the project,
an circular economy development model of comprehensive
utilization of semi-coke, ferro-silicon and magnesium products will
be formed to boost the competitiveness of enterprises. In 2018, the
northeastern Baishan production base has effectively control its
costs through “staggering peak production”. In 2019, the production
will be rationally arranged according to the plan of “Coal to Gas”
implemented by the local government. And the output of Xinjiang
and Baishan production bases will be flexibly adjusted to further
optimize costs and to meet the market demand, thus creating
further benefits for the Group.
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In July 2018, the Group disposed its electronic business (the
“Disposal”). The Group believes that the development of electronic
communication technology is advancing in leaps and bounds, and
the competition is fierce. The profitability of the existing electronic
business will continue to face pressure from rising operating costs
and considerable investments in research and development of
technologies. The Disposal provided a good opportunity for the
Group to exit the electronic business in its entirety, and to focus
on the development of new materials business of magnesium
products, which is a sunrise industry. The Group intends to use
such proceeds, which is for general working capital to develop the
magnesium business which enjoys prosperous market potentials.

After the restructuring of the Group's business, we have more
resources and technological advantages, which enable us to better
expand the magnesium products business in a faster pace, and
provide high-quality magnesium and magnesium alloy products to
the market.

The Ministry of Industry and Information Technology ("MIIT") will
implement the following major tasks for the development of non-
ferrous metals industry in 2019: (i) Improve both the quality and
guantities of production, and accelerate the development of new
non-ferrous metals and new forms of businesses, including
tracking the progress of construction of new energy automotive
platform and strengthening the work supervision and coordination;
(ii) Optimize the stockpile and enhance the level of intelligence and
green development of the industrial chain; and achieve ecological
manufacturing in terms of green smelting, ultra-low emissions,
non-hazardous slag disposal, and comprehensive utilization of
resources around the production of copper, lead, zinc, tungsten
and magnesium. These reflect the continuous efforts of the Central
Government in promoting and clarifying the direction of the
development of non-ferrous metals industry, including the new
magnesium alloy materials.

MERHEEEZER AR AR
2018 AFRE 9
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Meanwhile, the MIIT attaches great importance to the application
of magnesium and magnesium alloys in the manufacture of
lightweight automobiles. In 2016, MIIT issued the “Development Plan
for the Non-ferrous Metal Industry (2016 -2020)", and proposed to
boost the development of magnesium alloy precision die-casting
parts for the lightweight structural components of automobiles. The
Ministry also jointly issued the “Guide to the Development of the
New Material Industry” (the "Guide") with the National Development
and Reform Commission (NDRC), the Ministry of Science and
Technology ("MST"), and the Ministry of Finance. The “Guide”
proposes to accelerate the application of magnesium alloys in the
fields of automobile wheels and the like. In 2017 together with the
MIIT, NDRC and the MST jointly issued the "Plan for the Middle and
Long-term Development of the Automobile Industry”, proposing the
development of advanced automotive materials and manufacturing
equipment, and accelerating the application of magnesium alloys
and rare earth magnesium (aluminum) alloys, as well as expanding
the application range of high-performance engineering plastic
components and composite materials.

The Group will seize the favourable development opportunities,
accelerate the development of scientific research and the
engagement of technical talents, thus continue to strengthen the
research and development of rare earth magnesium alloy products.
By fully leveraging on the advantages of technologies of the Group's
R&D centre and the resources within the Guangdong-Hong Kong-
Macao Greater Bay Area, the Group further expands both the
international and domestic markets, strengthens our abilities
in management and technology innovations, and continuously
improves the core competitiveness of the corporation, and thus
promoting the sustainable, healthy and steady development of the
Group.
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the disposal of electronic
product business was completed and a one-off extraordinary gain
on disposal of discontinued operations amounted to HK$69,483,000
was recognized. Excluding such non-recurring gain on disposal, the
financial performance deriving from our continuing operations are
presented as below:

2018 2017 Increases

—g2-N\F —B—iF EE

HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS'000

FiET FiET FET

REFLBEBWRA  Revenue from magnesium business 1,537,781 1,158,260 33%

REECBEBER Gross profit from magnesium business 409,483 303,136 35%

FREF Net profits for the year 285,860 184,067 55%

B HEMBARIUE  Less: Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (69,483) - N/A N3
FRGH(FBIEHE  Net profits for the year (excluding gain

A adas) on disposal of subsidiaries) 216,377 184,067 18%
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Revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018
was approximately HK$1,537,781,000 (2017: HK$1,158,260,000),
representing a year-on-year increase of 33%, which is mainly
driven by the increase in sale volumes of the magnesium alloy by
approximately 24% to a level of 61,463 tonnes during the Year (2017:
49,495 tonnes). The Group' s increased sales were primarily a result
of the expanded production capacity gradually coming on stream
and the growth in demand of magnesium alloy in the industries.

Gross profit for the year ended 31 December 2018 was
approximately HK$409,483,000 (2017: HK$303,136,000),
representing a year-on-year increase of 35%, which is mainly driven
by our continuous innovation efforts in upgrading our technology
and improving our production and operation efficiency.

MERHREEERBR AR
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The finance cost was increased to HK$73,058,000 (2017:
HK$16,699,000) during the year ended 31 December 2018. The
increase was mainly due to the interest expense of HK$47,021,000
(2017: HK$3,765,000) recognized during the current year which
was arisen from the convertible bonds issued to our substantial
shareholder as part of the consideration to the re-organization
which was completed as at 30 November 2017.

The Group has recognised an improvement to record a net profit
of HK$216,377,000 (2017 HK$184,067,000) for the year ended 31
December 2018, representing a year-on-year increase of 18%.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

On 31 December 2018, the cash and cash equivalent and pledged
deposits of the Group were approximately HK$156,008,000 (2017:
HK$206,835,000). The Group's borrowings as at 31 December
2018 were HK$726,963,000 (2017: HK$780,766,000). The Group's
borrowings were denominated in Hong Kong dollars, United States
dollars and Renminbi with floating or fixed interest rates.

As at 31 December 2018, the gearing ratio of the Group, defined as
borrowings, divided by total assets, was approximately 31%. The
interest expenses was approximately HK$73,058,000 during the
year, and the interest coverage of the Group is around 4.7 times.

The Group's existing cash resources together with the steady cash
flows generated from business activities are sufficient to meet its
business needs.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has no contingent liabilities (31
December 2017: nil).
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FOREIGN CURRENCIES AND TREASURY POLICY

Most of the Group's business transactions, assets and liabilities
are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, United States dollars or
Renminbi. The usual treasury policy of the Group is to manage
significant currency exposure and minimize currency risk whenever
it may have material impact to the Group. During the last twelve
months period, the Group did not engage in any interest rate or
currencies speculations.

EMPLOYEES RELATIONS

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has 686 employees (2017: 1,609
employees), representing an overall decrease of approximately 57%
which is mainly due to the disposal of the electronic products units
in the current year. The Group also provides other fringe benefits
such as annual leave, medical insurance and provident fund, etc. for
its staff.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Our Group's financial condition, results of operations, and business
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties
directly or indirectly pertaining to our Group's businesses. The
followings are the key risks and uncertainties identified by our
Group. There may be other risks and uncertainties in addition to
those shown below which are not known to our Group or which may
not be material now but could turn out to be material in the future.

Market Risks

Market risk is the risk that deteriorates profitability or affects ability
to meet business objectives arising from the movement in market
demand, product prices, foreign exchange rates, and interest rates.
The management of our Group keeps continually monitoring these
exposures closely to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner against such risks.
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The Group mainly operates in the mainland China and Hong Kong
and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from primarily with
respect to Renminbi, Hong Kong Dollars and United States Dollars.
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities and net investments in foreign
operations. The Group’s management does not expect the net
foreign currency risk from these activities to be significant and
hence, the Group does not presently hedge the foreign exchange
risks.

The Group has planned to periodically reviews liquid assets and
liabilities held in currencies other than Hong Kong Dollars to
evaluate its foreign exchange risk exposure and consider the usage
of hedging instruments when necessary.

For interest-sensitive products and investments, our Group
analyses its interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis and
considers managing this risk in a cost-effective manner when
appropriate, through variety of means.

The Group has always been aware of the credit risk exposure of our
customers. In order to minimise the credit risk, management of the
Group has authorised a team responsible for the determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. The
procedures required and ensured that all clients were regularly
assessed and be kept track of their transaction records and credit
history.

Liquidity risk arises if the Group is unable to meet its obligations
when they fall due because of an inability to obtain adequate
funding or liquidate assets. In managing liquidity risk, the Group
monitors cash flows and maintains an adequate level of cash
and cash equivalent to ensure the ability to finance the Group's
operations and reduce the impact from the of fluctuation in cash
flows.



LERMBIERRNIRER - ABKHET
SRERK - il%%%#%ﬁZ%%ﬂwo
Aﬁ%@ﬂ R BEEA FHEENHE
NEIMBREIPFI A BEEIEAEE - AEE
ZE%% Y EERT - R MERE
Z{EIES| - ERESETHIGEEY
LEEMRNERERMERNZE  $IF
R - EENIEHE - AR URE
I F0 AR R AL o

S ERRTIATERASEIMEAREZE
@(Eﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁ*ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ@?&EHLEJZ
& B RENTEHRRIRETER H4ABHEN
AIEEM o $E./%Ffﬁ%%%ﬁﬁﬂ
B HEBEXKERNEEN WEE
EEEEHITHEEET  BEEARENTIR
ZEAZATEEERE ZRAR KO -
E i R IR ER R BTN EE —
IR o ZlKEIE:HXiL5 EI]T :éfIE\E u‘vHEﬁcD
§§E§§7?5$ETL WERBLAER G AT TR
o - AEECREBRERGEHE

ﬁ FHEZRER -
ANEBREERR T EZRHNAEEFEK

BRAR - HAAFTFRAY)  LEHITE
%W\Z“El’\]/%ﬂlﬂ %M&)\EMML@JE ZIN
%ﬂﬁ%%&%%&%‘ﬁ%&? b2 F
EABRAANREEBERORAR - &
X BEAERATERERAREEERAE
BFEZAER - XEEKSHEHE RN
HEEETRE DT - B H AR A

ERETHMERNTIHEEKYF  WAE
BES - AR FHBERE  THRE

SREEEREAS - WHNRHE TR
,\MbiEEII RHUHEIABEEIINRER
Rl - MG RIFEEXL -

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or
failed internal processes, people and systems or from external
events. Responsibility for managing operational risks basically rests
with functional departments of the Group and its subsidiaries. Key
function of the Group is to guide their standard operating procedures,
limits of authority and reporting framework. Our management will
assess key operational exposures and effect raised in business
development regularly, implement relevant measures and improve
the internal control so that risk can be responded and mitigated on
a timely and effective manner.

Investment risk can be defined as the likelihood of extension of its
return period relative to the expected return or occurrence of losses
on any particular investment attributable to changes of external
factors. The Group is well aware of importance of exploring various
business opportunities and territories on a continual basis, and also
implement as the top agenda of the year. Key concern of projects
investment framework will be balancing risk and return across
different investments, and thus risk assessment is a core aspect of
the investment decision process. Proper investment assessment
and due diligence procedures have been set up and detailed
analysis will be made before approving investments. Regular
updates on the progress of the investments of our Group would be
submitted to the Board.

Manpower risk means huge demand for talents because of the
Group's rapid business development while at the same time facing
severe competition over specialists from the industry and turnover
of manpower. Our Group may face the risk of not being able to
recruit and retain key personnel and talents with appropriate
and required skills, experience and competence to cope with the
expansion of business which would meet the business objectives
of our Group. Our Group will conduct a thorough analysis over its
remuneration system, as well as incentive mechanism and optimize
the compensation structure so as to ensure remuneration packages
can align reasonably with market standard and maintain its
competitiveness. Meanwhile, recruitment channels are broadened
and the talent pool of senior management are strengthened, so as
to further enhance the promotion opportunities and career path
of employees. Systematic staff training are also being further
enhanced to increase the overall effectiveness of training and the
dissemination of corporate cultures and values.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

Environmental policies and performance mainly means increasing
attention of PRC government paid to environmental rules and
policies and more strict regulatory requirements. The Group's
subsidiaries and newly acquired enterprises commenced
into operation for a long while which might lag behind certain
environmental and duty requirements promulgated by PRC
government. The Group monitors impact on business development
closely raised from movements of environmental policy and
external factors. Acting in an environmentally responsible manner
and performing social responsibilities, the Group is committed
to improving and maintaining the long term sustainability of the
communities in which it operates. The Group endeavours to comply
with laws and regulations regarding environmental protection and
adopt effective measures to achieve efficient use of resources,
energy saving and waste reduction. Green initiatives and measures
have been adopted in daily operation of the Group. Such initiatives
include recycling of resources, energy saving measures and water
saving practices.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group's operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries in mainland China while the Company is listed on the
Stock Exchange. The Group's operations accordingly shall comply
with relevant laws and regulations in mainland China and Hong
Kong. During the year ended 31 December 2018 and up to the
date of this report, to the best of our knowledge, the Group has no
material non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in
mainland China and Hong Kong.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES AND KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The number of employees of the Group was approximately 686
as at 31 December 2018. The remuneration of employees was
determined by the Group with reference to their performance,
work experience and current market conditions. Employee benefits
include annual leave, medical insurance and provident fund scheme.
There has been no labour dispute or significant change in the
relationship with the employees that affect the normal operations of
the Group. The Directors believe that the Group maintains admirable
relations with its employees.
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Our Group understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with business partners, shareholders, investors and
banks to achieve its long-term goals. To keep up with our key
stakeholders closely, the Group has formulated corresponding
scheme about investor relationship, and also holds tailored activities
from time to time, such as annual/extraordinary general meetings,
on-site visits, seminars and road-shows. Accordingly, our senior
management has kept good communication, promptly exchanged
ideas and shared business latest update about development of the
Group with them when appropriate. During the year, there was no
material dispute between our Group and its business partners or
banks.

The Group’s dolomite mine is situated in Baishan City, Jilin Province,
the PRC. The mine is operated by openpit method, and therefore
no additional exploration works are involved or required. Only
simple infrastructure works for open-pit mining are involved in
the development activities, and no underground exploration or
structural works are involved. The dolomite mined is raw material
for producing magnesium products of the Group. The transportation
cost for raw material is relatively low due to the close proximity of
the mine to the production base of the Group.

The dolomite mine of the Group was reported under the Chinese
resource/reserve categories. As at 31 December 2018, the
anticipated resource and reserve volumes were determined based
on the yearly reduction of quantity mined to calculate the remaining
resource and reserve volumes. There is no material change in the
assumptions of estimation by the Group as compared with those
previously disclosed. The resource and reserve volumes was
reviewed by the Group's internal geological experts. For the year
ended 31 December 2018, the Group completed a dolomite output
of 145,290 tonnes. As compared with the state as at 31 December
2017, there was no material change in the resource estimate and
ore reserve of the dolomite mine.

During 2018, the expenditures incurred in mining activities
were mainly for direct wages, materials, energy, transportation,
depreciation and amortisation, etc. Such expenditures have been
included in cost of sales and charged to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for 2018.

The expenditure incurred in mining activities of dolomite for the
year ended 31 December 2018 were approximately HK$12,173,000
while the expenditure incurred in exploration and development
activities was HK$ Nil.
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The Company recognizes the importance of good corporate
governance to the long-term development of the Group and
has devoted considerable efforts in identifying, formulating,
implementing and enhancing corporate governance practices in
accordance with the needs of the Group. As mentioned below, the
Company has established the relevant committees/sub-committee
and adopted certain internal policies to improve internal controls
and enhance transparency of business operation of the Group with
a view to protect the interests of its stakeholders.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company has
complied with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the
“Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”), save for the deviations as follows:

Under code provision A.6.7, independent non-executive directors
and other non-executive directors should also attend general
meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views of
shareholders.

—  Professor Meng Jian (being a non-executive Director) was
unable to attend the general meetings held on 13 June 2018
as he was obliged to be away for other matters.

—  Dr. Tam Wai Ho, Samson JP (being a non-executive Director)
was unable to attend the general meetings held on 13 June
2018 as he was obliged to be away for other matters.

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors (the "Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct of the Group regarding
securities transactions of the directors of the Company (the
“Directors”) on terms no less exactly than required standard set out
in the Model Code. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors,
all Directors confirmed that they have complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31
December 2018.
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THE BOARD

Currently, the Board comprises the following seven Directors:

Executive Directors

Shum Sai Chit (Chairman)
Chi Bi Fen (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Directors

Professor Meng Jian
Tam Wai Ho, Samson Jp

Independent Non-executive Directors

Kwong Ping Man
Cheung Sound Poon
Kwan Ngai Kit

Functions of the Board

The Board is responsible for formulating the overall strategies
and policies of the Group, reviewing and monitoring its financial
performance, including preparing and approving financial
statements and overseeing operational matters of the management,
considering the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting
function and their training programmes and budget. Daily business
operations and administrative functions of the Group are delegated
to the management.

Board meetings and practices

The Board meets regularly and board meetings are held at least
four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals. Notices and
agenda of regular board meetings are served to all Directors at
least fourteen days before the meetings to ensure that all Directors
are given the opportunity to attend and to include matters in the
agenda. Discussion materials of regular board meetings are sent to
all Directors for their study at least three days prior to the meetings.
Draft minutes of board meetings are circulated to all Directors for
review and comments within a reasonable time after the meetings
prior to confirmation. Minutes are recorded in sufficient detail of the
matters considered by the Board and decisions reached.
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EEE ) THE BOARD (continued)
EESEeRRER®) Board meetings and practices (continued)

REBEE-ZE—/\F+_A=+—H1z& During the year ended 31 December 2018, five board meetings
BEFEEA  ARRHEBITRAAANESE S were held by the Company, and the individual attendance rate of

wREFREFTEEE  LEggER each Director at meetings of the Board, its committees and General
BRRERRE @R EEERAT - Meetings is as follows:
it/ BfT2E8R
Attended/held
EZESH BENZETEE REZEETH FMZESEER WOEEZEE RRAE
Executive
Audit Nomination Remuneration Management Members
Committee Committee Committee Committee General
Board meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings
BTES Executive Directors
e Shum Sai Chit 5/5 - 22 - - 17
HER Chi Bi Fen 5/5 - - 11 - 0/1
FHTES Non-executive Directors
AR Professor Meng Jian 5/5 = = = =
BEZATHL  Tam WaiHo, Samson JP 5/5 = - - -
BUFHITES Independent Non-executive
Directors
BRX Kwong Ping Man 5/5 5/5 22 " = 17
REA Cheung Sound Poon 5/5 5/5 - 1 = 1
B Kwan Ngai Kit 5/5 5/5 22 = = 17

wEMRBNES1001) K& (2) © WA X 3.10A Pursuant to Rules 3.10(1) and (2), and 3.10A of the Listing Rules,
BZHE  ARRIELZERHEEB 2B sufficient number of Independent Non-executive Directors have
SNIEHITES C MBIMIERITESFINE been appointed and at least one of the remaining Independent Non-
LE—REBEE SN BREYBEREE executive Directors has appropriate accounting or related financial
f B2 RSB ILIIERNTESRE management expertise The Board has received annual confirmation
AR BISE 3.13 1R BL E 0B S 1 E Bl 1 of independence from each of its Independent Non-executive

B2 FEHEREK o Directors as required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
EEERECRTERERENS - % There is no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
% RBHHMER HEMNEEER - relationships among members of the Board.
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THE BOARD (continued)
Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

The Company updates the Directors of the latest changes in the
Listing Rules, Companies Ordinance and other applicable regulatory
requirements from time to time. Apart from encouraging the
Directors to participate in continuous professional development
("CPD") courses to refresh and enhance their knowledge and skills,
the Company also arranged an industry-related in-house seminar
for the Directors and provided them with reading materials relating
to the directors’ duties. All Directors have provided the Company
with their records of training they received during the year ended
31 December 2018.

A summary of the trainings participated by the Directors during the
year ended 31 December 2018 is as follows:

BESERRENEE
Types of continuous
professional

development

EE Directors training"*

HITES Executive Directors

Lt Shum Sai Chit B

B

NLE=E2S Chi Bi Fen B

FHITES Non-executive Directors

=R Professor Meng Jian B

BER KPEt Tam Wai Ho, Samson JP B

BYKHITES Independent Non-executive Directors

BEBIR X Kwong Ping Man A KB
Aand B

KRG A Cheung Sound Poon A K B
Aand B

R Kwan Ngai Kit AKB
Aand B

B 5T Notes:

A: B B SIE FIRRAR A Attending seminar(s) or training session(s)

B: MERE  TWEEBARREBKESZTHRERET B: Reading newspaper, journals and updates relating to the Company’s business or

£ ETRAREMEREERERIBERENE
Colseiii=ve]

directors’ duties and responsibilities, the latest development of the Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements, etc.
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The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate
governance duties of the Company in accordance with the “Terms of
Reference of Corporate Governance Function” adopted by it:

(@) to develop and review the Company's policies and
practices on corporate governance and make appropriate
recommendations;

(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(c)  toreview and monitor the Company'’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct applicable
to employees and Directors; and

(e) to review the Company's compliance with the Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year under review, the Board has performed the
following corporate governance duties:

e Reviewed and approved the contents of the Corporate
Governance Report included in the 2017 annual report of the
Company;

e Adopted the "Board Diversity Policy”; and

e Reviewed the Whistle-blowing Policy of the Group to ensure
the arrangements for employees to raise concerns about
possible improprieties in financial reporting and internal
control, etc. were adequate.

The Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company are
Mr. Shum Sai Chit and Ms. Chi Bi Fen respectively. The roles of the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are clearly segregated
and are not exercised by the same individual. The Chairman
is principally responsible for the Group's corporate planning
and financial management whereas the Chief Executive Officer
is principally responsible for the overall marketing and sales
strategies of the Group's products.
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The terms of appointment of the Non-executive Directors and the
Independent Non-executive Directors are fixed for a specific term,
and shall be subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company (the "Bye-laws”).

Currently, the Company has set up four committees, namely the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Executive Management Committee respectively.
Each committee is delegated with specific authorities by the Board
in assisting the Board to discharge its duties and to administer
particular aspects of the Group's activities. The roles and functions
of each committee are summarized below:

The Audit Committee was established in 1999. The Company has
adopted Terms of Reference of the Audit Committee in compliance
with code provision C.3.3 of the Code. The Audit Committee
comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Kwong Ping Man (chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Cheung
Sound Poon and Mr. Kwan Ngai Kit.

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee is to provide
an independent and professional advice on financial reporting,
to evaluate the effectiveness of internal control (including the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the
Company's accounting and financial reporting function, and their
training programmes and budget) and the sufficiency of external
and internal audits of the Group.

After each Audit Committee meeting, the chairman of the Audit
Committee will report to the Board of the significant issues
discussed by the Committee for the Board's information and/or
consideration.

The Audit Committee has held five meetings in the year ended 31
December 2018. The major tasks accomplished by it during the year
are summarized below:

®  Reviewed the final results for the period ended 31 December
2017 and the interim results for the six months ended 30
June 2018, and confirmed that the accounting principles and
practices adopted as well as the disclosures made in such
financial statements were appropriate, accurate and fair;

e Reviewed the internal control procedures and risk
management matters;
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e Discussed with the auditors on the scope of audit for the year
ended 31 December 2018; and

e Reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting function, and their training programmes and budget.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the annual results of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2018.

The Remuneration Committee was established in 1996. The
Company has adopted Terms of Reference of the Remuneration
Committee in compliance with code provision B.1.2 of the Code. The
Remuneration Committee comprises an Executive Director, namely
Ms. Chi Bi Fen and two Independent Non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Kwong Ping Man (chairman of the Remuneration
Committee) and Mr. Cheung Sound Poon.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the Company's policy and
structure in relation to remuneration of the Directors and senior
management of the Company. It schedules to meet at least once
a year to review and determine the remuneration packages of
the Executive Directors and senior management and to make
recommendation to the Board of the remuneration of Non-
executive Director. In determining and approving the remuneration
of Directors and senior management of the Company, the
Remuneration Committee will take into consideration of various
factors such as market competitiveness, individual performance
and profitability of the Company and its business units.

The Remuneration Committee has held one meeting in the year
ended 31 December 2018 to review the existing remuneration
policies of the Directors and senior management of the Company,
etc.
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The Nomination Committee was established in 2012. The Company
has adopted Terms of Reference of the Nomination Committee
with reference to code provision A.5.2 of the Code. The Nomination
Committee comprises an Executive Director, namely Mr. Shum Sai
Chit (chairman of the Nomination Committee) and two Independent
Non- executive Directors, namely Mr. Kwong Ping Man and Mr.
Kwan Ngai Kit.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board, identifying individuals
suitably qualified to become Directors and making recommendations
to the Board on the appointment or reappointment of Directors,
assessing the independence of the Independent Non-executive
Directors and monitoring the implementation of the Board Diversity
Policy of the Company.

The Nomination Committee has held two meetings in the year ended
31 December 2018, together with by means of written resolutions,
to review and deal with the following major issues:

® Reviewed the qualifications and experiences of individual
Directors as well as their roles and responsibilities in the
Group to ensure the existing Board structure is fit for the
business growth of the Group; and

® Reviewed the degree of diversity of the existing Board.

The Executive Management Committee was established in 2005 with
written terms of reference to operate as a general management
committee under the authority of the Board. Currently, the Executive
Management Committee comprises two Executive Directors,
namely Mr. Shum Sai Chit (chairman of the Executive Management
Committee) and Ms. Chi Bi Fen.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY SUMMARY

The Company has adopted the Board Diversity Policy. The Company
recognizes and embraces the benefits of diversity of its Board
members. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy
and competence, and the candidates will be considered against
certain objective criteria such as gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional qualifications, areas
of experience, skills, knowledge and length of services, etc. The
ultimate decision will be based on merits and contributions that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the total remunerations
paid/payable by the Company to its external auditors in respect of
the audit services and non-audit services are as follows:

T8t
Bl %% %8 51 Types of services HK$'000
EZARTE Audit services 1,639
et Total 1,639
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements which give a true and fair view of the state of
the Group's affairs and results. The Group recorded a consolidated
net profit of approximately HK$285,860,000 for the year ended 31
December 2018.

The statement of the auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
“Independent Auditor’'s Report” on pages 44 to 52 of this annual
report.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Since 20 August 2015, Mr. Fan Kwok Man, Raymond has been
appointed as the Company Secretary. Mr. Fan holds a Bachelor
of Business Administration in Insurance, Financial and Actuarial
Analysis from the Chinese University of Hong Kong and he is
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and has over 10 years of experience in auditing, accounting,
financial management and corporate finance.

According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Fan has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the year
ended 31 December 2018.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS
Convention of Special General meeting

Pursuant to Bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws, Shareholders holding at
the date of deposit of the requisition not less than 10% of the paid
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or the Secretary of the Company, to
require a special general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition to the Company's registered office. If within 21 days of
such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting,
the requisitionists themselves may do so in accordance with the
provisions of Section 74(3) of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 (the
“Companies Act”).
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (continued)

Putting Forward Proposals at General meetings by
Shareholders

Pursuant to Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act, registered
Shareholders are entitled to put forward a proposal at a general
meeting if they:

(a) represent not less than 5% of the total voting rights of the
Company at the date of the deposit of the requisition; or

(b) are not less than 100 registered Shareholders.

The written requisition stating the resolution(s) should be duly
signed by the registered Shareholder(s) concerned, accompanied
by a statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to the
matter referred to in the proposed resolution or the business to be
dealt with must be deposited at the Company’s registered office.
The Company would take appropriate actions and make necessary
arrangements. The Shareholder(s) concerned would be responsible
for the expenses incurred in giving effect thereto in accordance with
the requirements under Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act
once valid documents are received.

Enquiries from Shareholders

The Board welcomes views, enquires and concerns in relation to
the management and corporate governance of the Group from
Shareholders. Shareholders may at any time send their enquires
and/or concerns to the Board in writing by email (info@remt.com.
hk), by fax ((852) 2802 2697) or by mail to the principal place of
business of the Company for follow up.

For shareholding enquiries, Shareholders may contact the Hong
Kong branch share registrar and transfer office of the Company,
Tricor Secretaries Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

The Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws of the Company was
updated on the websites of the Company and The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong ("Stock Exchange”) on 13 June 2018 and there is no
other change in such constitutional document during the year.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has overall responsibilities for risk management and
internal control of the Group. The system of internal control is
designed to manage and mitigate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives with reasonable assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Board has conducted annual review of the effectiveness of the
internal control system of the Group which covers the review of
risk management functions, financial, operational and compliance
controls, the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience
of staff of the Company’'s accounting and financial reporting
function and their training programmes and budget, etc.. The Board
considered the internal control system of the Group effective and
adequate.

The Company have formulated an inside information policy
providing guideline on handling inside information. The Company
regularly reminds the directors and employees about compliance
with all policies adopted by the Company regarding inside
information including the Model Code set out in Appendix 10 of the
Listing Rules in relation to dealings in securities of the Company.
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The Group is committed to enhance investor relationship by
increasing its transparency to the investment community.

The following measures have been taken by the Company to keep
investors informed of the latest developments and news of the
Group and to facilitate a two-way communication between the
Company and its Shareholders:

(@) Mailing corporate communication documents such as interim
reports, annual reports and circulars to the Shareholders
periodically and uploading the same on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange;

(b) Publishing announcements through the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange;

(c) Making available of the Company’s corporate and products
information on its website;

(d) Organizing general meetings to facilitate direct exchange of
views between the Shareholders and the management of the
Company; and

(e)  Encouraging investors to communicate with the Company
through the Company's website from time to time.

At the Company’s last AGM held on 13 June 2018, all the resolutions
relating to the adoption of financial statements, re-election of
Directors, reappointment of auditors and grant of general mandates
to issue and repurchase shares have been duly passed. The
forthcoming AGM of the Company is scheduled to be held on 28
June 2019.



MHEELE - Nt —5 - AREIE -k
FEEBRAUMBRAFERHLIE - A
ERABIIEREHHBRUENESE
e LRER— N/ \LFEMABREESD
BoEHORR] - HELE  BEHES
ML OR - MELERENHERER
KatBR - LAERK ARG E
EH&LE”AET(H&T%R%E 1 509) ZHITE

MBEF L - NTER o NEBTTHARE
MELEBER—KEFRERREEAIAL
BHE17E WERBEMNEGE  HEARY
BREBEE1FLER - ML EERE
ARMBEER - WX ERETAELE
REBERA AR (RN - 509) 28
TES -

BRREE - T oK BETPEMEREK
FERBILBMRANG L ERAABRRER
EREHE  PEK L ESE BN AR
MHEXZESREE: PEKLES
TRECEEBESES - GHRSTEB
TIEHERPREHER - 2R EY
EMLZEA S HRERT - YhE
MIBEATNRAERERERLNER
ERERNEMASFEREXEX - KA
PR B BFE B - IR AARE
BRMMERERE - BTREELTBM -
BHERABTRELEEREERER
AR LSR - 509 2/ L ES S ERE
] o

EEEELAETH#L A tHRE R
—NMNARNFEERBBP KRS - EESB
TE BREBBEIASEE EE
B8y BTN —NN_FEF
BIHEBeRBEETFIERE]
PR —NWNEFEEEEB T RAELE
Fl-EBETA_STENFE_T——F
EEEITremB(EAREA)  BF
THABBRFREMSEEE  BBES
MetEREeeRk  BERBARFESS
BA BAEIXgeR="RAIXHesE

%% o

Mr. SHUM Sai Chit, age 61, Chairman of the Group. Prior to joining
the Group, Mr. Shum was the Managing Director of Go Modern
Limited which was principally engaged in manufacturing of textile
products and trading activities. In 1984, Mr. Shum joined Fujian
Textiles Import and Export Corporation as a Manager to oversee
importing and exporting of textile products. Mr. Shum is a graduate
of Consumer Product Pricing and Statistics. Mr. Shum is currently
an executive director of Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited
(stock code: 509).

Ms. CHI Bi Fen, age 60, chief executive officer of the Group. Prior to
joining the Group, Ms. Chi was the Deputy General Manager of an
electronics equipment company over 17 years. She has an extensive
experience in accounting, taxation and finance in the PRC for more
than 15 years. She is a graduate of Accounting and Finance. Ms.
Chi is currently an executive director of Century Sunshine Group
Holdings Limited (stock code: 509).

Professor MENG Jian, age 62, is a professor of State Key Laboratory
for Rare Earth Resource Utilisation, Changchun Institute of Applied
Chemistry of Chinese Academy of Science. He is a deputy officer
of Professional Committee of Solid Science and New Materials
of Chinese Society of Rare Earth. He is also a director of Chinese
Society of Rare Earth and Nonferrous Metals Society of China. He is
an expert of the Association of China Rare Earth Industry and China
Magnesium Association. Professor Meng has been engaging in
research and development of rare earth magnesium alloys and new
materials. He has contributed to the development and application of
rare earth magnesium alloys in China. Professor Meng majored in
semiconducting from Jilin University, and holds a master’s degree
from the chemistry department of Chinese Academy of Science. He
holds a degree of doctor of Engineering from Toyohashi University
of Technology, Japan. Professor Meng is currently a consultant of
Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 509) for rare
earth magnesium alloys projects.

Dr. TAM Wai Ho, Samson JP, aged 55, graduated from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong in 1986 with a Bachelor degree of Science
(Hons), and later was awarded the degree of Doctor of Philosophy
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. In 1992, Dr Tam
was awarded the "Young Industrialist Award of Hong Kong” and
was named one of the “Ten Outstanding Young Persons” in 1997.
He was an elected member of Legislative Council of Hong Kong
(Information Technology, 2008-2012) and is now Chairman of Hong
Kong Business Angel Network, Chairman of Hong Kong Industry-
University-Research Collaboration Association, Partner of Inno
Angel Funds, Vice Chairman of the PRD Council, Federation of Hong
Kong Industries.
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Mr. KWONG Ping Man, age 54, is a director of O'Park Corporate
Services Limited which provides corporate advisory services.
Mr. Kwong had served as the chief financial officer of various
companies for almost seven years. Mr. Kwong has over 15 years of
experience in accounting, finance and administration. He obtained
a master’'s degree in Professional Accounting from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. He is a member of the Australian Society of
Certified Practising Accountants, fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and associate member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Company Secretaries. Mr. Kwong
is currently an independent non-executive director of Century
Sunshine Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 509), Tang Palace
(China) Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1181), Dragon King Group
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8493) and Royal Deluxe Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 3789).

Mr. CHEUNG Sound Poon, age 58, is currently a senior audit
manager at Chui & Kwok (CPA). He was an audit senior at Gary W.
K. Yam & Co. (CPA). Mr. Cheung has over 35 years of experience
in accounting and auditing. He was an independent non-executive
director and the chairman of audit committee of Century Sunshine
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 509) between February 2004
and May 2007.

Mr. KWAN Ngai Kit, aged 39, is currently the chief financial officer
and the company secretary of Modern Dental Group Limited (Stock
Code: 3600). Mr. Kwan was the executive director, the chief financial
officer and the company secretary of Vision Fame International
Holding Limited (Stock Code: 1315) from June 2014 to October
2016. Mr. Kwan has over 10 years’ experience in auditing. He was a
senior manager in assurance department of Ernst & Young. He is a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. Mr. Kwan holds a MBA degree from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong and a Bachelor’'s degree in Accountancy
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Kwan is currently
an independent non-executive director of A & S Group (Holdings)
Limited (Stock Code: 1737), Lai Group Holding Company Limited
(Stock Code: 8455) and Leyou Technologies Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 1089).
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Panel of Senior Consultants (the “Panel’) of the Group has strong
technical background and expertise in magnesium alloy smelting
and research and development in new materials. The appointment
of the Panel is to provide the Group with solid technical and
resources measure for the development of magnesium product
business. Members' remunerations of the Panel are based on the
nature and scope of consultancy services provided. There is no fixed
remuneration arrangement between the Group and the Panel.

Mr. ZHANG Hongjie, aged 65, Scientific Technology Consultant of
the Group. He is a fellow of Chinese Academy of Science and a
researcher of Changchun Institute of Applied Chemistry of Chinese
Academy of Sciences and a tutor of PhD students. He was honoured
the Outstanding Young Scholar Award of National Outstanding
Youth Fund and Hong Kong Qiu Shi Fund. He was also awarded
as the Expert with Outstanding Contributions in Jilin Province. Mr.
Zhang has been engaging in research and development for rare
earth alloys and new materials. He is the Deputy Chief Scientist of
National Rare Earth Fundamental Research. He is also Officers of
State Key Laboratory for Rare Earth Resource Utilisation, and Rare
Earth Luminescent Professional Committee of Rare Earth Society.
He holds a Master's Degree in Science from Changchun Institute
of Applied Chemistry of Chinese Academy of Sciences. He is
undertaking a PhD at National Scientific Research Centre, University
of Bordeaux, France.

Professor MENG Jian, aged 62, is a professor of State Key
Laboratory for Rare Earth Resource Utilisation, Changchun
Institute of Applied Chemistry of Chinese Academy of Science.
He is a deputy officer of Professional Committee of Solid Science
and New Materials of Chinese Society of Rare Earth. He is also a
director of Chinese Society of Rare Earth and Nonferrous Metals
Society of China. He is an expert of the Association of China Rare
Earth Industry and China Magnesium Association. Professor
Meng has been engaging in research and development of rare
earth magnesium alloys and new materials. He has contributed
to the development and application of rare earth magnesium
alloys in China. Professor Meng majored in semiconducting from
Jilin University, and holds a master’'s degree from the chemistry
department of Chinese Academy of Science. He holds a degree of
doctor of Engineering from Toyohashi University of Technology,
Japan. Professor Meng is currently also a non-executive director of
the Company.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CUI Zikui, age 46, is responsible for the operation management
and business planning of the Group’s magnesium business. Mr. Cui
has a diploma in business management. He has over 20 years of
experience in the magnesium industry. He joined the Group in 2015.

Mr. BAI Hai Sheng, age 50, is responsible for the research and
development and marketing strategy management of the Group's
magnesium products. Mr. Bai is a graduate of Heat Treatment of
the Material Studies in the Taiyuan University of Technology. He has
over 20 years of experience in the magnesium industry. He joined
the Group in 2016.

Mr. LU Tianyuan, age 54, is responsible for the corporate affairs
management of the Group. Mr. Lu is a graduate of Chinese
Language and Literature and is an economist. He has over 15 years
of relevant experience in corporate affairs management. Prior to
joining the Group, he has worked in a large alloy enterprise for over
25 years. He joined the Group in 2015.
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The Board presents their report and the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities
of its principal subsidiaries, joint ventures and an associate are set
outin notes 1, 16 and 17 to the financial statements, respectively.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required
by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including
a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group and an indication of likely future development in the Group’'s
business, can be found in the Management Discussion and Analysis
set out on pages 7 to 17 of this annual report. This discussion forms
part of this directors’ report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group recognises environmental protection is of vital
importance to the long-term development of the Group. In order
to minimise the environmental impact, the Group will continue to
review and improve the effectiveness of its management practices
from time to time. "Environmental, Social and Governance Report”
will be published on or before June 2019. For details, please refer to
the Company’s website.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group's profit for the year ended 31 December 2018 and the
Group's financial position at that date are set out in the financial
statements on pages 53 to 184.

No interim dividend was paid by the Company during the year under
review. The Board recommends the payment of final dividend to
Shareholders for the year ended 31 December 2018 of HK0.50
cents. The retained earnings of the Group as at 31 December 2018
was approximately HK$515,381,000.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
For the year ended 31 December 2018:

(i) The Group's largest customer and the five largest customers
accounted for 9.2% and 27.1% respectively of the Group's total
revenue.

(i)  The Group's largest supplier and the five largest suppliers
accounted for 13.9% and 45.7% respectively of the Group's
total purchases (not including purchases of items which are of
capital in nature).

According to the understanding of the Board, none of the Directors,
their associates or any Shareholders who owned more than 5%
of the Company’s share capital had any interest in the five largest
customers or the five largest suppliers.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities, and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years,
as extracted from the audited financial statements and restated as
appropriate, is set out on page 185. This summary does not form
part of the audited financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

There were no movements in the Company's share capital during
the year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2018, the Company's reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda (as amended) ("Companies Act’) amounted
to HK$1,188,735,000. Under the Companies Act, the Company's
contributed surplus is also available for distribution to the
Shareholders. No dividend shall be paid or distribution made out of
contributed surplus if to do so would render the Company unable to
pay its liabilities as they become due or the realisable value of its
assets would thereby become less than its liabilities.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were as follows:

Executive Directors:

Shum Sai Chit (Chairman)
Chi Bi Fen (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Directors:

Professor Meng Jian
Tam Wai Ho, Samson Jp

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Kwong Ping Man
Cheung Sound Poon
Kwan Ngai Kit

Pursuant to Bye-law 87 of the Bye-laws, Ms. Chi Bi Fen, Mr. Kwong
Ping Man and Mr. Cheung Sound Poon will retire by rotation and,
being eligible, offer himself for re-election at the AGM.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the AGM has
a service contract with the Group which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of its Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Kwong Ping Man, Mr. Cheung Sound
Poon and Mr. Kwan Ngai Kit, an annual confirmation confirming
their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Accordingly, the Company considers all the Independent Non-
executive Directors are independent.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

At 31 December 2018, the interests of the Directors and their
associates in the shares and underlying shares of the Company and
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the "SF0")), as recorded in the
register maintained by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules, were as follows:
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w3

B

Interests in the Shares, underlying shares and
debenture of the Company

BAESSASHAESCEERYNE

Number

of ordinary shares interested or
deemed to be interested

EERAT
BETRAE
58 2R
- BIA#Z RikEzx oOF#ER hgE EBRREHE B aot
Approximate
percentage
of interests
in the issued
Personal Family Corporate Number of share capital
Director interests interests interests Total options held of the Company
e
Long position
ot - - - - 30,000,000 0.46%
Shum Sai Chit
UUEZPEN - - - - 20,000,000 0.30%
Chi Bi Fen
oy e = = = = 5,000,000 0.08%
Meng Jian
EBEZAFEHIT([BIELI]) 63464000 4,600,000 75754236 143,818,236 5,000,000 2.26%
Tam Wai Ho, Samson JP (Hat1) (K12 2)
("Dr. Tam”) (Note 1) (Note 2)
BB RS 5,000,000 0.08%
Kwong Ping Man
RE AR 5,000,000 0.08%
Cheung Sound Poon
RASRGE 5,000,000 0.08%
Kwan Ngai Kit
wR
Short position
i
Nil
Hiat - Notes:
1. ZERMEEHEERB L AT REERLAE 1. Such shares included the 51,464,000 shares which are jointly owned by Dr. Tam Wai Ho,
H[@EEB 7 51,464,000 BRRAZ Samson JP and Mr. Tam Wai Tong, Thomas.
2. 5% 75,754,236 B & 19 LA Earnmill Holdings Limited 2. The 75,754,236 shares are registered in the name of Earnmill Holdings Limited

([Earnmill]) 2 & & & & ' Earnmilld — R H
Kiteway Assets Limited ([Kiteway]) % TTNB Profits
Limited ([TTNB]) 19 # B 2 A &) + i Kiteway &
TINBRIS RIHEBERB L ATFH L RERELES
BHA -

3. BE-_Z—N\F+-_A=+—HL XAFZE%
TRR1D 48 8% 6,574,390,058 % ©
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("Earnmill”), a company which is owned by Kiteway Assets Limited (“Kiteway”) and TTNB
Profits Limited (“TTNB") in equal shares. Kiteway and TTNB in turn are wholly owned by
Dr. Tam Wai Ho, Samson JP and Mr. Tam Wai Tong, Thomas respectively.

3. The total number of issued shares of the Company as at 31 December 2018 was

6,

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

574,390,058 shares.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (continued)

Interests in the shares of associated corporations
(long position)

RARSHRANARS 2 EERYAE (FR)
Number of ordinary shares interested or
deemed to be interested (long position)

BARES DR {5 HREEE

(AERHAA (RizheizE BRITZRE

EEnE e EE AR 53558) Rz =8) aE ZERH

Corporate

Personal interests % of issued

interests (held (held by share capital

Name of associated as beneficial Family controlled of associated

Names of Directors corporation owner) interests corporation) Total corporation

it B EEERER AR 14,666,305 - - 14,666,305 0.32%
Shum Sai Chit (Mt 1) (BizE1) (note 1)

Century Sunshine Group
Holdings Limited
("Century Sunshine”)

R LESloh 12,352,499 - - 12,352,499 0.27%
Chi Bi Fen Century Sunshine (§7322) (note 2)

RER sl 300,000 - - 300,000 0.007%
Cheung Sound Poon Century Sunshine (H17£3) (note 3)

RS 43R5 K 3,839,797 - - 3,839,797 0.08%
Kwan Ngai Kit Century Sunshine (B7324) (note 4)

Bzt - Notes:

@) 14,666,305 it 42 f5 AR FRIL R R A EHE R
(2) 12,352,499 IRttt @25 RV RN B R L T EEHE

(3) ZERNEBIE300000BELBERENEREER
HECBARHE -

(4) R 815 2,560,010 Attt 42 [5 A% 10 R SR 5 5T
S ZEBEE/NEEERES - & 1,279,787 Kkitid
B5 SRR THARIE B SOB/MBFTH B 2 BB IRE R M 2
OB/NAEITZABRARGEE o

B EXFREES  R=B—\F+ =7
S—H SEERESIHRALES
AL SR MR AR (TR EES
R SR e 2 FRAA) 2 4B AR A o A £
R LA -

(1) 14,666,305 shares in Century Sunshine are directly owned by Mr. Shum Sai Chit.
(2) 12,352,499 shares in Century Sunshine are directly owned by Ms. Chi Bi Fen.

(3) Such shares include the 300,000 shares in Century Sunshine which are jointly owned by
Mr. Cheung and his spouse.

(4) Such shares include the 2,560,010 shares in Century Sunshine which are directly owned
by Ms. Lee Man Ching, the spouse of Mr. Kwan Ngai Kit, and 1,279,787 shares in Century
Sunshine are the number of underlying shares which may be issued to Ms. Lee Man
Ching under the options held.

Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2018, none of the
Directors or their associates had any interests or short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or any of its
associated corporations as defined in the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

In order to attract and retain the best quality employees for the
development of the Group’'s businesses and to provide additional
incentives or rewards to selected qualifying participants, the
Company adopted a share option scheme on 4 December 2017 (the
“Scheme”). The qualifying participants mainly include employees
and directors of the Group and any substantial shareholders, and
the consultants or adviser, distributors, contractors, suppliers,
service providers, agent, customer and business partner of the
Group who have contribution to the Group. The Scheme, unless
otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years
since its establishing date. The remaining life of the Scheme is
approximately 9 years (expiry on 4 December 2027).

As at 31 December 2018, options to subscribe for a total of
261,400,000 Shares were outstanding under the Scheme (the
“Options”).

2018 5 HrRd HATE HBHREXX 2018 £
181838 ZERE ZBEBRKRE Z2ERE ANBEEHE TEE
Options Options Options
Held at granted exercised lapsed Held at
1 January during the during the during the 31 December Exercise
2018 period period period 2018 price
BT
HK$
(A) EE
Employees - 146,400,000 - - 146,400,000 0.4
- 40,000,000 - - 40,000,000 0.5
(B) E=
Directors
Lt - 30,000,000 - - 30,000,000 0.4
Shum Sai Chit
HEZ - 20,000,000 - - 20,000,000 0.4
Chi Bi Fen
HfE - 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 0.4
Meng Jian
BER - 5,000,000 = = 5,000,000 0.4
Tam Wai Ho
BB IR S - 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 0.4
Kwong Ping Man
KRB A - 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 0.4
Cheung Sound Poon
BT - 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 0.4
Kwan Ngai Kit
/N&T Sub-total - 221,400,000 - - 221,400,000 0.4
/Nat Sub-total - 40,000,000 - - 40,000,000 0.5
AT Total - 261,400,000 - - 261,400,000
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 31 to 34 of the
annual report.

DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in “Directors’ interests in securities”, at no time
during the year was the Company, or any of its holding companies,
subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at
general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the
Company's board of directors with reference to directors’ duties,
responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the year ended 31 December 2018, a permitted indemnity
provision as defined in the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance was in
force for an indemnity against liability incurred by the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No Directors nor a connected entity of Directors had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to the business of
the Group to which any of the Company's holding companies,
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED
SECURITIES
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold

or redeemed any listed securities of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2018.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 December 2018, the register of substantial shareholders
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows
that other than the interests disclosed above in respect of certain
Directors, the following Shareholder had notified the Company of
relevant interests and short positions in the issued share capital of
the Company:

Fris & &R HBEBT
RRAE RGEE (iFR) BAEZBZLE
Number of ordinary

shares held % of issued

Name of Shareholder (long position) share capital

Ming Xin Developments Limited (#75% 1) (note 1) 4761117 434 72.42

New Bright Group Limited (#73£2) (note 2) 4761117 434 72.42
B A EEZERER AR (A 3)

Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited (note 3) 4,761,117,434 72.42

X E (Hat4)
Chi Wen Fu (note 4) 4,761117,434 72.42

(1) 4,761,117,434 8 Ming Xin Developments Limited
EmEf ©

(2) Ming Xin Developments Limited /& New Bright
Group Limited Z2&MB AR o #tt - BhES K
EIEFIME » New Bright Group Limited 18 A% B
Ming Xin Developments Limited %A # i 2 2 8%
92 KEzs o

(3) New Bright Group Limited Attt 42f5 % 2 2 EHT B A
Al e Bl MESRBEGROITE - B RER
A% A Ming Xin Developments Limited A #ZE 2
2EBARD < R

(4) M X E kA FE 42 B ¢ (Ming Xin Developments
Limited Z &R ER AR RRAEG LZEHI=52—
A ERAE U REBFRBERIIME -
 XCE St 4 4R & % B Ming Xin Developments
Limited B #E % 2 2 EPARMD 2 #E2S ©
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Note:

(1) 4,761,117,434 shares are beneficially owned by Ming Xin Developments Limited;

(2) Ming Xin Developments Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of New Bright Group
Limited. As such, New Bright Group Limited is deemed to be interested in all the
shares in which Ming Xin Developments is interested by virtue of the SFO.

(3) New Bright Group Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Century Sunshine. As
such, Century Sunshine is deemed to be interested in all the shares in which Ming
Xin Developments is interested by virtue of the SFO

(4) Mr. Chi Wen Fu controls more than one-third or more of the voting power at
general meetings of Century Sunshine (the ultimate holding company of Ming Xin
Developments Limited). As such, Mr. Chi Wen Fu is deemed to be interested in all the
shares in which Ming Xin Developments Limited is interested by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, the Company
had not been notified by any persons who had interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the SFO.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws
or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Other than those disclosed in Note 43 to the financial statements,
there was no connected transaction during the year and in prior
period.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules, as at
the latest practical date prior to the printing of this report.

AUDITORS

On 7 June 2017, Ernst & Young resigned as auditors of the Company
and HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited was appointed as auditors
of the Company on 4 July 2017 to fill the vacancy so arising. Save
for disclosed, there has been no other change in the auditors of the
Company during the past three years. HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited will retire and the Company will propose a resolution at its
forthcoming AGM to reappoint HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
as auditors of the Company.

By order of the Board

Mr. Shum Sai Chit
Chairman

Hong Kong

28 March 2019
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To the Shareholders of Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group
Holdings Limited (formerly known as Group Sense (International)
Limited)

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Hong Kong

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Rare
Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited (formerly
known as Group Sense (International) Limited) (the "Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the "Group”) set out
on pages 53 to 184, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2018, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditors’
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the "Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matter

Impairment of trade receivables
Refer to Note 3 and Note 23 to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had
gross trade receivables of HK$214,717,000
and provision for impairment of trade
receivables of HK$3,544,000. Provision is
made for lifetime expected credit losses on
trade receivables.

Management applied judgement in
assessing the expected credit losses.
Receivables relating to customers with
known financial difficulties or significant
doubt on collection of receivables are
assessed individually for provision for
impairment allowance. Expected credit
losses are also estimated by grouping the
remaining receivables based on shared
credit risk characteristics and collectively
assessed for likelihood of recovery, taking
into account the nature of the customer,
its geographical location and its ageing
category, and applying expected credit
loss rates to the respective gross carrying
amounts of the receivables. The expected
credit loss rates are determined based on
historical credit losses experienced from
the past 3 years and are adjusted to reflect
current and forward-looking information
such as macroeconomic factors affecting
the ability of the customers to settle the
receivables.

We focused on this area due to the
magnitude of the trade receivables and
the estimation and judgement involved in
determining the expected credit losses
allowance of the trade receivables.

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

QOur procedures in relation to management's
assessment on provision for impairment
losses of trade receivables included:

* Understood and validated the credit
control procedures performed by
management, including its procedures
on periodic review of aged receivables
and assessment on expected credit
losses allowance of receivables;

o Tested on a sample basis, the accuracy
of ageing profile of trade receivables
by checking to the underlying sales
invoices;

* Tested on a sample basis, the
subsequent settlement of trade
receivables against bank receipts; and
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

Impairment of trade receivables
(]

Obtained management's assessment
on the expected credit losses allowance
of receivables. We corroborated
and validated management’s
assessment based on the historical
settlement pattern from the past
3 years, correspondence with the
customers, evidence from external
sources including the relevant
public search results relating to the
financial circumstances of the relevant
customers and market research
regarding the relevant forward-looking
information such as macroeconomic
factors used in management's
assessment.

Based upon the above, we found that
the estimation and judgement made by
management in respect of the expected
credit losses allowance and the collectability
of receivables were supportable by the
available evidence.
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Key audit matter

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment

Refer to note 3 and 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

As of 31 December 2018, the Group
had property, plant and equipment of
approximately HK$1,534,027,000, which
mainly comprised leasehold land and
building of HK$372,269,000 and plant
and machinery of HK$667,317,000. We
focused on this area because the balance
of property, plant and equipment was
significant and the assessment process
is complex and highly subjective which
based on the selection of appropriate
comparables and assumptions such as
discount rate, future revenue. The Group
engaged an external valuer to perform the
valuation for the recoverable amount of the
leasehold land and building and plant and
machinery.

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

Our procedures in relation to management's
impairment assessment included:

* Evaluating the independent valuer's
competence, capabilities and objectivity;

* Assessing the methodologies used
and the appropriateness of the key
assumption based on our knowledge
of the relevant industry and using our
valuation experts;

* (hallenging the reasonableness of key
assumptions based on our knowledge
of the business and industry; and

* Checking, on a sampling basis, the
accounting and relevance of the input
data used.

We found that the assumptions were
supported by the available evidence.
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The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditors’ report thereon (“Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information and,
in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other
Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

® |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

e FEvaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

* Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.
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The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditors’ report is Kwok Tsz Chun.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Kwok Tsz Chun
Practising Certificate Number: P06901

Hong Kong, 28 March 2019
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BE-ZT—\F+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2018

—E-N\F —E—+tF
2018 2017
B & FEn T8
Notes HK$'000 HKS'000
(&RE5)
(Restated)
FEREER CONTINUING OPERATIONS

KA REVENUE 5 1,537,781 1,158,261
SHERAR Cost of sales (1,128,298) (855,124)
EH Gross profit 409,483 303,137

HE A K& EH bWz Other income and other gains,

FER net 5 3,527 16,651
SHE RS HTH Selling and distribution expenses (15,328) (21,714)
TR H Administrative expenses (57,098) (48,301)
B 7% & Finance costs 7 (73,058) (16,699)
HADE=ER PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6 267,526 233,074
FriStisz Income tax expense 10 (49,835) (55,291)
BERKEEK2 PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM

FERER CONTINUING OPERATIONS 217,691 177,783
ERIEREEK DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
BARIFEEERE ZARF  Profit for the year from

gl discontinued operations 13 68,169 6,284
FERF Profit for the year 285,860 184,067
Ht2m(EE), WA  OTHER COMPREHENSIVE

(LOSS)/INCOME
“EHEETSE Other comprehensive (loss)/income

EEaMEMER to be reclassified to profit or loss

(B18),/ WA in subsequent periods:

BMEBINEE 2 Exchange differences on

E X ZERE translation of foreign operations (106,102) 117,051

REEFARE Release of reserves upon

I8 e disposal of subsidiaries 13 (43,618) —
FEHEMEME Other comprehensive (loss)/income

(E18), /WA for the year, net of income tax

MBRATISHE (149,720) 117,051
FEXEHBALE TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR 136,140 301,118
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (CONTINUED)

BE—ZT—\F+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2018

—Zg-N\EF —E—+tF
2018 2017
B & TF#8x F#n
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
(&%)
(Restated)
THIATREMEFEAEF] : Profit for the year attributable to:
RARHEB A Owners of the Company
—REFBEEEERS —from continuing operation 217,691 162,069
—RBEERKIE —from discontinued operation
REXR 68,081 6,251
285,772 168,320
FEFER M A Non-controlling interests
—REFELEER —from continuing operation - 15,714
—REBRIE —from discontinued operation
REER 88 33
88 15,747
285,860 184,067
THIALEIEEAANZEE  Total comprehensive income
L ONE for the period attributable to:
RRBHERA Owners of the Company
—REBBEEERK —from continuing operation 114,970 267,405
—REBERIE —from discontinued operation
REET 20,771 13,183
135,741 280,588
FEPERRE =R Non-controlling interests
—REFBEEEERS —from continuing operation - 21,050
—RBEBERKIE —from discontinued operation
REXRK 399 (520)
399 20,530
136,140 301,118
BREF : Earnings per share:
REFER From continuing and
BRI discontinued operation
— &R —basic 12 4.35{licents 2.72flicents
—#58 —diluted 4.301licents 2.72llicents
REFEKSEER From continuing operation
—EAR RS —basic and diluted 12 3.311llicents 2.62fllicents
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

BE-ZT—\F+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2018

—E-N\F —E—+fF
+=A=+—H Gtz gd=
2018 2017
31 December 31 December
BifEE FiE&xT FiBx
Notes HKS’000 HK$'000
kRBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Y - BB R ERE Property, plant and equipment 14 1,534,027 1,588,620
TEf LA EKIE Prepaid land lease payments 15 52,036 70,565
mEEE Intangible assets 16 40,030 50,463
IR Mining rights 17 47,298 50,434
REEBERRIZKRE Investments in joint ventures 18 - 6,490
R—EBE RN ZKE Investment in an associate 19 - 18
A ERE Available-for-sale investments 20 - 3,000
%S Long term deposits 21 - 60
EEFRITER Pledged bank deposits 25 9,757 26,084
ERBEELTE Total non-current assets 1,683,148 1,795,734
REEE CURRENT ASSETS
5 Inventories 22 146,419 151,941
JEUWE ZERFA L EUNZEE  Trade and bills receivables 23 217,980 296,988
TEf L EFIAR Prepaid land lease payments 15 1,319 1,876
FENFIE - e Xk Prepayments, deposits and
H fth fE Y 5K I8 other receivables 24 177,101 128,832
Bl —fEE & A RIFIE Amount due from a joint venture 18 - 844
A R8T K Tax recoverable - 1,835
EEBIRITER Pledged bank deposits 25 14,975 7,897
HehkReFEEB Cash and cash equivalents 25 131,276 172,854
MBNEERRE Total current assets 689,070 763,067
REBEE CURRENT LIABILITIES
FERTE P AR Trade payables 26 41,849 113,516
Hib e RE R EETEMA  Other payables and accruals 27 48,570 95,349
a ,\’]ETE Contract liabilities 27 7,799 —
& Borrowings 28 65,706 83,815
B Provision 29 - 1,042
B — R B ARIFEIZER]  Amount due to a non-controlling
A& ER 2 FIA shareholder of a subsidiary - 152
FET R 3K Tax payable 8,154 6,969
MENBERE Total current liabilities 172,078 300,843
REEEFE NET CURRENT ASSETS 516,992 462,224
EEHABERABAE TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES 2,200,140 2,257,958

BEPBEREERBR AR
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—2-N\F —E—+tfF
ey -0 Ll +—F =+—H
2018 2017
31 December 31 December
B 5% FiEx Fi8xT
Notes HKS'000 HK$'000
FkRBEME NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
IEFEUYT A Deferred revenue 31 69,772 73,585
AR E S Convertible bond 32 350,336 318,684
{ﬁ,%’& Borrowings 28 310,921 378,267
RERIEAE Deferred tax liabilities 33 14,742 19,972
FEHHX%M Amounts due to shareholders 30 183,152 344,206
ERBAERRE Total non-current liabilities 928,923 1,134,714
BEFE Net assets 1,271,217 1,123,244
e EQUITY
AATEEAEGER Equity attributable to owners
of the Company
B BITIRA Issued capital 34 657,439 657,439
& Reserves 36 613,778 473,641
1,271,217 1,131,080
FEIEHI MRS Non-controlling interests - (7,836)
AT Total equity 1,271,217 1,123,244

)‘5/\% 532 F18L B 2BV BHRERRL

—NWEF=A=-+/N\H 2«<§$A%ﬁt&&

AI

TZE%JE W TFIIEERRE
M EEE
Mr. Shum Sai Chit
EF
Director
2 M s RALGR & B S Rk 2 /B B BD

7 e
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The consolidated financial statements on pages 53 to 184 were

approved and authorised for issued by the board of directors on 28
March 2019 and are signed on its behalf by:

MER L+
Ms. Chi Bi Fen
EE

Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HE_T— \F+=-A=+—HI-FE For the year ended 31 December 2018
KOERERA AR
tiihtable t euit olders ofth Company
B8 RR EMEE THRES EL sl
BE  REE  fE GUGE RERE BREGE iTRE QHEE HURE RERE REEN M B L8
Stare Capital Convertle Shre Bchange Non-
Ioswed ~ premium  redemption Specal  hondsequiy opion~~ Stautory Herger Other  fctuation ~~ Reained entrolling
ol ot resene omsene e reseme rsene reene resene reene eaming Sl it Totdl
TEn TEn TEn TEn TR TR TEm TEr T TR T T T T
MO0 BKGO0 MESOOD SO0 BKSOOD MASOOD SO0 MKSODD MASOOD SO0 MKSODD MASOD B0 HKSOM
Hitl ik Bk
B0 R REO O OMEO O KEO RGO RW O MED  KE0 MR
Note otel] - Maef)
Hote B Mol el kel & i Bl Ml Mol Metel
HE-tE-R-A Asat 1 January 2017 W19 401080 {9 (60819) = T892 05T (17058 (101308 153891 1016076 142859 1158935
EFT Proftfor the year - - - - - - - - - IBI0 TBIN IBMT 184087
FEAfRESE (ther comprefiensiv oss for the ear, net
HIBAER ofincome tar
BEENEREEE, Exchange diferences arsing rom
EizE translation o forein aperations - - 112268 1268 4783 117081
FRRANALE Tota comprehensive income
for the year - - 112068 168320 280586 20530 301118
BT LR Roguistionofsubsidiary under common
LHBAF (g control et with shares issuing expenses
KhEHER) o g 103450 - (1581149 (6846 (M2 9700
ERATARESER Deferre ta rlated toissuance o
LERHE comverthle bond 17100 - - () (17102
ERE Transfer toreserve - - 1753 (17533 - -
RoE-tE2A=1-B Aot December 2017 8aT439 1560077 {9 (60819 8b)i8 047 (1500592 (7058 1093 4gT6 1131080 (7836) 1123264
G ] Effectof adoption of
4l vi HAFRS9 - - B8 B8l (339
H-E-NE-R-A Asat 1 January 2018 8a7439 1560077 {9 (60819 8b)i8 80427 (1500592 (7058 10%3 300708 1127112 (7838) 1119276
EFT Proftfor the year - - - - - - - - - B WM B 1580
FRAMRH( ﬁﬂﬁ J/WA Othercomprehensive s income
HIA for the year, et of income fax:
BEENH ﬁ EE Exchange diferences arsing rom
LEREE translatons offoreign aperations - - (106413) 06413 311 (10410)
REETRTESERE  Releaseofreserve pon disosal
of subsidaries - - (3618 i3618) (3618
ERRM(BE)/MALE  Toal comprefiensive ossl/income
for the year - = (150031) 285712 133741 39 13140
HEFA Disposal of subsidiaries - 80819 - (5179) (55,644 - 43 1431
REEERDRTIRE  Equly setled share based
{ransactions - - §.304 - 8,364 8304
ERTRE Transfer toreserve - - - 1545 (16,455 - -
A5-\F st 31 December
i 018 867439 1560077 49 - Bonid 8306 104882 (1500592 (20033 (139068 515381 1271217 12127
HERREEZERBER AR
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HEFBERSEAMBRRRTOEE FHE
613,778,000 87T (= F —+4F : 473,641,00087T) °

BEABOFEEARAREDREHEROREARR
ARZENERNARRRMHEE -

EEREIRERBRRRTEARAMBE(H
B ) EEMBHRAIAFNI10% RAETRE2E
ERDRENES -

RBPEKHEAR ARERZARIRAERZ
FEDERIROER - RSB R RARE 10% 2k
PSR ) (12 B B A TE B IS SR o s s 24E)
TEREERE - BIFZFBEREENE QRN
BEAR50% - ZEFBETAREEHBARBEFE
ZEE - EAMB AR EEEB L MME AR
ZRRA o

RETERRZ24EEEEEEARREMARE
ERBEMOETERD  AREFRRELOHRA
EAREAAREEDREES - ZEE2THA
REEER, /SR E LT 2 EE - TRABRDIK -

EHFEREEHEARZEG cERRA A&
SERFEEAE -
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Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Note:

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$613,778,000 (2017:
HK$473,641,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of the Shares of the Company
which was transferred from the Company’s retained earnings upon repurchase and
cancellation of Shares by the Company.

Statutory reserve mainly represents the fund set aside by the subsidiaries based on
10% of their net profit of the People’s Republic of China (the"PRC") statutory financial
statements and that for the purpose of certain safety production activities.

In accordance with the articles of association of the subsidiaries established in the PRC
and the relevant PRC rules and regulations, these subsidiaries are required to set aside
10% of their profit after income tax as recorded in the PRC statutory financial statements
as statutory reserve, except where the reserve fund balance has reached 50% of the
subsidiaries’ registered capital. The reserve fund can only be used to make good the
subsidiaries’ previous years' losses, to expand the subsidiaries’ production operations or
to increase the capital of the subsidiaries.

Pursuant to certain regulations issued by the State Administration of Work Safety of the
PRC and other relevant regulatory bodies, the Group is required to set aside funds mainly
for mining of dolomite and serpentine at prescribed rates. These funds can be used for
maintenance and/or improvements of safety of these activities, and is not available for
distribution to shareholders.

Merger reserve was arising on the application of merger accounting method in relation to
the combination with entity under common control.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BE-_ZT—N\FE+=-A=+—HILEE For the year ended 31 December 2018

2018 2017
B ¥ Ti#n Ti&rx
Notes HK$'000 HKS'000
REXBHATRE CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
AR A - Profit before tax:
REBELEER From continuing operations 267,526 233,074
REDKIEEEE From a discontinued operation 68,169 6,296
TE Adjustments for:
FBER Finance costs 7 73,473 17,507
ARt it 8 2 BIREE A Equity-settled share option expenses 35 8,364 -
RN = NN Share of profit of joint ventures (180) (1,087)
JE (i — Rl gk & & Rl Al Share of profit of an associate - (1)
RITH BUA Bank interest income (928) (1,813)
ﬁ’%%% - E R Gain on disposal of items of
A 2 e property, plant and equipment 5 - (2,444)
Hj’%ﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁfi\mlﬁz Gain on disposal of prepaid land
lease payment - (249)
W% J_hbz%& SECZE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 73,245 42,652
BN TSN 2 R Recognition of prepaid land lease payments 1,612 1816
BRI RREREBERA Amortisation of patent and deferred
i development costs 8,176 3,258
PRAERE 2 i Amortisation of mining right 546 1,666
— IR HHERE ZRE Impairment of an available-for-sale investments - 3,840
HIHFER R Provision of slow moving
inventories 4,056 3,400
EWE S EFRE Impairment of trade receivables - 532
FEY B 5 BR ZUR B & [ Reversal of impairment of trade
receivables (249) (102)
H U IR R B B [E] Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (69,483) -
LEESEYR KL Operating cashflow before changes in
BEeEns working capital 434,327 308,345
=l Increase in inventories (55,528) (9,741)
ngﬁlﬁ%ﬁﬁ Y e Decrease/(increase) in trade and bill receivables
w /(38 m) 31,028 (70,885)
FBNARIE - e RNEMEY  Increase in prepayments, deposits
FRIEE 0 and other receivables (8,113) (46,057)
REESRD Decrease in long-term deposits 39 312
fEW—fE & & A RIFIE Decrease/(increase) in amount due
WA,/ (K h0) from a joint venture 697 (752)
FERE SR CRAD), /I  (Decrease)/increase in trade payables (29,833) 60,602
Hoth AT RRIE R A A e AT Decrease/(increase) in other payables and
BRRD, (&) accruals (3,001) 9,204
EmiRE B Increase in provision for
product warranties 88 106

WHERHR R EER AR A A
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

BE—_ZT—N\F+A=+—HLIFE For the year ended 31 December 2018

2018 2017
B EE T#x Ti#n
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
RexBHEcE: Cash generated from operations 369,704 251,134
BENHIR Overseas taxes paid (51,099) (56,375)
REEBIRERNFRE Net cash flows generated from
operating activities 318,605 194,759
REXBZHERE CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
FEWA Interest received 928 791
EEFRITERRD Decrease in pledged bank deposits 7,830 22,686
BAME  WEKZ®EE  Purchases of items of property, plant
and equipment 14 (204,255) (270,763)
HEME - MEKREIEE  Proceeds from disposal of items of
Z TS 30R property, plant and equipment - 4,250
uﬂﬁﬁﬁimﬂgwﬁz Proceeds from disposal of prepaid
FTiS 1A land lesse payment - 491
HERAMEHEREMSHIE  Proceeds from disposal of
available-for-sale investments - 22,245
HEH B AR Disposal of subsidiaries 13 (19,190) -
BREXB RN FRE Net cash flows used in from investing activities (214,687) (220,300)
MEXBZRERE CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
BITERKAIRRESRZ Transaction cost of issue of ordinary
RPEH shares and convertible bond - (3,357)
H%ER Finance costs (21,583) (9,273)
BRATEE Proceeds from borrowings 22,000 206,359
BEER Repayment of borrowings (77,975) (122,910)
EIEWASE AN Increase in deferred revenue - 2,307
REEZR D Decrease in shareholder’s loan (61,423) (68,045)
e —R KB A RIFEIESIAR  Increase/(decrease) in an amount due to
RzFEegm,/ (Rd) a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary 389 (64)
BEEBKZRE(RL)/ Net cash flows (used in)/generated from
MAFEE financing activities (138,592) 5,017
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

BE-ZT—\F+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2018

2018 2017
BizE Figx Fign
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
ReRBEEEEEB 2RA  NET DECREASE IN CASH AND
FE CASH EQUIVALENTS (34,674) (20,524)
FHzReKIREFEFEEE  Cashand cash equivalents at
beginning of year 172,854 182,574
SNETER B AR - R Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes, net (6,904) 10,804
FRBESRESLZEEAE  CASHAND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR 131,276 172,854
ReRBESESEEBEH ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF
Pkl CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
B RIB1TEH Cash and bank balances 25 131,276 172,854

BEMT < MY 52 B AR AR & B B 3R 2k 2 #A A 2B The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

7 e financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BHE—_ZT— N\FE+=-A=+—HIL%E For the year ended 31 December 2018

2EIREEEH

mEREEEERER AR (TEARD
ADE—HREREFMXKIZE
BRAG e RARIZEEEFEMEAL
REBNERPIEERE 9SFRERA
EE6EIMEIN0E -

RAFEERN  AEE 2 EBH M
ERHE S BEMMEMR °

REEZER  RRmzEEER
UNGIVEY S g o R i D AVA/N
AlMing Xin Development Limited -
MEAERAAB BN EB R
B B 7 ft 5K 32 2 Al Alpha Sino
Limited °

HEVBREABTIETD 2
5 BITEARB 2 E K E
M- BR=BHEAN AEEESN
BEAZREOZ TR (FETL) -

ARRZEEMBRRZFHIBTOT

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Rare Earth Technology Group Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda. The principal place of business of the Company is
located at Suite 1105, 11th Floor, Tower 6, The Gateway, 9
Canton Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

During the year, the Group was involved in the manufacture
and sale of magnesium products.

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding
company of the Company is Ming Xin Development Limited,
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and the
ultimate holding company is Alpha Sino Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars ("HK$"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company. All values are rounded to the
nearest thousand (HK$'000) except when otherwise indicated.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows:

MR BRTEER/
AfMREES ARRTEE AATEIERE BRRRRE
Place of Nominal value of ZER 4t]
incorporation/ issued ordinary Percentage of Proportion  FEEH
1 registration sharelregistered equity attributable of voting  Principal
Name and business capital to the Company power held  activities
E# &
Direct Indirect
BATMAERRARRAA B 18T - 100 100% REER
Hong Kong New Materials Industry ~ Hong Kong HK$1 Investment
Investment Holding Holding
HERARmARAR E ARH171,800,0007 - 100 00% BERHESES
(ki1 RRER
Xinjiang Tengxiang Magnesium The PRC RMB171,800,000 Manufacture
Products Company Limited and trading
("Xinjiang Tengxiang’) of magnesium

related products

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2018
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BHE-_ZT—N\FE+=-A=+—HILEE For the year ended 31 December 2018

PEREBEER &)

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

ML BRITEER/
iafMkSEE ERRAEE ARTIEGIRE RERAE
Place of Nominal value of ZER Ee il
incorporation/ issued ordinary Percentage of Proportion  FEEHK
1 registration sharelregistered equity attributable of voting  Principal
Name and business capital to the Company power held  activities
E# o}
Direct Indirect
BITAZeBEBREERAR  BE i kAR RAAREK - 100 00% SERHESBH
280,332,007 RBER
Baishan City Tianan The PRC Registered and Manufacturing
Magnesium Resources paid up capital of and trading of
Company Limited RMB280,332,000 magnesium-
related products
hERENRERAR AT A 10,310 T - 100 00% RERR
China Rare Earth Magnesium Hong Kong HK$10,310 Investment
Technology Holdings holdings
Limited

ERBIESRARYAEE 2 AEF
EXEAEAZESHEXNAEEE
EFEZEREND 2 ARRNER
Al BEERm REHMHERR
ZFBHERERBRITE

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

MR BB R AR
2018 AFRE
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The Group's financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards ("HKASs") and Interpretations) issued by the
HKICPA, accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong and the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong
Companies Ordinances.

They have been prepared under the historical cost convention
except for certain available-for-sale investments which have
been measured at fair value, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below. Historical cost is generally based on the
fair value of the consideration given in exchange for assets.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions that are
within the scope of HKAS 17, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as
net realisable value in HKAS 2 or value in use in HKAS 36.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

e |evel 1T inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

e |evel 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and
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e |evel 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the "Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2018. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains control,
and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-
group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

MERHEEEZER AR AR
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The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control described. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a
loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and
(iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received,
(ii) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

For a combination with a company under common control,
the merger accounting method will be applied. The principle
of merger accounting is a way to combine companies under
common control as though the business of the acquiree
had always been carried out by the acquirer. The Group's
consolidated financial statements represent the consolidated
results, consolidated cash flows and consolidated financial
position of the Group as if any such combination had occurred
from the date when the Company and the acquiree first came
under common control (i.e. no fair value adjustment on the
date of combination is required). The difference between the
consideration and carrying amount at the time of combination
is recognised in equity. The effects of all transactions between
the Group and the acquiree, whether occurring before or after
the combination, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated
financial statements of the Group. Comparative amounts are
presented as if the acquiree had been combined at the end of
the previous reporting period. The transaction costs for the
combination will be expensed in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive Income.
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In the current year, the Company has applied, for the first time,
the following new and revised HKFRS and interpretations
("new and revised HKFRSs") issued by the HKICPA, which are
effective for the Company's financial year beginning 1 January
2018. A summary of the new and revised HKFRSs are set out
as below:

B E R BT

EBETBRE ARD ABERD
YERIZE 25k SRS ZHHE
(1&8%8T) NEt2

ERTBRE RKEEBMERS
AERISE 4 5% RIS 4 3R 1R G
(1&8%8T) B —HER

BERUIERE
YERIZE 9 557
TRITA

BEMEHRE S@IA
YERIZE 9 557

ERTBRE REAFFELOH
YERIZE 1558 WA K FERIERT

ERUBME BAYBERSER
XEANERT —E-NFERE

—E—NFiAH
2 FERHE

EFSHERN EBEREME
405 (1BET)
EF(ERHE INEXHR

HERE BNHE
SN
— 2 EE 2258

BRUA T B - N4 2 8 A AT M A8
(BRI BB Y HMEERNAL A EHA
SEAFERBEFENTHRE
Rk B & E bR E W SRR
H WBELEATE -

HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement
(Amendments) of Share-based Payment
Transactions
HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
(Amendments) Instruments with HKFRS 4
Insurance Contracts
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with

Customers and the related

amendments
Amendments to Annual Improvement to HKFRSs
HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle
HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property

(Amendments)
HK (IFRIC) - Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions

and Advance Consideration

Except as described below, the application of the new and
revised HKFRSs is the current year has had no material
impact on the Group financial performance and positions for
the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out
in these consolidated financial statements.
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2.2 EEtBERRIEE 208 2) 2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
(continued)
ERAMBREENEI RS HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
TH
BBV BMELEANFEITRZE—/N HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments replaces HKAS 39 Financial
F—HAH— B ERBNFEEE Instruments: Recognition and Measurement for annual periods
RRAESGHLENFERES/T beginning on or after 1 January 2018, bringing together all
B BRARTE aHERITAEE three aspects of the accounting for financial instruments:
AEREMNAE=ELIE : 78K classification and measurement, impairment and hedge
- RERERSFEE - accounting.
AEBEER_FT—N\NFE—H—B#® The Group has recognised the transition adjustments against
REMAEZ BV BRELHRAE - the applicable opening balances in equity at 1 January 2018.
gt EBRERWEES - WEER Therefore, the comparative information was not restated and
BEBETEREIIRET - continues to be reported under HKAS 39.
TRAARZZE—NF—H— The table below illustrates the classification and
BEXERBH BHEERF measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities
BERemEERSRBERA and other items subject to expected credit loss under
fth I8 B RIBEH B I 153 & 2R HKFRS 9 and HKAS 39 at the date of initial application, 1
FIOREERBZETERE IR January 2018.
Mo BERETE o
—¥-t#
+=A=+-H
(BERK) (ZE5)
31 December 1 January
2017 N8 Bt E 2018
(Audited) Reclassification Remeasurement (Restateed)
Tign THER THET TR
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
FRBEE Non-current assets
A ERE Available-for-sale investments 3,000 (3,000) - -
BRATEAEMEEWAR  Equity instruments at fair value through
ZBRETR other comprehensive income - 3,000 - 3,000
RBEE Current assets
BHRNFERERRE Trade and bill receivable 296,988 - (3,968) 293,020
BRTE BER Prepayments, deposits and
H it IR other receivables 128832 - - 128,832
R Equity
RBEH Retained earning 304,676 - (3,968) 300,708
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RNEBERELTEME2EITAS The Group elected to present in OCI for the fair value
ERBELBEANHELEN changes of all its equity investments previously classified
EREKRERNAFEES  H as available-for-sale, of which HK$3,000,000 related to
/13,000,000 78 JT Bd i@ 1 FL Ak 2R unquoted equity investments previously measured at
WRETEMIELTRRNIEE cost less impairment. These investments are not held for
B  ZZ5KETEHEESE trading and not expected to be sold in the foreseeable
WIBEAE R FE R A ARKTE H future. At the date of initial application of HKFRS 9,
E - NUIREREAVMERSE HK$3,000,000 were reclassified from available-for-sale
AEH|ZE 9% & H  3,000,000/%8 investments to equity instruments at FVTOCI.
TTERAIEEEREEHH

EERATFEFAEMEERA

E’]Hﬁ%lﬂ ©

FrE4RmaBENTEEREEF The measurement categories for all financial liabilities
gt o FIESRHEBERE XJE remain the same. The carrying amounts for all financial
AEBNEREEET REERE liabilities at the date of initial application have not been
AEEUMBHREIER]E 95 impacted by the initial application of HKFRS 9.

@ .

SR EERFERET HKFRS 9 requires an impairment on debt instruments
W IEE ST EHMEERE recorded at amortised cost or at fair value through
ORI N FEFABEZMNIER other comprehensive income, lease receivables, loan
DABESE R ANl 32 A FEET A H commitments and financial guarantee contracts that
ﬁﬂiﬁﬂﬁl]\ﬁ”ﬂiﬁlﬁ - FElR are not accounted for at fair value through profit or loss
fﬁ%,ﬁ}( B BRI under HKFRS 9, to be recorded based on an expected
RE ’jfﬁf/ﬁi)ﬁz@ 7 WG AR 1B T8 credit loss model either on a twelve-month basis or a
ﬁﬁ%%)@ﬂéﬁﬁﬁ@i?ﬁ‘f—:fﬂ lifetime basis.

BEEFAFAELEANER -

BRL EFERAERERSY In general, the directors anticipate that the application
B EERFEoSE 2 IBEHAEE of the expected credit loss model of HKFRS 9 will result
EEE  BERIRRIREE (S in earlier provision of credit losses which are not yet
BEEEEE MiircEBERE incurred in relation to the Group's financial assets
AaREEBYV B REERFEIHE measured at amortised cost upon application of HKFRS 9
RNEFIRBHEK A= 2SR/ by the Group. The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
BEMS  MARBEHL-MEE approach to measure ECL which uses a lifetime ECL for
B AEEEBEBTER all trade receivables. Except for those which had been
SR F oSG H AT EE determinated as credit impaired under HKAS 39, ECL
BeHEREEEENMEE for other financial assets at amortised cost, including
SEWHTENTEHSHZEESE - deposits, other receivables and bank balance, are
MR A B et %05 39 9 fiE assessed on 12-month ECL ("12m ECL") basis as there
T AEERERNE RN - 18 had been no significant increase in credit risk since initial
SHAR (B ERE « EEBGR recognition.

AR R (TR ) B A
BEEMBEHREEEBIZ12E
REMEEBEE(126E A B
EEBE])EEFT G J?l%
BYIRERAKR - FERKRIL
EREILN -
MERHEEEZER AR AR
2018 AFRE 69



B 35 3R = By 5E (48
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

HE-_ZT— \F+-_A=+—"HI5FE For the year ended 31 December 2018

22 B HERRBMEBE2ZNE #) 2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

(continued)
ERAMBREENEI RS HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)
TH#E)
AEEEMNBEEERE B The Group was required to revise its impairment
B 5 A 9 SRS 5T R {E methodology under HKFRS 9 for each of these classes
% BEEBNRZENT o of assets. The impact of the change in impairment is as
follows.
BHE-_Z—+F+=-A=+— All loss allowances, including trade receivables, loan
AR AEERE  BEES receivables and other receivables as at 31 December
FEW IR - R E TR H A fE 2017 reconciled to the opening loss allowances as at 1
WHRIEER T —N\F—H—H January 2018 are as follows:
WERR B BB EEERAT -
EZEWRE
Trade
Receivables
T#x
HKS'000
RIB—+F+-A=1+—H-HERGFERE 9%  Asat31 December 2017-1AS39 17,483
BRI ERENTE EE Amounts re-measured through opening
- accumulated loss 3,968
RZE—\F—HA—H BB BREERE 95 (Z7]) At1 January 2018-IFRS 9 (restated) 21,451
TRBABEE BRI GRS The following tables summarised the impact, net of tax,
ERBIRHE T —N\F—H of transition IFRS 9 on the opening balance of reserve 1
—HRERVEHROZE (K January 2018 as follow:
MBI
RERA
Retained earning
T
HKS'000
Rt EE Accumulated loss
R-B—+E+-A=+—H As at 31 December 2017
ENNRERATEFALMEZERARIE) Reclassification to FVTOCI (note ) 304,676
BHEEBB(EHEEER])EM Increase in expected credit loss ("ECLs") in
- B SRR — Trade receivables (3,968)
RZE—\E—HA—HZZFEE(EY) Accumulated loss as at 1 January 2018 (restated) 300,708
BRAE—THBERUBRERW Further details are disclosed in note 3 and note 23 to the
33X 23E - financial statements.
70 Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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BEEVBREEAFIGHRN _-F
—MELABEM > ZEBERS

BEPANELENKRAARSESR
—2EER - FEMBHREELE
155 AR - KK BRE B
EHF18FMA ~ BB G ERF
NRERES AN RBRENRB K
mAERIES] o

BBMBREERE 15 HFHZOR
A5 BRERREA - UHHE
BIERMRZGEHRARGBAMRS
REZERREPEREMAHD M
HR - ABME - BEVHHRS
R 1555 5| ARERB KA I E

5%

e ¥ BHEBETFFUNE
#)

s F£-¥H: BAAHNTHNENE
£

s F=H: EBEXHE

s FWF: BRXBEOEEEY
FHEXEE

e FhF: REBEREONET
B (SR BLULE ) RERB UL A

RBBBEVEMEENE 155 B
BREXNBHREER(ANE EEE
J& %) B X 18 B8 &Y 7 dm 2 AR 75 BT 42
HRE BB T REPR) (plin) R
Wik - ERMBHRELERF 1655
MAE RAENIES|I ARESER
S MO - BBABIMEERE 15
SRERKIEHLE RERAIE o

In July 2014, HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single
comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will
supersede the current revenue recognition guidance including
HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the
related interpretations when it becomes effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods
or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled
in exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the
standard introduces a b-step approach to revenue recognition:

e Step1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

e Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

* Step 3: Determine the transaction price

e Step4: Allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contract

e Stepb: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity

satisfies a performance obligation

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when ‘control’ of
the goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer. Far more
prescriptive guidance has been added in HKFRS 15 to deal
with specific scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures
are required by HKFRS 15.

MERHEEEZER AR AR
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HKFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model to account
for revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under
HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects
the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.
The principles in HKFRS 15 provide a more structured
approach for measuring and recognising revenue. The
standard also introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative
disclosure requirements, including disaggregation of total
revenue, information about performance obligations, changes
in contract asset and liability account balances between
periods and key judgements and estimates. The standard will
supersede all current revenue recognition requirements under
HKFRSs. In June 2016, the HKICPA issued amendments to
HKFRS 15 to address the implementation issues on identifying
performance obligations, application guidance on principal
versus agent and licences of intellectual property, and
transition. The amendments are also intended to help ensure a
more consistent application when entities adopt HKFRS 15 and
decrease the cost and complexity of applying the standard.

The Group's business model is straight forward and its
contracts with customers for the sale of magnesium products,
metallurgical flux products include only single performance
obligation. The Group has concluded that revenue from sale
should be recognised at the point in time when a customer
obtains control. The Group has concluded that the initial
application of HKFRS 15 does not have a significant impact on
the Group's revenue recognition.

As at 1 January 2018, the Group has been impacted by HKFRS
15 in relation to the presentation of contract liabilities. The
initial application of HKFRS 15 recognised the opening balance
of contract liabilities of HK$Nil (2017: Nil) which is related
to receipts in advance and previously include in accrual and
other payables. The comparative information is not restated.
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22 B HERRBREBE2ZNE #) 2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

BRMBRELEAF 155K
BEFEHNZWAREBIER

(4% )
(82 /

HR_F-N\F—-—A—BN&EaY
BN RERH S FEIELIAT A

B AP EZHEBYTNBEENA -

(continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
and the Related Amendments (continued)

The following adjustments were made to the amounts
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at 1 January 2018. Line items that were not affected by the
changes have not been included.

—Z2—+tF

+=A=+—H
(BEZ) (&%)
31 December 2017 BE¥o%E 1 January 2018
(Audited) Reclassification (Restateed)
FBxT TFi#&n T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

REEE Current liabilities

AW FKIA Receipts in advance 10,745 (10,745) -
BHEE Contract liabilities — 10,745 10,745

R-_ZE—N\F—H—H " LAt
AESREMENREBNRESER
10,745,000 8 TEFT D EAEHAE
f& e

REBBUBREEAE1HRNE
RREET L AREDFREER
B AEARRETRE  RES
EZHEHRENRGE - AEERA
EPEZEARDmAREMAEHE
EEFREREARBEARIEHER
—FH IR o

PR P R A Y X IR
ZEREZEBB—FNAH X518
RIRERE R DR EETHE(N
BEK) - AEEEFERELIH
TEBWTRE -

As at 1 January 2018, advances from customers of
HK$10,745,000 previously included in trade and other
payables and accruals were reclassified to contract liabilities.

As permitted by practical expedient under HKFRS 15, the
Group need not adjust the promised amount of consideration
for the effects of a significant financing component as the
director expected that, at contract inception, that the period
between when the Group transfers a promised good or service
to a customer and when the Group's customer pays for that
good or service will be one year or less.

For contracts where the period between the payment by the
customer and transfer of the promised property or service
exceeds one year, the transaction price should be adjusted
for the effects of a financing component, if significant. The
Group has assessed that the financing component effect was
insignificant.

HERZEEZEEERAR
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22 B BERRBE 2N E 2

P& R P # 2 B B WD 4R & Bt
BIRR RN E

HRANEE RS BRNES
REMBIRKRN SR ENAS
5l TRETHRAZTEEA 2H
B IAXPEZHEBYNBREENA -

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

(continued)

Impacts on opening consolidated statement of
financial position arising from the application of all
new standards

As a result of the changes in the Group's accounting policies
above, the opening consolidated statement of financial position
had to be restated. The following table show the adjustments
recognised for each of the line items affected. Line items that
were not affected by the changes have not been included.

—EtF
+-RA=+-0 &EHEHE FEUERS 1 January
N December  EERISEISE  EBIZE 155 2018
017 HKFRS 9 HKFRS 15 (Restated)
Ti#n Tign Ti#n TR
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
FRBEE Non-current assets
AftHERE Available-for-sale investments 3,000 (3,000) - -
RATEFALMZE Equity instruments at fair value
WAEZBH#ETA through other comprehensive
income - 3,000 - 3,000
BORKFERENZE Trade and bill receivables 296,988 (3.968) - 293,020
RBaE Current liabilities
BUFIE Receipts in advance 10,745 = (10,745) -
BHEE Contract liabilities - - 10,745 (10,745)
R Equity
RBEH Retained earning 304,676 (3,968) = 300,708
74 Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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AREEWERPERMAATERME
HAREBR ] REERT B BT H

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

WE LR

BERMEWE FHOTR? HKFRS 3 Definition of Business?
ZERIZE 355 (Amendments)

(1838])

BT RE REEHEERBE HKFRS 10 and Sales or Contribution of Assets
ZERIZE 1057 NAIHEE QT HKAS 28 between an Investor and
MEAEE ZENEELS (Amendments) its Associate or Joint Venture*
AERIZE 28 5% gEE
(183])

BAMBWE MHE' HKFRS 16 Leases'

ZERIZE 1657

BEEPKRE REELS3 HKFRS 17 Insurance Contract?
R 1755

BB FHEUEET - AERksk HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment
F199% S (Amendments) or Settlement!

(183])

BEAEFER BERHNER? HKAS 1and HKAS 8 Definition of Material?
F1REEE
=5r2E8|
F 85

BEEGHER REEARK HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in
2898 FeXW/NEIE R =3 -t (Amendments) Associates and
(18%]) ! Joint Ventures'

BBMEHRE 578 B 1 & 42 R Amendments to Annual Improvement to
AR ZEFT —T-HEZE HKFRSs HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle!

—E—tFHEH
ZFENCE

BE(RRTSE FEHREED HK (IFRIC) - Int 23 Uncertainty Over Income Tax
mERE THERE Treatments'
ZBg

—BEE 235

! RZB-NF—HA-BRZEFBZFER '
PR ARTIRAIER o

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with early
application permitted.

2 HUBEBHEHA-—TZ —ZTF—A—HAsziEH Z Effective for business combination and asset acquisition for which the acquisition
17 BEFEEREFRARR Z B EBE O date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period beginning on or after 1
ERR January 2020.

: RZE=Z—F—A— B ZERKRZFEH 3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.
PR ©

i RFE B Bigk 2 B FR R BRI A K o g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
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Except for the new and revised HKFRSs as described below,
the directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
all other new and revised HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease,
HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases - Incentives and HK(SIC)-
Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the
Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles for
the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of
leases and requires lessees to recognise assets and liabilities
for most leases. The standard includes two elective recognition
exemptions for lessees — leases of low-value assets and
short-term leases. At the commencement date of a lease, a
lessee will recognise a liability to make lease payments (i.e.,
the lease liability) and an asset representing the right to use
the underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-
use asset). The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured
at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses unless the right-of-use asset meets the definition
of investment property in HKAS 40, or relates to a class
of property, plant and equipment to which the revaluation
model is applied. The lease liability is subsequently increased
to reflect the interest on the lease liability and reduced for
the lease payments. Lessees will be required to separately
recognise the interest expense on the lease liability and the
depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset. Lessees will
also be required to remeasure the lease liability upon the
occurrence of certain events, such as change in the lease term
and change in future lease payments resulting from a change
in an index or rate used to determine those payments. Lessees
will generally recognise the amount of the remeasurement of
the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset.
Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially unchanged
from the accounting under HKAS 17. Lessors will continue
to classify all leases using the same classification principle
as in HKAS 17 and distinguish between operating leases
and finance leases. HKFRS 16 requires lessees and lessors
to make more extensive disclosures than under HKAS 17.
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Lessees can choose to apply the standard using either a full
retrospective or a modified retrospective approach. The Group
will adopt HKFRS 16 from 1 January 2019. The Group plans
to adopt the transitional provisions in HKFRS 16 to recognise
the cumulative effect of initial adoption as an adjustment to
the opening balance of retained earnings at 1 January 2019
and will not restate the comparatives. In addition, the Group
plans to apply the new requirements to contracts that were
previously identified as leases applying HKAS 17 and measure
the lease liability at the present value of the remaining
lease payments, discounted using the Group's incremental
borrowing rate at the date of initial application. The right-of-
use asset will be measured at the amount of the lease liability,
adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to the lease recognised in the statement
of financial position immediately before the date of initial
application. The Group plans to use the exemptions allowed by
the standard on lease contracts whose lease terms end within
12 months as of the date of initial application. During 2018,
the Group has performed a detailed assessment on the impact
of adoption of HKFRS 16, and the directors do not expect the
adoption of HKFRS16 would result in significant impact due to
the Group do not have any operating lease contract as at 31
December 2018.
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Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2018

—N\F+=H=+—HI-4FE For the year ended 31 December 2018

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharmg of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group's investments in an associate and joint ventures
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at the Group's share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses.

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of an associate and joint ventures
is included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income. In addition, when there
has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the
associate or joint venture, the Group recognises its share of
any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting
from transactions between the Group and its associate or
joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group's
investments in the associate or joint ventures, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the
assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of an
associate or joint ventures is included as part of the Group's
investments in an associate or joint ventures.
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If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases, upon
loss of significant influence over the associate or joint control
over the joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any
retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between
the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss
of significant influence or joint control and the fair value of the
retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised
in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is
classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations.

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. For each business combination,
the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling
interests in the acquiree that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net
assets in the event of liquidation either at fair value or at
the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non- controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed
as incurred.

MERHEEEZER AR AR
2018 AFRE 19



HE_Z

80

EASEWE —AEXHE > RIE
BAGK - REBANKEERER
MRS FESEERNESRE
ENAE  WMEHESNDBRER
o HPhEEBREESTEZE0F
BRARITETADERE -

WEBAHFOEBEETT  KERIFHA
E’UH%E&H&ZE%EI,HHE’J NP ERRE
SERNERSIBBREHE -

BB & TEENETMRBAE
AR B B A TP ERER - D8R
REERNABENIAREREAF
ENEBZAFEHFE  WREBR
R D BEAEENUANEL &
ENFTE MEREER#EZRFTA
BE o

BENBERAGE  NEERE
RE  ERERIFEHIERIMAE
B 55 A7 8 B9 BRI 0 ROR R 2 Y
NE - B AT R BB EF
ENMMAEAGBHNEE - MANKE
REMEBERERMKEEEFEN
RNFE - REFFEHEREEZENE
AR A EUE W -

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2018

—N\F+=H=+—HI-4FE For the year ended 31 December 2018

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group's previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss
as a gain on bargain purchase.
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After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group's cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash- generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured
based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and
the portion of the cash- generating unit retained.
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The Group measures its investment properties, derivative
financial instruments and equity investments at fair value at
the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market
for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal
market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or
liability. The principal or the most advantageous market
must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset
or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’'s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.
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All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 = based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 = based on valuation techniques for which

the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is
observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 = based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, financial assets and goodwill), the asset's
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset's or cash-generating unit's
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is
charged to the profit and loss in the period in which it arises
in those expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher
than the carrying amount that would have been determined
(net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such
an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the period
in which it arises, (only if there are revalued assets in the
financial statements), unless the asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss
is accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting
policy for that revalued asset.
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Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold land and Over the shorter of the

buildings lease terms or 3%
Leasehold 25%

improvements
Furniture, fixtures 6% to 25%

and equipment
Plant and machinery
Tooling and moulds
Motor vehicles

10% to 25%
25% to 50%
10% to 25%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.
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An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents a building under
construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs
of construction and capitalised borrowing costs on related
borrowed funds during the period of construction. Construction
in progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for
use.

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite
lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life
and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication
that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset
with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial
year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised.
The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is
reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life
assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in
the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted
for on a prospective basis.
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An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset are measured at the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are
recognized in profit or loss in the period when the asset is
derecognised.

Mining rights, including transferred exploration and evaluation
assets, are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
any impairment losses. The mining rights are amortised on
the production quantities over the total estimated mineral
reserve. Mining rights are written off to the profit or loss if the
mining property is abandoned.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets
leased by the Group under operating leases are included in
non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating
leases are credited to profit or loss on the straight-line basis
over the lease terms. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals
payable under operating leases net of any incentives received
from the lessor are charged to profit or loss on the straight-
line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are
initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between
the land and buildings elements, the entire lease payments
are included in the cost of the land and buildings as a finance
lease in property, plant and equipment.
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Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group's business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in
the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition (applicable
from 1 January 2018)" below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest ("SPPI") on the principal
amount outstanding.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines whether
cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows,
selling the financial assets, or both.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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2.6  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)

(continued)

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if both
of the following conditions are met:

® The financial asset is held within a business model with
the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows.

®  The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.
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Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

2.4, SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)

(continued)

(continued)
Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income when they meet the definition of equity under HKAS
32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for
trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-by-
instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled
to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised
as other income in the statement of profit or loss when the
right of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds
as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in
which case, such gains are recorded in other comprehensive
income. Equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.
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Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as loans
and receivables and available-for-sale financial investments,
as appropriate. When financial assets are recognised initially,
they are measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets, except
in the case of financial assets recorded at fair value through
profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. After initial measurement, such assets are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for impairment.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in other income
and gains in profit or loss. The loss arising from impairment
is recognised in profit or loss in finance costs for loans and in
other expenses for receivables.

Available-for-sale financial investments are non- derivative
financial assets in unlisted equity investments and debt
securities. Equity investments classified as available for sale
are those which are neither classified as held for trading
nor designated as at fair value through profit or loss. Debt
securities in this category are those which are intended to be
held for an indefinite period of time and which may be sold in
response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in
market conditions.
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After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial
investments are subsequently measured at fair value, with
unrealised gains or losses recognised as other comprehensive
income in the available-for-sale investment revaluation
reserve until the investment is derecognised, at which time the
cumulative gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss in other
income, or until the investment is determined to be impaired,
when the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from the
available- for-sale investment revaluation reserve to profit or
loss in other gains or losses. Interest and dividends earned
whilst holding the available-for-sale financial investments are
reported as interest income and dividend income, respectively
and are recognised in profit or loss as other income in
accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition”
below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot
be reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range
of reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that
investment or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates
within the range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in
estimating fair value, such investments are stated at cost less
any impairment losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell
its available-for-sale financial assets in the near term are
still appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is
unable to trade these financial assets due to inactive markets,
the Group may elect to reclassify these financial assets if
management has the ability and intention to hold the assets
for the foreseeable future or until maturity.

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-
sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the date of
reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and any
previous gain or loss on that asset that has been recognised
in equity is amortised to profit or loss over the remaining
life of the investment using the effective interest rate. Any
difference between the new amortised cost and the maturity
amount is also amortised over the remaining life of the asset
using the effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently
determined to be impaired, then the amount recorded in equity
is reclassified to profit or loss.
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A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’'s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material delay
to a third party under a “pass- through” arrangement;
and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group
has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred
control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass- through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained
the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset,
the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the
extent of the Group's continuing involvement. In that case, the
Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to

repay.
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The Group recognises an allowance for ECLs for all debt
instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss.
ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral
to the contractual terms.

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the
next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures
for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit
losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure,
irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment,
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset
is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.
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Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial assets at amortised cost are subject
to impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement of
ECLs except for trade receivables and contract assets which
apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified
approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach,
the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each
reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix
that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.
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The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a
group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if
one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the asset have an impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can
be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include
indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments, the probability that they will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and observable
data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group
first assesses whether impairment exists individually for
financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively
for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the
Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment
exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether
significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial
assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively
assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is,
or continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured
as the difference between the asset’'s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The
present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted
at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).
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The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account and the loss is recognised in
profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on the
reduced carrying amount and using the rate of interest used
to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring
the impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with any
associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic
prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realised
or has been transferred to the Group.

If, in @ subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by
adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is later
recovered, the recovery is credited to other expenses in profit
or loss.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has
been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not
carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably
measured, or on a derivative asset that is linked to and must
be settled by delivery of such an unquoted equity instrument,
the amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market
rate of return for a similar financial asset. Impairment losses
on these assets are not reversed.
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For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group
assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that an investment or a group of
investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount
comprising the difference between its cost (net of any principal
payment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any
impairment loss previously recognised in profit or loss, is
removed from other comprehensive income and recognised in
profit or loss.

In the case of equity investments classified as available
for sale, objective evidence would include a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment below
its cost. “Significant” is evaluated against the original cost of
the investment and “prolonged” against the period in which
the fair value has been below its original cost. Where there is
evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss — measured as
the difference between the acquisition cost and the current
fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment
previously recognised in profit or loss — is removed from
other comprehensive income and recognised in profit or
loss. Impairment losses on equity instruments classified as
available for sale are not reversed through profit or loss.
Increases in their fair value after impairment are recognised
directly in other comprehensive income.

The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged”
requires judgement. In making this judgement, the Group
evaluates, among other factors, the duration or extent to which
the fair value of an investment is less than its cost.
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Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade payables, other
payables and accruals, borrowings, an amount due to a
non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary amounts due to
shareholders and convertible bond.

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in profit
or loss.
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The component parts of compound instruments (convertible
notes) issued by the Company are classified separately
as financial liabilities and equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions
of a financial liability and an equity instrument financial
instruments. Conversion option that will be settled by the
exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset
for a fixed number of the Company's own equity instruments is
an equity instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component
is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for
similar nonconvertible instruments. This amount is recorded
as a liability on an amortised cost basis using the effective
interest method until extinguished upon conversion or at the
instrument’'s maturity date.

The conversion option classified as equity is determined
by deducting the amount of the liability component from
the fair value of the compound instrument as a whole. This
is recognised and included in equity, net of income tax
effects, and is not subsequently remeasured. In addition, the
conversion option classified as equity will remain in equity
until the conversion option is exercised, in which case, the
balance recognised in equity will be transferred to share
premium. Where the conversion option remains unexercised
at the maturity date of the convertible bonds, the balance
recognised in equity will be transferred to retained profits. No
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or
expiration of the conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
bonds are allocated to the liability and equity components in
proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction
costs relating to the equity component are recognised directly
in equity. Transaction costs relating to the liability component
are included in the carrying amount of the liability component
and are amortised over the lives of the convertible bonds
using the effective interest method.
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Derecognition of financial liabilities (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018 and
HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018 and
HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis or
weighted average method and, in the case of work in progress
and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable
value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated
costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.
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For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group's cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Provisions for product warranties granted by the Group on
certain products are recognised based on sales volume and
past experience of the level of repairs and returns, discounted
to their present values as appropriate.

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.
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Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

® in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, an associate and
joint ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits
and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences,
the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses
can be utilised, except:

® when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and
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® inrespect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, an associate and joint
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences
will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to
the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
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Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of
the goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

® the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group's performance as the
Group performs;

e the Group's performance creates and enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

® the Group's performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is
assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group's unconditional
right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’'s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a contract
are accounted for an presented on a net basis.

Revenue from the processing and sales of magnesium related
products is recognised when control of the products has
transferred, being at the point the products are delivered to
the customer and the customer has accepted the products,
and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the
customer’s acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs when
the products have been shipped to the specified location, the
risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to the
customer, and either the customer has accepted the products
in accordance with the sales contract, the acceptance
provisions have lapsed, or the Group has objective evidence
that all criteria for acceptance have been satisfied.

Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the price
specified in the contract, net of discounts, returns and value
added taxes.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered
and the customers accept the products, as this is the point in
time that the consideration is unconditional because only the
passage of time is required before the payment is due.
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2.6  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable before 1 January
2018)
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic

benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a)

from the sale of goods, when the significant risks
and rewards of ownership have been transferred to
the buyer, provided that the Group maintains neither
managerial involvement to the degree usually associated
with ownership, nor effective control over the goods sold;

service fee income, when the services have been
rendered; and

interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset.
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Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the "MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for all of its employees. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged
to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

The Group also operates a defined contribution staff
retirement scheme registered under the Occupational
Retirement Schemes Ordinance (the "ORSO Scheme”) for
its employees (including certain directors), the assets of
which are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the eligible employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the ORSO Scheme. When an
employee leaves the ORSO Scheme prior to his/her interest in
the Group's employer contributions vesting fully, the ongoing
contributions payable by the Group may be reduced by the
relevant amount of forfeited contributions.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage
of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.



—N\F+=H=+—HI-%E For the year ended 31 December 2018

AmERERBIRMETAEE L
BRERLMS  AEIRBOA
FEDES2EEREBRENKL
BN AFELINEBHEERE
ETHBRETETE BHERAA
#m(REMERE) -

%ﬁ%%i'ﬁ%gﬁﬁﬁﬂg
EEOBRENMGGHAE E
] 0 RE Eﬁﬁﬁﬁ1 ET}?ﬁ1EE+
%(ﬁﬂﬁ)b’(‘?‘é‘\ ﬁﬁn/u Ii-HE,\
EREEHELRRERR

EDUB::\UG
KR

SR IR B HA RO B B 8 A A AR A T
CEREBERENRFERER
B 8H o

fis f56 BL AR A AT 452+ RSB AT 1B B 4
TE'?F%%EEW{J\E’] X IR % 88 R = ) i
Bk - i BROERN 58 B HIR 508
HﬁUZ JEm B ED R EIT6E - RIS
I ECE%H@EE%%TJ&WE’J I 5 68
EREMEH)

u ]]|||

)

Wi - ZEXEESEREE
BEHRERRAKRERHEERFBELE
TR ENEE) EREENE
RAARBIEERN  FRZFEEN
HOAAR » ZEFERNAEEEAX
HA AEEBRERGRHEERTH
BIEER - BAIEEEREEMX
B 45 TE 8 SR (E B B 1R B P IR BN AV 4R
é%k§%¢§$mﬁﬁﬁ$$m
Br o 2EEMERKAREELEH
ﬁi% fERKABIEERREEA
BTELENFEREMER -

For grants of share options that are conditional upon satisfying
specified vesting conditions, the fair value of services received
is determined by reference to the fair value of share options
granted at the grant date and is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in
equity (employee compensation reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of number of options that are expected to ultimately
vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates
during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or loss
with a corresponding adjustment to employee compensation
reserve.

For share options that are vested immediately at the date of
grant, the fair value of the share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.

When the share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in employee compensation reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in employee
compensation reserve will be transferred to retained earnings.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs
in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company's functional currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and
items included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end
of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated
in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the
item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries,
joint ventures and an associate are currencies other than the
Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the
assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of
the reporting period and their profit or loss are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.
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Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at
the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of
the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas
subsidiaries and joint ventures which arise throughout the
year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of

the Group or of a parent of the Group.

(b) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of

the group or the Group parent.

MERHEEEZER AR AR
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(c)

An entity is related to the group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(viii)

The entity and the group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the group or an entity
related to the group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which itis a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the group or to the group’s parent.
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Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(@) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(c) dependants of the person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction
when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between
related parties.

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses,
assets and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and
the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that
could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.
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The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

The Group evaluates whether property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets, mining rights have suffered any impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable,
in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 2.4.
The recoverable amounts of CGUs represent the higher of the
asset’'s fair value less costs to sell or its value-in-use. The
calculations of fair value less costs to sell or value-in- use
require the use of estimates. During the years ended 2018 and
2017, the Group did not provide any impairment for property,
plant and equipment and mining rights and intangible asset.

The Group's management determines the estimated useful
lives and related depreciation/amortisation charges for its
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and mining
right. This estimate is based on the historical experience of the
actual useful lives of investment properties, property, plant
and equipment, intangible assets and mining rights of similar
nature and functions and the mineral reserve determined by
independent technical adviser. It could change significantly
as a result of technical innovations and competitor actions in
response to market conditions. Management will increase the
depreciation/amortisation charge where useful lives are less
than previously estimated lives, or it will write-off or write-
down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have
been abandoned or sold.

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, the
Group did not change the estimated useful lives of property,
plant and equipment, intangible assets and mining rights.
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The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due
for groupings of various customer segments that have similar
loss patterns (i.e., by geography, product type, customer type
and rating, and coverage by letters of credit and other forms
of credit insurance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix
to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-
looking information. For instance, if forecast economic
conditions (i.e., gross domestic products) are expected to
deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an increased
number of defaults in the manufacturing sector, the historical
default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date, the
historical observed default rates are updated and changes in
the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group's historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of
customer’s actual default in the future. The information about
the ECLs on the Group's trade receivables is disclosed in note
23 to the financial statements.

MERHEEEZER AR AR
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The management of the Group reviews the inventories listing
on a product-by-product basis at the end of the reporting
period. The management estimates the net realisable value
for such items based primarily on the latest invoice prices
and current market conditions. During the year, the Group
has not provided any for impairment of inventories (2017:
HK$3,400,000).

The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions.
There are certain transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination may be uncertain. The Group
recognises liabilities for anticipated tax issues based on
estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the current and deferred tax provisions in the period in
which such determination is made.
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For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and has
two reportable operating segments as follows:

(a) the magnesium products segment manufactures and
sells magnesium related products; and

(b) the corporate and others segment comprises corporate
income, expenses, asset and liability items related to the
Group's investment activities.

The personal communication products segment designs,
manufactures and sells a range of communications products
and the strategic products segment designs, manufactures
and sells ODM products and electronic dictionary products and
provides electronic manufacturing services was discontinued
during the year ended 31 December 2018 which are described
in more detail in Note 13.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resources allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit/loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit
before tax. The adjusted profit before tax is measured
consistently with the Group's profit before tax except that
interest income and finance costs, are excluded from this
measurement.

Segment assets exclude investments in joint ventures and
associate, available-for-sale investments, amounts due from
associate and joint ventures, pledged bank deposits, cash and
cash equivalents and other unallocated head office assets as
these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude head office borrowings, an amount
due to a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary, amounts
due to shareholders and other unallocated head office and
corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group
basis.

MERHEEEZER AR AR
2018 AFRE 17
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b EBRSEEH#) 4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
SEEER 2 LXERH
Magnesium Corporate L]
products and others Total
Ti#xT T#xT Fi#x
HKS'000 HKS’000 HK$'000
BE-_Z—N\H§F For the year ended

+ZBA=+—HLEE 31 December 2018
HESEER Continuing operations
DEEA : Segment revenue:
MNP R S E Sales to external customers 1,537,781 - 1,537,781
D EBEELR Segment results 355,376 (15,720) 339,656
#15R - Reconciliation:
PN Interest income 928
% E R Finance costs (73,058)
A Profit before tax 267,526
DHEE Segment asset 2,216,210 - 2,216,210
R - Reconciliation:
AOEEE Unallocated assets 156,008
BEMRE Total assets 2,372,218
PEEE Segment liabilities 405,710 1,657 407,367
HER - Reconciliation:
KoL BE Unallocated liabilities 693,634
BfRERE Total liabilities 1,101,001
Hitp &R - Other segment information:
e K5y Depreciation and amortisation 79,957 - 79,957
BEAR (FisE14) Capital expenditure* (Note 14) 204,255 - 204,255
JEWE F BRI Reversal of impairment of

B B (BIFE 23) trade receivables (Note 23) (258) - (258)

AR BREAENE  BERR

Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and equipment.

118 Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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b EBEoEER 2 L. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

EEEEM TEREM
Magnesium Corporate e
products and others Total
Fi&x FExT FExT
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000
BE-_Z—tHF For the year ended
TZA=+—HLEE 31 December 2017
BEREEK Continuing operations
DEBUWA : Segment revenue:
MNP SHE Sales to external customers 1,158,261 = 1,158,261
DEPFELE Segment results 262,847 (14,813) 248,034
R - Reconciliation:
B A Interest income 1,739
B 758 F Finance costs (16,699)
AT Profit before tax 233,074
PWEE Segment asset 2,112,592 7,810 2,120,402
R - Reconciliation:
RO EE Unallocated assets 209,835
BERLT Total assets 2,330,237
PEPEE Segment liabilities 507,678 6,426 514,104
R - Reconciliation:
AOBEEE Unallocated liabilities 818,204
BfEERE Total liabilities 1,332,308
Hihp EEHR : Other segment information:
P& % 5 Depreciation and amortisation 43,361 1,078 44,439
B Capital expenditure* 2,020,245 4 2,020,249

BARSBIEREYE  BERSEREE T EE
BRARANREL,752,000,000/87T - WERFIER
2BAMA-T—tHE+—A=TRHNAMH -

date 30 November 2017.

Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and equipment and
the consideration of acquisition of Fullocean Group Limited of approximately
HK$1,752,000,000. For more details of the acquisition, please refer to the announcement

HERZEEZEEERAR
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L ERoEEH® k.  OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
i EE R Geographical information
(@) REIAEFEFEZWA (@) Revenue from external customers
—F—\F =t Lok g:2
2018 2017
T T8
HKS'000 HK$'000
($BE5)
(Restated)
BEKEEL Continuing operations
R (BBBRIN) Mainland China
(other than Hong Kong) 1,498,667 1,122,271
M Europe 39,114 35,990
1,537,781 1,158,261
Pt ABERHIE R FETEH 2 The revenue information above is based on the locations
] o of the customers.
(b) FRBEE (b) Non-current assets
—z— s T
2018 2017
T8 TEn
HK$'000 HKS$'000
R (B ERIN) Mainland China
(other than Hong Kong) 1,683,148 1,785,487
BB Hong Kong - 7,222
Hi Others - 25
1,683,148 1,792,734

LHIFREBEEERIREEM

The non-current assets information above is based on

120

EHZT o the locations of the assets.
FEFEFER Information about major customers

RAFERAFHERNE —RFZ
HEARNEBTE10% A F 2
AO

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2018

No sales to a single customer contributed 10% or more of the

Group's revenue during the current year and prior year.
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5. WA - Efig AR URES 5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS, NET
WA~ Hali A Rz - SFEDHT An analysis of revenue and other income and gains, net is as
R follows:

= B —=—+%

2018 2017
Fi&x T8t
HK$'000 HK$'000
($BE5I)
(Restated)
BFELEER Continuing operations:
RE-—RFEHER Revenue from contract with customer
REEEFEHZWA recognised at a point in time
HEESBHEEER Sale of magnesium related products 1,537,781 1,158,260
Hahg A R H W = F 58 Other income and other gains, net
RITH B LA Bank interest income 928 1,739
fHERER Sales of scrap materials 1,223 8,125
HA Others 1,376 6,787
3,527 16,651
FIBIMAGHFRER—FHIUT ° All revenue contracts are for one year or less. As permitted
INEBVFRELEAFE 15RO ER by practical expedient under HKFRS 15, the transaction price
EEHA TEEESEELRE allocated to unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
TEHNRZER -
MR BB R AR

2018 AFRE 121
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6. FRETEF 6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX
REBZFANEF SNk (GTA) The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/
TH&IA - (crediting):
—E-N\F —E—+tF
2018 2017
T8 T8
HK$'000 HKS$'000
(#BEF)
(Restated)
FERSEEL Continuing operation:
HEFEKA* Cost of inventories sold* 995,232 753,400
e Depreciation 69,856 37,096
RIENEERKE Recognition of prepaid lease payments* 1,379 1,341
PRuR R Amortisation of mining right* 546 1,666
B Amortisation of intangible assets* 8,176 3,258
% B AT BN <& Auditors’ remuneration
— B R - Audit Service 1,639 2,559
— IEFE AT AR - Non-audit Service - -
EEEMBEZ(BIEESEFHI) Employee benefit expense (including
directors’ remuneration)
ITE.- %ﬁ‘i\&%{%%ﬂ Wages and salaries and benefits in kind 77,533 59,218
BEZEREIHRK Pension scheme contributions 698 504
78,231 59,722
PN ZRE - F5E Foreign exchange differences, net’ 2,761 (12,149)
FEWE S ERFORE R Reversal of impairment of trade receivables’ (258) =

# FAAGAEEREMEEABRARZIHERK & Included in “Cost of sales” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
N comprehensive income

FAGEEEREMEEARAR Z[1TERE Included in "Administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or
i loss and other comprehensive income

122 Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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1. WIEEH 7. FINANCE COSTS
—F—\F Lt g2
2018 2017
TEx Fi#xT
HKS’000 HKS$'000
(£BE5)
(Restated)
BFELEER Continuing operations:

HARAFANZEEE ZR1T X Interest on bank and other borrowings

H A& KF S wholly repayable within five years 26,037 12,934

AR RAFZ 2 EEE ZR1T X Interest on bank and other borrowings
H A EFRFE wholly repayable after five years - 7,745

Al R E A B Interest on convertible bonds 47,021 3,765
73,058 24,444
CETAGR BB EEK AR Less: Amount capitalised in the cost
BER S5 of qualifying asset - (7,745)
73,058 16,699
8. ESM= 8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
(a) EEHN (a) Directors’ Emoluments
22— N\FE+_HA=+— The emoluments of each director for the year ended 31
HIEFESEES ZEHMEHIIM December 2018 is set below:
™
e B &%
Fees Share options Total
FEx FiEx Ti#Ex
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
HITES Executive directors
ot Shum Sai Chit - 847 847
ME Chi Bi Fen - 565 565
FHITES Non-executive directors
Al Meng Jian 100 141 241
BEFAFEL Tam Wai Ho, Samson Jp - 141 141
BIFHTES Independent non-executive
directors
BB IR ST Kwong Ping Man 30 141 171
RE AR Cheung Sound Poon 30 141 171
BT Kwan Ngai Kit 30 141 171
190 2,117 2,307
MRS R AR A F)
2018 BERE 123
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8. EEME 4~ 8.  DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION (continued)
(a) EEHM %) (a) Directors’ Emoluments (continued)
B -_E—+tHF+-_A=+— The emoluments of each director for the year ended 31
HIEFESES 2HMEHH N December 2017 is set below:
T
e &%
Fees Total
T T
HK$'000 HK$'000
HITES Executive directors
LR Shum Sai Chit - -
MBS Chi Bi Fen - -
FHITES Non-executive directors
=2 Meng Jian 100 100
BERATHL Tam Wai Ho, Samson JP - -
BYKHITES Independent non-executive
directors
BB IR L Kwong Ping Man 30 30
RE AR Cheung Sound Poon 30 30
EApEES Kwan Ngai Kit 30 30
190 190
AR [ A 8 A 08 S FEENTT There were no other emoluments payable to the
EEXMEMME(ZE—+ independent non-executive directors during the year
FoE) e (2017: NiD).
RAFERNTBEEAATES R There were no other emoluments payable to the
FHTEEZNEMMES(=F executive directors and non-executive directors during
—tFE)o the year (2017: Nil).
RAFEERN - WERESIUIE There was no arrangement under which a director
AIREXREBEREFTAME 2 waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
TH(ZZE—+F  &|&) - year (2017: Nil).

12& Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2018
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9. hEEEHES 9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
WAAREE L hEZRR T EE Details of the remuneration for the five highest paid employees
MESFFIBUT - who are not a director of the Company are as follows:

Yy —=—+=

2018 2017
T8 T8
HK$'000 HKS$'000
e RN EYA R Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 2,309 5,361
BREER Share option expenses 5,361 —
RRETEIHER Pension scheme contributions 155 206
7,825 5,567
FMENATEHE 2 EEE RIET The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest
BEBEHETERHEE CAZBAT - paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following

bands is as follows:

EEAH
Number of employees

—=—\F =t BT

2018 2017

=% 1,000,00087T Nil to HK$1,000,000 1 3
1,000,001 BLE HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000

2,000,000787T 2 2
3,000,000 TE HK$3,000,000 to HK$4,000,000

4,000,000 7T 1 _

4 3

RMEEHR R EIEIRAR A A
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10. FRIEBIBA X 10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
RizeEakEMEEKARAN The amount of income tax expense charged/(credited)
B (Rt RIFTS R X BiaB g - to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income represents:

—g-nx ECEEE

2018 2017
T8 T8
HK$'000 HKS$'000
(#BEF)
(Restated)
BFELEER Continuing operations:
BIHARS 1A - Current tax:
—BEFEH - Hong Kong Profits Tax - -
— P EMER — PRC Enterprises Income Tax 54,900 55,752
54,900 55,752
EXER IR (MI5E33) Deferred taxation (Note 33) (5,065) (461)
49,835 55,291
EARBADNR MW AR AR RHEK A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before
ZHEMBARMERR alE#ER tax at the statutory rates for the countries/jurisdictions in
EEMERFE ZRBELHEUER which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are
MEFBEHEZLHEE  KKkE domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rates, and
ABEENEEMER)EBERHE 2 a reconciliation of the applicable rates (i.e. the statutory tax
HERWT - rates) to the effective tax rates, are as follows:
—E-N\F —E2—+tF
2018 2017
Ti#n FT#x
HK$'000 HKS'000 %
(EE51) (BEF)
(Restated) (Restated)
FECEER Continuing operations:
5 A4 A Profit before tax 267,526 233,074
BAEMETE2BIE  Taxat the statutory tax rates 72,009 26.9 57,552 24.7
BART 2 WA Income not subject to tax (15,431) (5.8) (7,658) (3.3)
PR Z 2 Expenses not deductible for tax 21,646 8.1 8,358 3.6
KRR 2 T IR EE Tax losses not recognised - - (2,961) (1.3)
AP AR HIBEIE  Tax losses utilised from previous
periods (28,389) (10.6) - -
BEAREERBEGTE Tax charge at the Group's effective
HIEX rate 49,835 18.6 55,291 23.7

126 Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2018



715 16k
(ITZE=R]) ZER3
BRARS o ZEARR=-F—N
FZA-TN\BREIRER
W B HETE - RIEANSH M
mwl EEREEERNE
2AEEE TN BAS#E8.25 % &
B miEd2 A8 BTN
BBIZER16.5% M - TFFE
15 1 /AR il B 5% [ B RS )8
1% 4 48 12 16.5 % KB TE B K
i o

RNE& B E =R E i AR A
UMM ERERMS M E R
MEAYBBREAMSBEILNE
Ko BBEMSH N M EFEA
B RAEET AR N 2 16.5%
AE - -mRNERBLEELE
bEAN  MEE—ZT-N\F
TZA=1T—HIEFEHEAX
H?ﬁﬁﬁC%FtEZ%%
5T o

FEGEMSHEDEHEZE-Z
—NER-_ZT—+tF+_A
=t+—BULEFEZGFEREK
A2 25% 5t E o

EREMBE_TN\ET=
+— B 1E # R K 5 A 8

50 &1L

—F—\F+=ZA=1+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 December 2018

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill
2017 (the "Bill") which introduces the two-tiered profits
tax rate regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March
2018 and was gazette on the following day. Under the
two-tiered profits tax rate regime, the first HK$2 million
of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at
8.25%, and profits tax above HK$2 million will be taxed
at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be
taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The directors of the Group considered the amount
involved upon implementation of the two-tiered profit tax
rates require as insignificant to the consolidated financial
statement. Hong Kong Profits tax is calculated at 16.5%
of the estimated assessable profit for both years. No tax
is payable for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017:
HK$Nil) since there was no assessable profit generated
in Hong Kong.

The PRC Enterprise income Tax is calculated at 25% on
the estimated assessable profits arising in the PRC for
the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.

The board of directors recommends the payment of final
dividend for the years ended 31 December 2018 of HK$0.50
cents.

MERHEEEZER AR AR
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—ZF—\F+=A=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 December 2018

Continuing and discontinued operations

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount
from continuing and discontinued operations are based
on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the Company from continuing and discontinued
operations of HK$285,772,000 (2017: HK$168,320,000)
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
6,574,390,058 (2017: 6,180,837,382) during the year.

Continuing operations

The calculation of the basic earnings per share from
continuing operations amount is based on the profit for
the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
Company from continuing operations of HK$217,691,000
(2017: HK$162,069,000) and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares of 6,574,390,058 (2017:
6,180,837,382) during the year.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares. The Company has two categories of dilutive
potential ordinary shares: share options and convertible
bonds (2017: one category: convertible bonds).

For the share options, a calculation is done to determine
the number of shares that could have been acquired
at fair value (determined as the average market price
of the Company's shares during the period) based on
the monetary value of the subscription rights attached
to outstanding share options. The number of shares
calculated as above is compared with the number of
shares that would have been issued assuming the
exercise of the share options.

The computation of diluted earnings per share does not
assume the exercise of the Company's share options
because the exercise price of those share options was
higher than the average market price of shares for the
year ended 31 December 2018.
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BHE-_ZT—N\FE+=-A=+—HILEE For the year ended 31 December 2018

12. ARRIEBERESFEEA 12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY
EiEEREF 2 HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY (continued)
(b) #8 @ (b)
o A TG AR T

BE-F—+t5+-A=+—
B RS RS
RE MG EEEHBBRAT
CHEBMREELE - Wki
N TP
EEEBOTRBFRA)T -
BE-F—\F+t_A=1—
HIEFE - SEEBEBRE
IS E R BETREN B8
pERIImT -

g}

Diluted (continued)

Continuing and discontinued operations

The effect on earnings per share from continuing
operations and discontinued operations were anti-dilutive
for the year ended 31 December 2017 and were not
included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share
from continuing operations and discontinued operations.
The dilutive effect on earnings per share from continuing
operations and discontinued operations for the year
ended 31 December 2018 were presented as below:

—E-N\F
2018

FE RIS T Continuing and discontinued operations:
NAREER ANES Profit for the year attributable to
FWas (F57T) owners of the Company (HK$'000) 285,772
AR ESFI B 22 - BRTi1&  Effect of interest on convertible bonds, net-off tax
(F#7T) (HK$'000) 42,035
REREERFMSKEIFEN  Earnings for the purpose of diluted
BRI TG 2 B F earnings per share from continuing
(F%7L) and discontinued operations (HK$'000) 327,807
BEITTL B INET IS Weighted average number of ordinary
(Fh) shares in issue (thousand shares) 6,574,390
ERTBRES 2 FE (TA)  Effect of conversion of convertible bonds
(thousand shares) 1,050,000
BiEE RN 8T Weighted average number of ordinary
ngEFEE (FRR) shares for diluted earnings per share
(thousand shares) 7,624,390
EEERN (FRBI) Diluted earnings per share (HK cents per share) 4.30

RABRBRESME  BE-T

Continuing operations

For the convertible bonds, the effect on earnings per

—NERZFE—+tF+=A
=+—HLEFE REFEL
BERERENBERES
WARETAGTEEGAREE R R P o

shares from continuing operations were an anti-dilutive
for the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, they
were not included in the calculation of diluted earnings
per share from continuing operations.

HERZEEZEEERAR
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13.

130

BRI EER

R-Z—N\FRAE ARFAES=E
REMEETEMFS - JTANEA
MEENRBAM - ZFHEER =T
—N\FLtA=1T—BEZKXE -

B IEREERF SR H Y
TeotreBEakEMmezmRAR R
RN RBFTLEE 25 EH
NEFEREBCREVRIELE -

13. DISCONTINUED OPERATION

At the end of June 2018, the board of the Company decided
to disposal the electronic product business due to its weak
profitability. The disposal was completed on 31 July 2018.

The profit for the year from discontinued operations is set out
below. The comparative figures in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and related
notes have been represented as if electronic product business
had been discontinued at the beginning of the year.

BHZE

e —F—+F

—E2-N\F +=A

+A=+—H =+—HL

IE+{EA FE

Seven months

ended Year ended

W1 31 December 2017

T8 FEnx

HKS'000 HK$'000
BEFERESFRNER),  (Loss)/profit from electronic product

i A business for the year (1,314) 6,284

& e Gain on disposal 69,483 -
FAXRBEERIEREFET Profit for the year from discontinued

St A operations 68,169 6,284

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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BHE-_ZT—N\FE+=-A=+—HILEE For the year ended 31 December 2018

13. BRALEREER )

ERIE **%ﬁ‘%%iﬁéﬂj D A 851 40

13. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continued)

Analysis of the results of the discontinued operations are set

™ out below:
S
—E—+tHF
+=-BA=+—8
LLFE
Seven months ended
31 July 2018 Year ended
(CLIEITPEN 31 December 2017
i ) T
HK$'000 HK$'000
WA Revenue 179,652 329,070
SHE KA Cost of sales (148,014) (261,754)
EF Gross profit 31,638 67316
H s o B 1B 5 5 Other gains or losses, net 9,924 4,840
HERDHER Selling and distribution costs (12,119) (20,440)
THRAY Administrative expenses (21,143) (25,170)
T R BIR RIS Research and development expenses (9,379) (16,690)
H’r@ﬁ‘«Mfiﬁ DA Other operating expenses, net - (3,840)
ElhaERalaRER Share of profits and losses of joint ventures
(FizE18)_ ) (Note 18) 180 1,087
JE (B N B)m A K2 B 18 Share of profits and losses of associates - 1
Eﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁ Finance costs (415) (808)
RS BRI (B1R), & 7 (Loss)/profit before income tax (1,314) 6,296
FTSBFAX Income tax expenses - (12)
RN (ER),wfl (Loss)/profit for the period (1,314) 6,284
Htn2m(FA%), WA Other comprehensive (expenses)/income
REBREBENRHEEEE 2 Other comprehensive (expenses)/income to be
Hhz2mE(FxL) /HﬂU\ reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent
i \ 9 periods:
TEBINERZERZ5 Exchange differences on transaction of
foreign operations (3,381) 6,378
MR2E (X)) BAEHE Total comprehensive (expenses)/income
for the period (4,695) 12,662
THATEEHA (Loss)/profit for the period attributable to:
(Eﬁa){;ﬁﬂ :
AREFEGA Owners of the Company (1,402) 6,251
FEIE R Non-controlling interest 88 33
(1,314) 6,284
THALEEHAN2E(BI®),” Total comprehensive (expenses)/income for the
WK%% : period attributable to :
AREFEGA Owners of the Company (5,094) 13,182
FEIE R & Non-controlling interest 399 (520)
(4,695) 12,662
BRER Profit per share:
RECRIERERHK From discontinued operation
BN E (B Basic and diluted (HK cents) 1.0 0.1

HERZEEZEEERAR
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13.

132

BRIEEEERE )

RECKRIEXEBOES " FRER)
SEFIBREATRE

13.

DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continued)

(Loss)/profit for the period/year from discontinued operation
includes the following:

BZE

—F—+tF

+=H

=+—Hi

FE

Seven months

ended Year ended

ART\%1IEE 31 December 2017

HK$'000 HKS'000

WRENMEERK Recognition of prepaid lease payment 233 475

M - BEREETE Depreciation of property, plant and

equipment 3,389 5,556

EEHTFERA Cost of inventories sold 177,079 182,678
I REF K& Minimum lease payments under operating

ME TxIEEERE lease in respect of land and buildings 435 3,606

HE_Z—/\FLtA=+—HBILH
M EFTERESALAEELER
SREFREAEL 13,751,000 (=
T—+4F: 2 H10,624,000%7T) -
MILEEEE FH1,116,0008 (=
T— 4 EA23250008T) %
MEEEEE 44130008 T(=
T—+4%F : DH1,784,0007T) °

During the period ended 31 July 2018, the electronic
product business generated HK$13,751,000 (2017: used
HK$10,624,000) to the Group's net operating cash flow, used
HK$1,116,000 (2017: generated HK$2,325,000) in respect
of investing activities and used HK%$4,413,000 (2017: used
HK$1,784,000) in respect of financing activities.

Figx
HKS'000

RIE : Consideration:

2R e Cash received 13,183
FIEIR S RE Deferred cash consideration 56,000
REARZE Total consideration 69,183

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2018
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13. ERUEREXZK @) 13. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continued)
R=-F—N\F
+tA=+—H
As 31 July 2018
T8
HKS'000
EHEZEEFE: Net assets disposed of:
T b A Land use right 14,225
M - BB RERE Property, plant and equipment 99,064
RHEITFR Long term deposits 21
REERRIZKRE Investments in joint ventures 6,646
R—REEE AR ZRE Investment in an associate 18
FREMEEKARARE Equity instruments at fair value through other
FTECZRETA" comprehensive income* 3,000
FE Inventories 49,287
JEWE SR L ERER Trade and bills receivables 32,409
NI - ke REMERIRK Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 9,095
B —FE&aERRIERK Amount due from a joint venture 147
RIT RIS AR Bank and cash balances 32,373
2 5 RENERN Trade payables (39,076)
JEET & A & H AL FE A AR K Accruals and other payables (33,080)
AN Income tax payable (118)
BE Borrowings (22,000)
i Provision (1,130)
B — R IR 2 BR K Amount due to a shareholder (115,000)
FEfE I Non-controlling interests 7,437
R &% IR FEE Release of reserves upon disposal (43,618)
HENB ARz WS Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 69,483
BRE Total consideration 69,183
HEFEARESMAFEE Net Cashflow arising on disposal:
EWRE Cash received 13,183
B BEHRERITRReER Less: Cash and bank balances disposed (32,373)
(19,190)

BRERERUBREENEIRRE - AH
3,000,000 TH S EE RN BB ERIE
PRBETHAIHRHEESCREESHHIRER
AFEFAREMEERESHRATE -

Upon initial application of HKFRS 9, an amount of HK3,000,000 was reclassified
from available for sales financial assets under HKAS 39 to equity instrument at
fair value through other comprehensive income.

MR BB R AR
2018 AFRE
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4. YE - BERRME

134

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

HELH BE - %E
REF EEIR HE L]
Leasehold Construction MELE fumitee,  HEREE TARIHE RE
land and in Leasehold fixtures and Plant and Tooling Motor aE
buildings progress improvements equipment machinery and moulds vehicles Total
TET TET Tign TET TET TEL TET Tax
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
B Cost:
RZZ—t§5-A—-H As at 1 January 2017 334,095 710,081 19,268 77,255 390,664 127,040 9,467 1,667,870
NE Additions 257 262,491 = 3972 2,046 1418 579 270,763
3 Transfer 215,831 (592,433) = = 376,602 - - -
e Disposal (2,009 - (352) (2,459) (3,283) (1168) (61) (9.332)
R ET Exchange realignment 32,225 41552 1,068 2,117 42,745 1977 411 122,095
WZZ—+&F+=A=1t—HKk Asat31 December 2017 and
“F-\¥-A-H 1 January 2018 580,399 421,691 19,984 80,885 808,774 129,267 10,396 2,051,396
RE Additions 693 197,588 - m 4,594 386 883 204,255
o Transfer 5221 (102971) - - 97,750 - = =
HE Disposal - - () 8) - (5,228) - (5.239)
HEBKRILEEEY Disposal of discontinued
operations (138,466) - (19,376) (73,644) (84,125) (123,309) (6,052) (644,972)
E &7 Exchange realignment (28,165) (25990) (605) (1298) (44,968) (1,118) (334) (102.476)
R=F-N£+=B=t+-H As at 31 December 2018 419,682 490,318 - 6,046 782,025 - 4,893 1,702,964
ZiHE: Accumulated depreciation:
RZE—t5—F—H As at 1 January 2017 (53,740) - (18,773) (73,091) (130,528) (126,259) (6,376) (408,767)
KEEHRENE Depreciation provided during
the year (14,812) - (254) (3,581) (21,985) (1,086) (934) (462,652)
HE Disposal 204 = 352 2,459 3,283 1,168 60 7,526
EHE5 Exchange realignment (4,080) - (1,059) (1,807) (9,768) (1,959) (210) (18,883)
WZZ—+&+-A=+—HK Asat31 December 2017 and
—2-\$-A-H 1 January 2018 (72,428) - (19,734) (76,020) (158,998) (128,136) (7,460) (662,776)
KEEFRENE Depreciation provided during
the year (22,582) - (202) (905) (47,999) (598) (959) (73,245)
HE Disposal = = 3 8 = 5228 = 5239
HEBRIHTE £ Disposal of discontinued
operations 43,618 - 19,328 71,398 83,357 122,393 5814 345,908
B HE5 Exchange realignment 3979 - 605 1,117 8932 1,113 191 15937
WZB-NF+=B=t+-H As at 31 December 2018 (47,613) - - (4,402) (114,708) - (2,414) (168,937)
HREE Carrying amount:
RZB-NEFZRA=1-H  Asat31December 2018 372,269 490,318 = 1,644 667,317 - 2479 1,534,027
RZZ—+F+-A=1-H As at 31 December 2017 507,971 421,691 250 4,865 649,776 1131 2936 1588,620

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2018



B 35 3R R M R (47)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

NFE+=—A=+—HBILFE For the year ended 31 December 2018

ps —

*=—=

4. Y% - BMENRRE =)

FicE

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
Note:
AEBZHEEL W REFTRBREHRZER (i) The carrying amount of the Group's leasehold land and buildings at the end of the
BEOWET : reporting periods are analysed as follows:
—2-N\F —E—tF
2018 2017
TExT TExT
HK$'000 HK$'000
REBZ R FEAL Medium term leases in Hong Kong - 6,684
R B A3t 2 F S AR 4 Medium term leases in Mainland China 372,269 501,287

372,269 507,971

R-ZB—N\E+-A=+—8  A&EEER
FE#1130,506,0008 T2 EF(ZFT—+
£ : 140,401,000 70) E R A B ARE
EER 2 RITEERE (M 28) ©

R-Z—-NE+-_A=+—8 HZEBT
(ZZF—+4 77450008 T) A EHX
BEANE - Wt ATERIR -

(ii) As at 31 December 2018, buildings of the Group with a net carrying amount of
approximately HK$130,506,000 (2017: HK$140,401,000) was pledged to secure
banking facilities granted to the Group (note 28).

(iii) As at 31 December 2018, interest expenses of approximately HK$ Nil (2017:
HK$7,745,000) was capitalized and included in construction-in-progress.

RERHE S EEAR AR A R
2018 AFRE
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15. FEf+ L uhiBEFREE

15. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS

T8
HKS'000

A Cost:
R_T—+F—H—H As at 1 January 2017 84,558
k= Disposal (302)
M 5 875 Exchange realignment 5213
RZE—+F+-_H=+—HMK Asat31 December 2017 and 1 January 2018

—_Z-N\F—HA—H 89,469
HEBREREER Disposal of discontinued operations (24,257)
M 875 Exchange realignment (3,327)
R=Z2-NF+=A=+—H As at 31 December 2018 61,885
Rty Accumulated amortisation:
R-ZFE—+tF—H—H As at 1 January 2017 14,664
NG Amortisation for the year 1,816
k= Disposal (60)
b 5 &5 Exchange realignment 608
MN-_ZF—+F+-_A=+—HK Asat31 December 2017 and 1 January 2018

- N\F—-H—H 17,028
A EH#E 5 Amortisation for the year 1,612
HE DR L ETS Disposal of discontinued operations (10,032)
M 5 875 Exchange realignment (78)
R=Z2-NF+=A=+—H As at 31 December 2018 8,530
BREE : Carrying amount:
R=Z2-NF+=A=+—H As at 31 December 2018 53,355
RZE—tF+=-A=+—H As at 31 December 2017 72,441

136
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. AL HEEME o) 15. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS (continued)
=Sl —F—LtF
2018 2017
T8 T8
HKS'000 HK$'000
BNHAER 19 Current portion 1,319 1,876
FERNHR &R Non-current portion 52,036 70,565
53,355 72,441
R—_E—N\NEFE+-_A=+—8H" As at 31 December 2018, prepaid land lease payments of
#925,259,000%8 T(Z T — £ & : approximately HK$25,259,000 (2017: HK$28,015,000) have
28,015,0008 7C) AN T AH & K been pledged to secure bank borrowings (note 28).
HEEEA - UEBIRTTER(ME
28) °
AN T ERBB AR BHHEOE The prepaid land lease payments are held under medium term
B R BEAM - leases and are situated in Mainland China.
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16.

138

BIEE 16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
BRI B AR
Deferred
development 57 @zt
cost Patent Total
T T THERT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
A Cost:
RZT—tF—H—H As at T January 2017 41,068 - 41,068
EERIEG GNP Transfer from payment of
acquisition of patents - 50,049 50,049
Rl Exchange alignment - 3,793 3,793
RZZE—+F+-A=+—HBK Asat31December 2017 and 1 January 2018
“T-\F-A—H 41,068 53,482 94,910
HEDR HEEERK Disposal of discontinued operations (41,068) - (41,068)
& 5 &5 Exchange alignment - (2,790) (2,790)
R=B-NE+=-A=t+-H As at 31 December 2018 - 51,052 51,052
Rt Accumulated amortisation:
RZT—tF—H—H As at 1 January 2017 41,068 - 41,068
REEEE Amortisation for the year = 3,258 3,258
&5 Exchange alignment - 121 121
RZE—tE+ZA=1—H As at 31 December 2017
k=—F-\F—A—H and 1 January 2018 41,068 3,379 44 44T
REZEH Amortisation for the year = 8,176 8,176
HEBR HEEEK Disposal of discontinued operations (41,068) = (41,068)
EHET Exchange alignment = (533) (533)
R=E-NE+=A=t-H As at 31 December 2018 - 11,022 11,022
BREE : Carrying amount:
R=E-NE+=A=t—-H As at 31 December 2018 - 40,030 40,030
RZE—tF+-A=+—H As at 31 December 2017 - 50,463 50,463
R Note:

REBEZE-Z—tF+-A=1+—BLFE ' AQ7
2EMBARBLARTAFER SR REEAILE
MEFMBE12BFF - P BEHRF PR -
HpAEXEGM  PREAESHIRRLESS
WAEERRABEN ZEEFNGRNBRAIFE
17F7% - ZENEEE_T—+tF+A=+—
A IEFE R BRI BB R -

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2018

During the year ended 31 December 2017, Baishan Tianan, a wholly-own subsidiary of
the Company, acquired 12 patents from the developer Changchun Institute of Applied
Chemistry, Chinese Academy of Sciences, of which 9 patents was registered in the PRC
and the remaining was registered in the United States of America, in respect of the
production and development technologies of magnesium alloys, especially rare earth
magnesium alloys. The ranger of the terms of those patents are from 9 years to 17 years.
The patent was transferred from payment of acquisition of patents during the year ended
31 December 2017.
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T8
HKS'000

A Cost:
R_E—+F—H—H As at 1 January 2017 55,033
=gl Exchange alignment 4,171
RZZT—+F+-_A=+—HK Asat31December 2017 and 1 January 2018

—®—\F—A—H 59.204
i %, &7 Exchange alignment (3,068)
R-ZE—-NF+=ZA=+—H As at 31 December 2018 56,136
Zotsy - Accumulated amortisation:
R-ZFT—+tF—H—H As at 1 January 2017 6,546
N S 5 Amortisation for the year 1,666
b 5 &5 Exchange realignment 558
—F—+F+-_A=+—HBK 31 December 2017 and 1 January 2018

—E-NFE—H—H 8,770
AN [ 5 Amortisation for the year 546
PE H &7 Exchange realignment (478)
R-ZB-NF+ZA=+—H As at 31 December 2018 8,838
BREE : Carrying amount:
R-ZB-NF+ZA=+—H As at 31 December 2018 47,298
R_E—+F+-_H=+—H As at 31 December 2017 50,434
EHRDURPAREMEEILTAR The balance represents mining rights of the dolomite mine
EABHORERE  AEAREBHE located in Baishan City of Jilin Province, the PRC, which is
= T UABESS o amortised by the production quantity over the ore reserve.

MERHEEEZER AR AR
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18. REERBIZIRE

140

18. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

—F—\F Ll g2
2018 2017
T8 T8
HK$'000 HKS$'000
EILEEFE Share of net assets - 5910
TS Goodwill on acquisition - 6,680
- 12,590
B —FEEE AR ZFIA Amounts due from a joint venture - 580
Rk ORVE (B EE Gii)) Less: Impairment (note (iii) - (6,680)
- 6,490

B —MEERRZFIA Amount due from a joint venture
— & - current - 844

PR

(i)

(ii)

(iii

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

ER—FHAERBRZRBNEREREERT
ZERAER  AERER  RERETEERE
HRE T —EARNEE - BREAHBRR
RAGIRIERE

RZZ—NF+=-A=+—8 " EK—MB4&
BREIZRETAT (ZT—+HF : 844,000
Br) DERERAEERBEEY - AER
- REREETESR -

ERBAEFER—HAERAZEEERR
B6,680,00087C - WA AESKELE—MH
BEARIZEBRE (ABREBEZEEE
RmE) RAR—GBERRZIREKEMER -
RAbEHLHAEE —BoBEAKE - HE=
T \FR-ZZE—tF+=-A=+—HLHF
[0 s — PRHRIRE ©
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Note:

(i)

(iii)

The amounts due from a joint venture included in investments in joint ventures
are unsecured, interest-free and are not repayable within twelve months from the
end of the reporting period and are therefore shown in the consolidated statement
of financial position as non-current.

As at 31 December 2018, the amounts due from a joint venture of HK$Nil (2017:
HK$844,000) included in the Group's current assets, are unsecured, interest-free
and have no fixed term of repayment.

Impairment of HK$6,680,000 was recognised for investment in a joint venture
in prior years because the directors have reviewed the carrying amount of the
investment in that joint venture with reference to its business performances
prepared by the investee's management, and considered that only a portion of
the amount could be recoverable. No further impairment was provided during the
year ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.
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18. REBRTIZIRE )

18. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

The movements in the provision for impairment of an amount
due from a joint venture and an investment in a joint venture

FEW — & B A RIFIRARE M —
REERARZRERERE 2 ZEH

™ are as follows:
8z 8=
—g-N\¥ —F—tF
ToA=+—H =Sl
IHEE HEE
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
FTiEx FEx
HK$'000 HK$'000
RET] At the beginning of year 6,680 6,680
B B AR I E AR TS Disposal of discontinued operations (6,680) =
RER At the end of year - 6,680
AEEFESERRZHFROT : Particulars of the Group's principal joint ventures are as
follows:
“3-N\FEAM “E-LEEMM
2018 Percentage of 2017 Percentage of
Pt iR iR
4 Z#E  EERE MEEER  RAE H FEEEZ &R PHIERH
Particulars Place of
of registered registration ~ Ownership Voting Profit ~ Ownership Voting Profit  Principal
Name capital held and husiness interest power sharing interest power sharing ~ activities
PR RERBARAR N hEl - - - 1978 20 1978 RERHEST
(L&A 5,401,507 The PRC EEEN
Chongaing New Standard RMB5,401,550 Manufacture and
Medical Equipment Co,, Ltd trading of
electronic medical
appliances
REFSERRAT ARE 15,0007 ] - - - 50 50 0 BLEEETER
RMB15,000 The PRC Online trading of
electronic products

A EHEAERRNREBHARAEE
ST

The above investments in joint ventures are indirectly held by
the Company.

BERBEERERARAR
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18. REEBRTIZIRE #)

TRIRAEE @R NBEREED
BERRZHHERRE

18. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial
information of the Group's joint ventures that are not

individually material:

—E-N\F —E—tF
2018 2017
F&x T
HK$'000 HKS'000
FRELEERERN Share of the joint ventures’ profit for the year 180 1,087
rEEREEELAREE Share of the joint ventures' total
WA L858 comprehensive income for the year 209 1,087
HEDRIEEEER Disposal of discontinued operation (6,119) =
AEEREGERAIREZ Aggregate carrying amount of the
FRERE Group's investments
in the joint ventures - 5910
19. R—RBEQATZzRE 19. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE
—FT—\F p=t Lt 2
2018 2017
TEx FExT
HKS'000 HK$'000
eI EEFE Share of net assets - 18
1‘2 Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2018
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HE-Z— \F+_-A=1+—HI-%E For the year ended 31 December 2018

19. BFEQTzRE#) 19. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)
EEENRI BT ¢ Particulars of the associate are as follows:
A5E
Ei5Fa#
Fifsatft iR RERFRE
1 AR EHME ZER  IERE
Percentage of ownership
Particulars Place of interest and voting
of registered registration power attributable  Principal
Name capital held and business tothe Group  activities
= DI —B-F
018 wn
BNREEFRERRA AR 3,000,000 hEl - 0 EEXH
RMB3,000,000 RMB3,000,000 Dormant

REBEREA ZBENRREBEANR
RAE—2EWEARRA 2 BHEK

The Group's shareholdings in the associate comprise equity
shares held through a wholly-owned subsidiary of the

1/'\ ®

TRINRAEETNBEA G i =

Company.

The following table illustrates the financial information of the

NalZ HBERHEE - Group's associate that is not material:
=t Sl —F—LtF
2018 2017
FEx T8
HK$'000 HK$'000
PN e /N| Share of the associate’s profit
il for the year - 1
REEZEEBEQRZA Share of the associate’s total
WA 4258 comprehensive income
for the year - 1
HE B AR I T Disposal of discontinued operations (18) -
AEER—EHE A A Aggregate carrying amount of the
"EZRHEEBE Group's investment in an associate - 18
ﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁ%@@ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂi
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20.

21.

144

AHHERE 20. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS
—E—+tF
2017
T8
HKS'000

ERBEE Non-current assets

IELETIRERE » AR Unlisted equity investments, at cost 32,680

B ORE (FIEE () Less: Impairment (note (i) (29,680)

3,000

B EE - Note:

(i) ARRERRAE  WEBE-Z—tF+= (i) Impairment of HK$29,680,000 was recognised during the year ended 31
A=+—BHLEFEEREEESHTHR December 2017 for unlisted equity investments with a carrying amount of HK$Nil
WEBEA)(ZZF — £ F 32,680,000 (before deducting the impairment loss) (2017: HK$32,680,000) due to the non-
TU) 2 3E T AR #E 1% K HE SRR 1B 29,680,000 performance of these investments.

BT ©

(i) L E A ETMRERES - ITRZE—N (i) The above investments was unlisted equity securities which was reclassified
F-A—BREBEEAMBRELENFEIRE to equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income under
FoBEERATEF AR MBEEKERA HKFRS 9 at 1 January 2018.

IHE-

(iii) ZEFLITEBEREENRBEZE_E—\&F (iii) The unlisted debt investments was disposed during the year ended 31 December
TZA=T-HUIEFEHRLEE - FEHR 2018 as detail in Note 13.

MizE13 °
<5

REZRE 21. LONG TERM DEPOSITS

EEMERHNRE - BiZeHH None of the assets is either past due or impaired. The financial

2 & ph A& EE TR BN M HE R G 8 o assets relate to deposits for which there was no recent history

of default.

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2018
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2. FE INVENTORIES

2\ =t B

2018 2017

FET FExT

HK$'000 HK$'000

R4 Raw materials 104,022 67,261
& Work in progress - 10,753
BUAK o Finished goods 42,397 73,927
146,419 151,941

23. BEWWE SRR EWEE 23. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

—E-\F =t L

2018 2017

T8 FExT

HK$'000 HK$'000

JEUE 5 BRI Trade receivables 214,717 306,334
BER R Provision for impairment (3,544) (17,483)
211,173 288,851

e = Bills receivables 6,807 8,137
217,980 296,988

P 5E - Note:

(i)

AEBBEERSE2ESTEURBEENE
T REH—BTHEBIBOK - BEEPE
AEERHEEE - NEBBREEIEAE
EWGERIBEY SRR EERE - &RE
BETHE R AR o RN LA - i
ZARECZRRBSEFRIRREDMZE
B BIESANEEETRR - KEEL
EREHEWE SRR ERE A TR RRK
HAiEERFRE - EIKE 5 BRI F

Be

RZZ—NF+-A=+—8 " BREED
6,807,000 8 TR E BARE +—EARE
o FTARERERHUAREEHE -

(i)

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit. The credit
period is generally not over 180 days. Each customer has a maximum credit
limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables
and to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group's trade
receivables related to a large number of diversified customers, there is no
significant concentration of credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables
are interest-free.

As at 31 December 2018, bills receivable of approximately HK$6,807,000 will be
matured within eleven months after the end of the reporting period. All the bills
receivables are dominated in RMB.

RERHE S EEAR AR A R
2018 AFRE
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23. BEWE SRR
ALES )

RS HRIZ R A HE 5 H) UK
BHRRINBREERE) 2REKkD

23. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss

MW TR : allowance, is as follows:
—E-N\F =t Tl
2018 2017
FiBx FiET
HK$'000 HK$'000
P60 K Within 60 days 130,699 188,588
61 E 90K 61 to 90 days 37,550 46,416
FBiB 0K Over 90 days 42,924 53,847
211,173 288,851

RUREZFEFEEERBERLED

The movements in the allowance for credit loss of trade

wm receivables are as follows:
—E-N\¥ —F—+tHF
2018 2017
T#Ex TiEén
HKS'000 HK$'000
RE At the beginning of year 17,483 17,053
RINE B s AR Effect of adoption of HKFRS 9 (Note 2)

FIRZFE(HEE2) 3,968 -
FH(EES) At the beginning the year (restated) 21,451 17,053
WMEEBERER Impairment losses recognised - 532
BB R Impairment losses reversed (249) (102)
HEBRIEKEER Disposal of discontinued operations (17,453) =
bEH Exchange difference (205) -
RER At the end of year 3,544 17,483

1‘!6 Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2018
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23.

B E 5 BRI K
L E S )

E-F-N\FF+-H=T-
HEEENEBMHREE
£ 9 5RE NrlfE

RE&HE H HRA R EEEETR
BN AtERBEERE o &
BRIDERRABLUEREN (AR
WwiERE EmBE - FEPHEAR
AP AR ERESEME ARG
AR AREE)NZEAEL D
HMEMBRRBETE - Lt ERBR
FARMEER - EREERN R
SHRASAREESM - BAR
e TR R A AR OB B IR A 8
B —BME - WESREKFHIA
ARG —F R EERAREI®NT
=18 HlgMs - HHEEEEN
(CHACE N R

REBREREEITAEEE SRR
RENEERBREMIT

23.

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

Impairment under HKFRS 9 for the year ended 31
December 2018

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings
of various customer segments with similar loss patterns
(i.e., by geographical region, product type, customer type
and rating, and coverage by letters of credit or other forms
of credit insurance). The calculation reflects the probability-
weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable
and supportable information that is available at the reporting
date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables are
written off if past due for more than one year and are not
subject to enforcement activity. Details of assessment of
expected credit loss was detailed in Note 46.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix:

FEERESIREE IREAE EREE

Expected Gross carrying Loss

loss rate amount allowance

Fi#Ex n i 7o

HKS'000 HKS'000

BER (R EA) Current (not past due) 0.06% 211,308 135
B DR F Less than 1 year past due 100% 3,409 3,409
214,717 3,544

MR BB R AR
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HE—

148

. ERE SR &
BRI 2

Hmigélﬁ*éﬁﬁw
5518 N RE

R—EBE—+tF+=-_A=+—80"
L ERE SERREEERE
ERERERRKRE SRR ZBE
17,483,000 7T © & 5l 48 3 18 FE Uk
EOEREXFHRANEMRES
B TEHA SR BGRIER AT UL o

BE_T—tF+-_A=1T—HIt
EfgjfEM/”anE#\ﬁ?ﬁZ%ZE%*EB%

23.

T— ) \F+_=-H=1+—HI1LFE For the year ended 31 December 2018

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

Impairment under HKAS 39 for the year ended 31
December 2017

As at 31 December 2017, included in the above provision for
impairment of trade receivables is a provision for individually
impaired trade receivables of HK$17,483,000. The individually
impaired trade receivables relate to customers that were in
default or delinquency in payments and the receivables are
not expected to be recovered.

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at 31
December 2017 that are neither individually nor collectively

E\% FTAERISE 39 SRR E 2 B E considered to be impaired under HKAS 39 is as follows:
%m AT
—F—+tF
2017
T
HK$'000
K180 B TR R (B Neither past due nor impaired 273,499
BE—Z=MEH 1 to 2 months past due 11,364
BEAMZE =18 H 2 to 3 months past due 2,654
BEBBE=EH Over 3 months past due 1,334
288,851
R BN R (B 2 TR R IBE B R Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to
THAN B HE R AR sk I KL D AR P © a large number of diversified customers for whom there was
no recent history of default.
EAHEEREERFIBBRAR Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a

SEZELHRTNBLIERE - 1B
BRERLE ARARESERAE A

AEERD T 2 B E - BUEAR LS
RERRE LR ERAE -

Annual Report 2018

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

number of independent customers that have a good track
record with the Group. Based on past experience, the directors
of the Company are of the opinion that no provision for
impairment is necessary in respect of these balances as there
has not been a significant change in credit quality and the
balances are still considered fully recoverable.
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26, FE{TFEIE - R Hth

24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

PR TR 1B

= B —=—+%

2018 2017

FExT Fi&xT

HK$'000 HK$'000

B FROE Prepayments 112,639 51,041
e Deposits 265 70,821
H sk IE (M) Other receivables (Note) 64,197 29,042
YERIE] Impairment - (22,072)
177,101 128,832

BeHMEBRIONE - BERESE
HA W RIRE R

Mz : RZZE—N\F+ZA=+—8  HbEKR
HAHRBEIZRERIEREEBHREESH
#956,000,0007 7T °

BE-®-tE+=A=+-
AL EE SR HEAIE 39
$95 T

RZTE—+FE+=-_A=+—80" k
MBI - e R EAMAEKRRIE
2R BE A A22072,0008 T o @
B A  1E L th 8 Uk 5% I8 B2 E 4t i Uk
HRIBHE RN IEHFRIERME - BEE
Al U (B it 2 e W R TB 2 — 2B 9 3
Al (B ot 2 R U ERIE o AN E T
RN EERFTEEAEF M H A
SERARE - HpE g RIE
MARBHITERERBRAILER
HAW I R Ae sk 2 B AL o

None of the deposits is either past due or impaired. The
provision for impairment relates to other receivables.

Note: At 31 December 2018, the balance of other receivable mainly represent
the outstanding balance of disposal of discontinued operations of amount
approximately HK$56,000,000.

Impairment under HKAS 39 for the year ended 31
December 2017

At 31 December 2017, included in the above provision for
impairment of prepayments, deposits and other receivables
are provisions of HK$22,072,000. The individually impaired
other receivables relate to other receivables that were in
default or delinquency in payments and only a portion or none
of the receivables is expected to be recovered. The Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over
this balance. The remaining balance of other receivables is
neither past due nor impaired and relates to a large number of
independent parties for whom there was no recent history of
default.

MR BB R AR
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24, FARRRIE - mERHM 24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
PR R IE () RECEIVABLES (continued)
BRRIE - e REMEWKIEZ The movements in the provision for impairment of
BEREZEESHNOT - prepayments, deposits and other receivables are as follows:

—2-nz E R

2018 2017
T#x T#&n
HK$'000 HKS'000
iNGZ) At the beginning of year 22,072 22,072
RNBE BT REER Effect of adoption of HKFRS 9
EIRTE - _
FH(EEF) At the beginning of year (restated) 22,072 22,072
HE BRI T Disposal of discontinued operations (22,072) =
RER At the end of year - 22,072
5. ReENBREFEEAR 25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS
2R IRITIER
—F—\F gLl g2
2018 2017
T8 T8
HK$'000 HK$'000
R RIRTTER Cash and bank balances 131,276 172,854
RITIF Bank deposits 24,732 33,981
156,008 206,835
B BRZEIRER Less: Pledged deposits for borrowings
(BM3E28) (note 28) (24,732) (33,981)
RekReFEIEHE Cash and cash equivalents 131,276 172,854
EEBRITER Pledged bank deposits:
mENER D Current portion 14,975 7,897
EmENEL D Non-current portion 9,757 26,084
24,732 33,981

150 Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2018
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5. HERkREeFEHEANK 25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS
SRR ITER (=) (continued)
RI|EHKR  KEFUARKASE At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash
ZHEENRSFBEEE UALRBEEKF equivalents and pledged bank deposits of the Group
R1TF K4 A 140,453,0008 (= denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
T —+F 158,254,000 L) ° A HK$140,453,000 (2017: HK$158,254,000). RMB is not
RETSERIBREMER A freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
- AR B ANE B IR KA K& Mainland China's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
E - EENMNEESERTE  AEH Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
BEZBERERLEENEBHHN Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RITHARE S BLAHMER - RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct

foreign exchange business.

RITRES DBRBRITEHRITER Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
R 2 FE M REREUR B o TR bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for
SEARRSFR BRHEHENR three months depending on the immediate cash requirements
ZHRA=@A  WiLx& 8 22 of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short term
JE B RF REREUH B - RITEXN time deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits
FERGERERRAERFERAAR are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history
B i BRI R N R B AV ERTT o of default.
R—ZZE-—N\F+=-_A=+—H"' B As at 31 December 2018, pledged bank deposit of
HEIRERITIF 54 24,732,000 70(= approximately HK$24,732,000 (2017: HK$33,981,000) was
T —+4F 33,981,000 70) B K pledged to bank for secured of borrowings (Note 28).
FIRIT - LAEBER(MIFE28) o

26. BB SR 26. TRADE PAYABLES
RmERRIEEZHHE D ER An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the
EIER RO TR ¢ reporting period, based on the invoice dates, is as follows:

TE-N\F gt ok 2

2018 2017
T T8
HKS'000 HK$'000
DR 60K Within 60 days 30,667 50,881
61 £ 90K 61 to 90 days 2,122 7,818
FE3E 90 K Over 90 days 9,060 54,817
41,849 113,516
ENESERTHNE - £EHE The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally
FERTEBBISOK - settled within 180-day terms.

WHERHR R EER AR A A
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27.

152

Hit B REREAEAR

27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES

EHEE

S DY —st5

2018 2017

T Fi#&x

HK$'000 HK$'000

FEETE A (i) Accruals (i) 13,889 25,332
H A & A5 FRIE (i) Other payable (ii) 34,681 59,272
AW FKIE Receipt in advance - 10,745
48,570 95,349

BRERE Contract liabilities 7,799 -
JEET & Accruals and other payables are interest-free and repayable

(ii)

(iii)

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

R-_TE-—NF+-_A=+—08 E:ExX
FEAEN TS RE TEFH4,6540008
(= F — 4 : 10,523,000/ 7T ) & &5
BEEHMN13890008 (=T — L&
2,186,000787T) °

R-B—NE+-A=1+—8 " EfbENK
BHXEATRIREALNS%415,234,000
BI(=ZZ—+4 :13,883,000/87T) °

FHRHFESEEMNBERIT AR - A5E
KHEFHBAINEHNETE PEEZZHE
X SGERRIZHERIRERRENA
& - AEERRBNEHNABEHRBROMWEL
410,745,000 7T © AN B R A TR IE
FENTEREEAREDS - MELLT R
RRGRILFEEZEARMAEBRERBE M
V- RESBEVIFSERBENTYEMNR
%o

Annual Report 2018

on demand.

Note:

(i)

(ii)

(i)

As at 31 December 2018, the accrual expenses mainly represents accrual salary
and staff benefit of approximately HK$4,654,000 (2017: HK$10,523,000) and
accrued professional fee of approximately HK$1,389,000 (2017: HK$2,186,000).

As at 31 December 2018, the other payable was mainly represents outstanding
amount of construction-in-progress of approximately HK$15,234,000 (2017:
HK$13,883,000).

The Group receives certain portion of contract amounts when signing the
contracts with customers on sale of magnesium products. The transaction price
allocated to these sales is recognized as a contract liability at the time of initial
sales transaction, Revenue recognized in the current year that was included in the
contract liability balance was approximately HK$10,745,000. The Group considers
the advance payments schemes does not contain significant financing component
and accordingly the amount of consideration is not adjusted for the effects of the
time value of money taking into consideration that the payment terms were not
structured primarily for the provision of finance to the Group.
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28.

R 28. BORROWINGS
—E-N\F —E—+tF
2018 2017
T8 T8
HKS’000 HKS$'000
SRITE(BEFE®M) Bank borrowings (note (i)) 110,500 157,788
H b s (M EE (i) Other borrowings (note (ii) 266,127 304,294
376,627 462,082
B Borrowings:
—FAFRERER Within one year or on demand 65,706 83,815
—FLNEETHEBRTE More than one year but not exceeding
five years 310,921 371,387
AFMNE More than five years - 6,880
376,627 462,082
B mBBEMTEE Less: Amounts shown under current
liabilities (65,706) (83,815)
EMBBEMTERE Amounts shown under non-current
liabilities 310,921 378,267
B Borrowings:
BHEM Secured 216,480 306,768
4 Unsecured 160,147 155,314
376,627 462,082
BRATIEERHE - Borrowings were denominated in the following currencies:
—E-N\F —E—+tF
2018 2017
Fi&x T8
HK$'000 HKS'000
AR RMB 110,500 136,401
BT HK$ - 15,000
ETT Us$ 266,127 310,681
376,627 462,082
MRS R AR A F)
2018 BERE 153




B 35 R R B 5E (4R
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BHE—_ZT— N\FE+=-A=+—HIL%E For the year ended 31 December 2018

154

(ii)

(iii)

K 18 3 49110,500,0008 (= T — +
F £ 136,401,000 T) A —RKERMBEA R
WARBERAREROEFTRYE  BE
K 3% % #9130,506,0008 (=T — L F ¢
133,717,000 7 7 ) bA R FE A+ + 30 78 & FRIB XY
25,259,000 7c( =& —+4 : 28,015,000 %
TOVEHER -

R-Z—+F+-A=+—8  BITERY
21,387,000 7 JT LA 7K & [ 49 6,684,000 % 7T
Z T RIBF IR o

BIEAAR—RE2EMBAREBERESRHA
RI(EESRAR]DNER DR ZE  BRSR
R RIB A %M B A R 27,000,000 € T E

o
e

ZERTFRBBRITREREN3S5% AT
B S EIRERGHEE T EERA
HEtE -

Bl B & B 2 8] &89 B 5K 4 /105,980,000
(= F —+4F : 148,980,000 7T ) * H (i)
B RIRENARER: RHEERE
Alpha Sino International Limited ([Alpha
Sinol) A 2t 42 5 )t A& 5 & R ¢ (iii) 8B
T1F 3 #924,732,0008 T(Z T — £ &
33,981,000 47 ) {EHKI ©

BHE-_T—+tHF+_-_A=t+—HILEE &
£ B % 1T#2 %8 20,000,000 =T E 5 LARE
Be ZBEHREMNERINE - BEEN
B—R - RERFEBEBI  ZEHFWEEA
BR-ZT-_TFNAT—HB EBEHFERMNEA
FE7.05% °

R-Z—NFE+-A=+—8 " FIHERE
HEMERNMEERMNEZNR618%(=ZF
—+F 5.41%) °
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28. BORROWINGS (CONTINUE)

Note:

(i)

(i)

(iif)

Secured borrowing of approximately HK$110,500,000 (2017: HK$136,401,000)
were guaranteed by the corporate guarantee of a fellow subsidiary and pledged
building and property, plant and equipment of approximately HK$130,506,000
(2017: HK$133,717,000) and prepaid land lease payments of approximately
HK$25,259,000 (2017: HK$28,015,000).

As at 31 December 2017, the bank borrowing of approximately HK$21,387,000
were secured by land and building of the Group amounting to approximately
HK$6,684,000.

Pursuant to a loan agreement entered into by a wholly- owned subsidiary of the
Company and International Finance Corporation (“IFC"), IFC had granted a loan
facility of US$27,000,000 to the subsidiary.

The loan bears interest at LIBOR plus 3.5% per annum and the amounts due are
based on the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreement.

The loan from IFC of approximately HK$105,980,000 (2017: HK$148,980,000) was
secured by (i) corporate guarantee given by Century Sunshine Group Holdings
Limited; and (i) pledged of shares in Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited
as owned by Alpha Sino International Limited ("Alpha Sino"), the substantial
shareholder; (iii) deposit with banks of approximately HK$24,732,000 (2017:
HK$33,981,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company has issued a bond of
US$20,000,000. The bond bear an interest of 7% per annum payable in arrear
semi-annually. The maturity date of the bond is 11 August 2020 unless early
redeemed. The effective interest rate of the bond is 7.05% per annum.

The weighted effective interest rate of bank borrowing and other borrowing as at
31 December 2018 is approximately 6.18% (2017: 5.41%).
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29. BE

30.

29. PROVISION
=t SlE N —F—LtF
2018 2017
TEx T8
HK$°000 HKS$'000
Rn—H—H As at 1 January 1,042 933
B AEIE AN Additional provision 88 303
RAFEE NS Amounts utilised during the year - (197)
HEDKRIEEEER Disposal of discontinued operations (1,130) =
P 5 &5 Exchange realignment - 3
R+=—A=+—8H As at 31 December - 1,042

AEERBNEFERRATPREMR
MEE=FRE  K/BEERET
mElER - REZEBEIIR
HE MBENEE MREIERAE
b - ZAFTEERHELETR
& WIEEEER]

AT IR R 2 KR

ENBRREZFBAEESR 28K
BER12EARERE -

30.

The Group provides two to three year warranties to its
customers on certain of its electronic products, under which
faulty products are repaired or replaced. The amount of
provision for the warranties is estimated based on sales
volumes and past experience of the level of repairs and
returns. The estimation basis is reviewed on an ongoing basis
and revised where appropriate.

AMOUNTS DUE TO SHAREHOLDERS

The amounts due to shareholders are unsecured, non- interest
bearing and are not repayable within 12 months.

RERHE S EIERAR A A
2018 AFRE
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31.

32.

156

EEUA

31.

S A AE R 2 BUT 3R

to assets

Government grants received related

DEFERRED REVENUE
=L VY —z—

2018 2017

Fx FHx

HK$'000 HK$'000

69,772 73,585

SRESBEXZER  AIUTHX
LeBEBREERAPANR T —=
FEREMBTRI L — & - RIE
&g EMBARERAB LR
LEBBEBREXARAFEHRMBE
B(TER DU EREEER R MR

Bz T—N\F+_-_A=+—81t
FE - AEETERBREMER (=
T —+ 4 : 2,307,000 (B R
AR 2000,0007T) °

PTUER B R GRIE 2 B B » 1144
FE R A IR T A N EL 1R AFIRL 3T &
ERX  MRATHEEEARSF
HIR R e HERR o

AR ESF

RZZE—tF+—HA=+8"EAR
WEXFESEREN—3MD - AQ
ARBEEEREERARAUIESR
& & |) » Sure Sino Global Limited
([Sure Sinol) ~ 42 5 )¢ & & %
BERRABEARABYLZEE
W BOTEREFL4%t B A
B¥FHABIN XeREAE
420,000,000 T2 AT ARG (&S o
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32.

In order to encourage the development of magnesium industry,
Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources Co., Limited
entered into an agreement with the local government in 2012.
Pursuant to the agreement, the local government agree to
provide financial assistance (the “Assistance”) to Baishan City
Tianan Magnesium Resources Company Limited to improve
their production technology and enhance the capacity of the
property, plant and equipment.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group has not
received any Assistance (2017: HK$2,307,000 (equivalent to
RMB2,000,000)).

The Assistance received or which becomes receivables is
initially recognised as deferred revenue and subsequently
recognised in profit or loss over the life of a depreciable asset
by way of as a reduced depreciation charge expense.

CONVERTIBLE BOND

On 30 November 2017, as part of consideration for the
acquisition of the Fullocean Group, the Company has issued
convertible bonds which bear an interest of 4% per annum
payable in arrear semi-annually with aggregate principal
amount of HK$420,000,000 pursuant to the sale and purchase
agreement entered into by Capital Idea Investments Limited
(“CIIL"), Sure Sino Global Limited (“Sure Sino”), Century
Sunshine Group Holdings Limited and the Company.
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REAKREZSBER - Al 2RE
SREBEANTHAT  UkeBA
BENERTARAZ EREMMNDER
THMABENED - WREERSEBR
NEEeRREA S —BUKEE
BHREEHR 2ARBAGERT
HEE  AIREaIE - AEHS
ZAFEXRBBUITAIREBTA Y
BITMBNRETHEG - AJRRE
5 2 N FER G R8BI F X A AR
1T o fE 2 AP 00 PO A] R R AE 5
miwE | — B ESER - BES
MRNIERARNERN R SEF
14.6% °

ABRRESE TESIFE AER
ABAE 0408 TTE R DD - A
BITHER - TRRESAERAR
=FompaRAlRRESEHA
ZAIBER 1T o AN AR B B
FB Ol 1) R R 2 RIHAE 55 -

RZE—N\F+_A=+—8" 1
W ES 2 A F{EA A 351,931,000
B(ZZF —+ % 1 310,544,0008
JC) °
AHEEFNFAERITZ2E-Z
—+F+AZ+NBZEK -

According to the Group's accounting policy, the convertible
bonds are classified separately as financial liabilities and
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument. Conversion option that will be settled by
the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial
asset for a fixed number of the Company's own equity
instruments is an equity instrument. The fair value of the
liability component is estimated using the prevailing market
interest rate for similar non-convertible instruments. The fair
value assessment of the convertible bonds was performed
by an independent professional valuer. The equity element is
presented in equity under the heading of “convertible bond
equity reserve”. The effective interest rate of the liability
element on initial recognition is 14.6% per annum.

The convertible bonds entitle the bondholder to convert to
shares at a conversion price of HK$0.40. The maturity date
of the Convertible Bonds is the 3 year from the date of issue.
Conversion may occur at any time before maturity date of the
Convertible Bonds. The Company will redeem the convertible
bonds if the bonds have not been converted on maturity date.

The fair value of the Convertible Bonds is approximately
HK$351,931,000 as at 31 December 2018 (2017:
HK$310,544,000).

For more details of the terms of convertible bonds, please
refer to the circular dated on 26 October 2017.

MERHEEEZER AR AR
2018 AFRE 137
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32. HRRES ) 32. CONVERTIBLE BOND (continued)
RERE MR ARERN T IRKRE The liability component of convertible bond recognised in the
SBEHIFTEET statement of consolidated financial position was calculated as
follow:
T8
HKS'000

R-_E—+tF+—A=THETH Fair value of the convertible bond issued on

A#BRES A FE 30 November 2017 420,000
i) Equity component (103,650)
R=—F—+tF+—HA=+H Liability component on initial recognition and

?ﬂﬁL\ﬁEquﬁfﬁ BEH0 0 KBS amortised cost as 30 November 2017 316,350
R-E—+tF+—A=1+HH Amortised cost as at 30 November 2017

BIHA A 316,350
AAEBRFERAX Effective interest expenses charged 3,765
BT REM M E R Interest expenses paid and payable (1,431)
RZE—+tF+_A=+—HBK As at 31 December 2017 and

—E-N\F—H—H 1 January 2018 318,684
FABRFERX Effective interest expenses charged 47,021
B REAF B Interest expenses paid and payable (15,369)
R=ZF-N\F+=HA=+-—H As at 31 December 2018 350,336

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2018
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33. IREEMHIE 33. DEFERRED TAXATION
FARGEMBRARBRZIEL The components of deferred tax balances recognised in
THIBAE SRR Sy R E BT - the consolidated statement of financial position and the
movements during the year as follows:
ELERIESE Deferred Tax Liabilities
FA{T L3
HEME
AR ES Prepaid
Convertible land lease et
bond payment Total
T8 T8 T8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
MRZZFE—tF—H—H  Asat1 January 2017 - 3,099 3,099
BITRIHRRES Issuance of convertible bonds 17,102 - 17,102
FTASRE B R HA Credited to consolidated
FEKARK statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income (385) (76) (461)
bE 5 &5 Exchange realignment - 232 232
RZE—+F As at 31 December 2017 and
+TZA=+—HK 1 January 2018
—E-NF—H—H 16,717 3,255 19,972
AL EERK Credited to consolidated
EmzEmlRAR statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income (4,986) (79) (5,065)
M 875 Exchange realignment = (165) (165)
R=TB-NF As at 31 December 2018
+=B=+—H 11,731 3,011 14,742

MR BB R AR
2018 AFRE
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—N\F+=H=+—HI-4FE For the year ended 31 December 2018

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong before Inland
Revenue Department (IRD") assessment of approximately
HK$7,725,000 (2017: HK$423,667,000) that are available
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose. The Group also has
tax losses arising in Mainland China of approximately HK$Nil
(2017: HK$138,442,000) that will expire in one to five years
for offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred tax
assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses as
they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making
for some time and it is not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which the tax losses can be
utilised by these subsidiaries.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1 January
2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is 5%. The Group
is therefore liable to withholding taxes on dividends distributed
by those subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect
of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

At 31 December 2018, no deferred tax has been recognised
for withholding dividend taxes that would be payable on the
unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding dividend
taxes of the Group's subsidiaries, associate, and joint ventures
established in Mainland China. In the opinion of the directors,
it is not probable that these subsidiaries, associate and joint
ventures will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable
future. There was no significant temporary difference
associated with investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associate in Mainland China at the end of the reporting period
(2017: Nil).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.
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34, BgA 34. SHARE CAPITAL
—E-N\F —E—+tF
2018 2017
Figrn FiEx
HK$'000 HK$'000
EIE Authorised:
10,000,000,000 (= Z—+4 : 10,000,000,000 (2017: 10,000,000,000)
10,000,000,000) A% &M% ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
EE0.108T 2 ik 1,000,000 1,000,000
ERTRHE: Issued and fully paid:
6,574,390,058 (=& —+ 4 : 6,574,390,058 (2017: 6,574,390,058)
6,574,390,058 ) IR &A% ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
EEO0.108 Tz L@k 657,439 657,439
KAREBITRA 2 EBLMT - A summary of movements in the Company’s issued share
capital is as follows:
R iaE
iRE
BT AT Share
it (! Share premium k]
Number capital account Total
of shares TExT TET Ti#x
in issue HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
n-Z—tF—A—A As at 1 January 2017 2,874,390,058 287,439 601,060 888,499
BITHRA () New issues (a) 3,700,000,000 370,000 942,000 1,332,000
RDEITHRY Share issue expenses = = (2,983) (2,983)
MZZE—+F+-A=1+—H"  Asat31 December 2017, 1 January
“F-)\&—H-HK 2018 and 31 December 2018
—Z-\&+-A=+-H 6,574,390,058 657,439 1,560,077 2,217,516
FaE - Note:

(a) KRZZT—+tF+—A=+8"  EAKkEX
HEEENRERD  AARRBEEERE
ARAR(TEEIRE D - Sure Sino Global
Limited ([Sure Sinol) « 425 % R AR A)
AU BEERA(EEREESEHEDMN
KRB B AR QA (8B ) - Sure Sino
AARGI MBS — M EBEHZ((BMBEEER
# 1) A £ %473,700,000,000 B & B E E
0. 10 THE B - BRAIHER L0365
=

(a) On 30 November 2017, the Company issued 3,700,000,000 ordinary shares
of HK$0.10 each at a market price of HK$0.36, in aggregate, as consideration
shares for the acquisition of Fullocean Group, pursuant to the sale and purchase
agreement (the “CIIL SPA") entered into by Capital Idea Investments Limited
(“CIIL"), the Sure Sino Global Limited ("Sure Sino"), Century Sunshine and the
Company and another sale and purchase agreement (the "WU SPA”") entered into
by Win Union Limited ("Win Union"), Sure Sino and the Company.

MR BB R AR
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—N\F+=H=+—HI-4FE For the year ended 31 December 2018

On 4 December 2017, a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
was approved by the shareholders of the Company. Under
the Scheme, the Company may grant options to the directors
or employees of the Group and any substantial shareholder,
consultant or adviser, distributor, contractor, supplier, service
provider, agent, customer and business partner of the Group
(the "Eligible Participant’) to subscribe for shares in the
Company.

Options may be granted on such terms and conditions in
relation to their vesting, exercise or otherwise as the directors
may determine in its absolute discretion, provided that such
terms and conditions shall not be inconsistent with any other
terms conditions of the Scheme.

The subscription price is not less than the highest of (i) the
closing price of the shares on Main Boards stated in the Stock
Exchange’'s daily quotation sheet on the date of offer of the
option; (ii) the average prices of the shares on Main Board as
stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheets for the
five trading days immediately preceding the date of offer of
the option; and (iii) the nominal value of the shares. The Group
has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or settle
the options in cash.

The share options are exercisable only if the Eligible
Participants remain in the service of the Group or substantial
shareholder from the grant date of the share options up to the
designated exercise date.
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35. IBRRRE =) 35. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)
2018 2018
) 120185 .
20184 FREH FRITE FERK® 12A31H TEE
11858 ZERE ZERE ZERE 58 (BHaE)
BT
Options Options Options
Held at granted exercised lapsed Held at Exercise
1 January during the during during 31 December price
2018 year the year the year 2018 (note)
HK$
(A &8
Employees - 146,400,000 - - 146,400,000 0.4
- 40,000,000 - - 40,000,000 05
(B E=
Directors
Lttt R - 30,000,000 - - 30,000,000 0.4
Shum Sai Chit
HEZ - 20,000,000 - - 20,000,000 0.4
Chi Bi Fen
=B - 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 0.4
Meng Jian
BERATHL - 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 0.4
Tam Wai Ho, Samson J P
BIAX - 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 0.4
Kwong Ping Man
RE R - 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 0.4
Cheung Sound Poon
[FIp TS - 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 0.4
Kwan Ngai Kit
- 221,400,000 - - 221,400,000 0.4
- 40,000,000 - - 40,000,000 0.5
- 261,400,000 - - 261,400,000
WERREEZERBR AR
2018 AFRE 163
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35. BB 2 35. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)
R2018F12A31H @ MARITHERER Options outstanding at 31 December 2018 have the following
BB TEMBE  ITHEHEITE expiry date, exercise period and exercise prices.
{E °
BRAH & B TR BRITEE BREYE
Exercise
prices per Number of
Grant date Expiry date Exercise period Share Options
BT
HK$
—N\EMAZ+HR ZT=Ft-A-t+hH BZZ-N\F+—-A—-HBEE 0.4 221,400,000
—EZ=F+ZA=ThAH
25 April 2018 29 December 2023 From 1 November 2018 to
29 December 2023
—N\EMHAZ+HE Z—ETFT-A=+—H BZE-NE-A-BEE 0.5 40,000,000
I =
25 April 2018 31 December 2020 From 1 January 2019 to
31 December 2020
261,400,000
MRAERAE - %5 EIT8 Al #3%1T As at the date of the annual report, the total number of
ZARNBRMDBE (B L ERTT Shares of the Company available for issue under the Scheme
FRERYHE) A657,390,0580% @ #EE (including the above Options outstanding not yet exercised)
RARRE BB BITIRAL10% © % was 657,390,058, representing approximately 10% of the
FEICHM T ERNRIE R issued share capital of the Company as of the date thereof.
TLF+AMBER ° The remaining life of the Scheme is approximately 9 years and
to be expired on 4 December 2027.

(E-E - \F+THA=1T—HLF The fair value of Options granted during the year ended 31
EREL 2 BRE  FAMBNR - December 2018 determined using the Black-Scholes valuation
HRGHRETEEAEEANER model was approximately HK$21,558,000. The significant
#921,558,000/8 7T ° ) AZHER inputs into the model were share price of HK$0.325, at the
NEEHERZARKEHAENR grant date and adjusted for the effect of the share subdivision,
80.326/87T (ERBRDOIFNTE exercise price shown above, expected volatility ranged from
ER ) - LT HEE - HHRK 42.107% to 47.596%, annual risk-free interest rate of 1.561%
BRI NRE2.107%E4L7.596% © F to 1.999%. Expected life of Options of approximately 1.52
EERRHEI561%E1.999% ° 49 to 5.68 years and dividend payout ratio of Nil. The volatility
1.52F5 68 F AT B EF R TIR measured at the standard deviation of expected share price
BE o I HRE R RMIEEREM returns is based on statistical analysis of daily share prices
FERKRE IRBRE-T—Z—F+ from 24 October 2012 to 25 April 2018. During the year ended
A-+HMHAE=_ZT—-\FWA=-+H 31 December 2018, approximately HK$8,364,000 (2017: HK$
ANEERENSTIMFTEST - Nil) were charged to the consolidated statement of profit or

(E-F - \F+HA=1T—HLF loss and other comprehensive income.

}* #18,364,000/8TC (ZT—+t%F :

THL) Bt ARG EBERAMER
1451 S5 A ©

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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AEBERARNFEFBEEREZFH
SRNMESFH 2 NP HRKRE L9
B2 AR ERA -

RZE—-NE+A=1+—H ' =&
RElA D REB(BE—LN\—F
BREQRREEBINURENE]D
s+ &) 51,188,735,000% 7T o 1R 1E
NEYE  RRARWE MBI
DR TR o e BH AR REE
BEINHEERHEEENA FIRE
BERALEREAE  AITSUESR
BHRMAREHIEE DK

AREB2BRREBEERE-NAN=
FARRB BN EHAIFET 2 A
SEEEMBE 2B QAR
HE - AR FRMHMETZA
REIRMEEZER -

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements
therein for the current year and prior period are presented in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 59 of
the financial statements.

As at 31 December 2018, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda (as amended) (“Companies Act”) amounted
to HK$1,188,735,000. Under the Companies Act, the Company's
contributed surplus of the Company is also available for
distribution to the Shareholders. No dividend shall be paid
or distribution made out of contributed surplus if to do so
would render the Company unable to pay its liabilities as they
become due or the realisable value of its assets would thereby
become less than its liabilities.

The Group's special reserve represents the difference between
the nominal value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired
pursuant to the Group reorganisation prior to the listing of
the Company’'s shares in 1993, and the nominal value of the
Company’'s shares issued in exchange therefor.

MERHEEEZER AR AR
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3. MBEEARIEEFIEERSZ 37. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH
RomEME AT (2) MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)
NRIR Lt B 2 7] 81 75 & Bt The following tables illustrate the summarised financial
2o TBZE?Z%%E%*VE& AEBE R information of the above subsidiaries. The amounts disclosed
AIFEI A ¢ are before any inter-company eliminations:
BE-ZEZ-N\N§—F—HEE_-F From 1 January 2018 to 31 July 2018 (date of completion of
— )\EF‘tFJ +—8 (J'iEﬁJZ HEZD the disposal of partly - owned subsidiaries)
BEZHMEB AR HE) LHME
RAHE BEMEE
F#xT Fi#xT
HK$'000 HKS'000
EM&U\ Other income 2,686 2,005
X H4aEE Total expenses 1,624 2,888
7&@“2 SF,(E518) & Profit/(loss) for the year and
AERB 2 EHEBBERE total comprehensive loss for the year 1,062 (883)
mEN & E Current assets 757 542
REBEE Current liabilities 52,519 36,477
EM%%ZE&W\/ Net cash flows generated/(used in)
\(//l};l’ﬂ) B from operating activities 551 (144)
&ﬁ%f%zfﬁﬁfﬁ)\%%ﬁ Net cash flows generated from
- 3 investing activities (567) -
MEXB RS RAFRE Net cash flows generated from
financing activities 3 1
RekReFEEB Z Net increase in cash and
N FER cash equivalents (13) (143)
RNEEHERSHEBHRBL The party-owned subsidiaries were disposal during the year.
$E B % 5 B K FE 15 ) 1 s A B Details of the Group's subsidiaries that have material non-
NAEIFBEERIIAT - controlling interests are set out below:
—E-N\F —EF—+tF
2018 2017
FEZEH |$$Zﬁfc&}5ﬁﬁ B Percentage of equity interest held
BmAD by non-controlling interests:
PGB PGB - 49%
BMNAZE BEMNAE - 49%
REE DB EIEH R Profit/(loss) for the year allocated
5&?”/(@5%\) : to non-controlling interests:
PGB PARE - 619
BMNEE BEMEE - (586)
RN RER SR Accumulated balances of non-controlling
,\ujrm%* interests at the reporting dates:
RAGE AR - (6,600)
BMAE BEMNAE - (1,231)

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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3. EEXFEHMEREZRZ 37. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH
BorHEEHB AR (2 MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)
BZz-_Z—tH#+=-A=+—H1t Year ended 31 December 2017
5E
'1“7(%1?% EMBEE
FiEx FEx
HK$'000 HK$'000
H A Other income 3,220 1,415
S 4% Total expenses (1,957) (2,612)
REEzmA /(B8 & Profit/(loss) for the year and
AERZEZHEBERE total comprehensive loss for the year 1,263 (1,197)
m’:ﬁbé)—i Current assets 663 639
ERBEE Non-current assets 41,646 34,662
nEEE Current liabilities (5,042) (1,832)
EREEFE Non-current liabilities (50,736) (35,981)
REXG R e (R )/ Net cash flows (used in)/generated
ﬁ)\%’f%ﬁ B from operating activities (4,252) 356
REEF RS RAFRE Net cash flows generated from
B investing activities 4,427 1
RMEFXBZHERAFEE Net cash flows generated from
financing activities 2 =
fﬁi&iﬁfﬁ%fﬁlﬁ Ehrd Net increase in cash and
HHNFEER cash equivalents 177 357
MERHEEEZER AR AR
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8. MEXBMELESBEZHIR 8.

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING

ACTIVITIES
Eft—2HEAR
FEFRFAR
BRZzH%E
Due to a non-
controlling
shareholders of
a subsidiary and Convertible
shareholders Borrowings bond Total
Tign Tign T#n Ti&n
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000
RZZ-\F—A—H Asat 1 January 2018 344,206 462,082 318,684 1124972
BERERE Financing cash flow (61423) (51,520) 47,021 (65922)
HEBRIMEEEHK Disposal discontinued operations (115,000 (22,000) - (137,000)
& 7 E5 Exchange realignment = (11935) = (11,935)
AR EE QOther non-cash movement:
7S Interest payable 15,369 - (15,369) -
WZZE-NE+-A=1—H Netdebtasat31 December
MEKFE 2018 183,152 376,627 350336 910,115
Ef—-ENBATE
FEHRRAR
RRZHE EES TRRES -
Due to a non-
controlling
shareholders of
a subsidiary and Convertible
shareholders Borrowings bond Total
T TEn T T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZZ-t5-A—-H As at 1 January 2017 407,774 355,453 - 763,227
HERENE Financing cash flow (63,568) 83449 = 19,881
& 5 55 Exchange realignment - 23,123 - 23123
Hit R 229 - QOther non-cash movement:
EHIS Interest payable = 57 2,334 2,391
A= YN Issue of convertible bond for
R ES acquisition of subsidiary - - 316,350 316,350
MZZE—+F+-A=F—H Netdebtasat 31 December
RTS8 2017 344,206 462,082 318,684 1124972
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BE_T—

39.

40.

41.

FREXSH

FEFRERH

i) RBz2z-_==—N\NFE+_-A
=+—HIEFE  AEEH =
BIL(ZZF —+ 4 : 50,049,000
BIL)ARBENNSRERSE
FEE °

(i) SWOMEE 24P - HEBEXKRIE
FIEHIRER B R F KRR H AR
ST e

EEKH

AEBUFELEEEEABEFMNER
BB RMEE14 - 15 25 %28 °

é#‘**ﬂk
—T—tF+A+-A=+—
B - S R 5 40 A 2 L

HETRFEMENRBIBE -9
EHEEFER —E2_t+F -

E’\\ —N\E+=—_A=+—H8" ' K
lﬁﬁTTHx/ﬁz%«%fﬂiaqﬂak
RxVEMECERE  RHEHEER
HIFTE T ¢

Fi*l

//

39.

40.

41.

\FE+=A=+—HILFJZ For the year ended 31 December 2018

NON-CASH TRANSACTION

Major non-cash transaction:

() During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group has
transferred HK$Nil (2017: HK$50,049,000) from payment
for acquisition of patents to intangible assets.

(i) Disposal of discontinued operations with deferred
consideration unpaid at year end as stated in note 24.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of the Group’'s borrowings, which are secured by
certain assets of the Group, are included in notes 14, 15, 25
and 28.

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Group leases certain of its office premises and staff
guarters under operating lease arrangements as at 31
December 2017. Leases for properties are negotiated for
terms ranging from one to twenty years.

At 31 December 2018, the Group had total future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling
due as follows:

= \F = EE:

2018 2017

FiEgn FiEx

HK$'000 HK$'000

—FR Within one year - 3,484
RE—_FEERF (B In the second to fifth years,

BEMF) inclusive - 4143

- 7,627
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k2. FRIE
B L SOHI R 41 2 18 BT R E Y

43.

170

42. COMMITMENTS

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note

41 above, the Group had the following capital commitments at

=L BV —g—tfF
2018 2017

Fi Figs
HK$'000 HKS'000

oh - REERBEHRTA TIIE
AHEHE - the end of the reporting period:
BRI AMERIERHE - Contracted, but not provided for:

ME - BB KRB

Property, plant and equipment 18,629 24,729

EXAEALRS

R SO B R A M B A
BHOR SN - RER - AEM
ATHEAMEALRS :

(a)

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

(a)

43. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in
these financial statements, the Group had the following
material transactions with related parties during the

year:

A—REEARHE
RERZERARXNZ
BEE

RERZERARXNZ
BEE

7] — 1 [ 35 /B 22 )

BEEEMN

\\\\\\

Sales to a joint venture

Management fee paid to
intermediate holding
company

Management fee paid to an
intermediate holding
company

Purchase of goods from a
fellow subsidiary

SR -2+

2018 2017

F#x TR

HKS’000 HK$'000

(i) - 2,948
(ii) 1,200 1,200
(iii) - 12,657
(iii) - 15,401

(ii)

(iii)

M—ABRRNHHE D RESEERD
T ERFHE AREERERE
e

MEEZRARIMZEREREA
100,000 75 T UCER ©

ZER B Tk R B R RS S TR
BRRAREMBAR  R_T—LF
T—A=TAERKBEAF B ZA
FTETT ©

Annual Report 2018

Notes:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

The sales to a joint venture was made according to the published prices
and conditions offered to the major customers of the Group.

The management fee paid to an intermediate holding company was
charged at a monthly rate of HK$100,000.

The transactions was made between the Fullocean Group and the fellow
subsidiaries held by Century Sunshine prior to the completion of the
acquisition of Fullocean Group on 30 November 2017.



RZZBE—+F+—A=+H8"
BEBEIREBR AT Sure
Sino Global Limited * tHE42 53¢
HARRR Y ZEE WS A
NAEER036B T2 ERE
773,700,000,000 i E @A © W
B 17N & 48 %8 420,000,000
TCH) 4% ZE B AR ES - LAE
AWK FEBR 2 RE -

AEBETEEEABRM

SR NS E—THEBEH
R TSHRRHIFES ©

+ X FE(a)(ii) R (a)(iii) B 2
BATRGINVERK ETREISE
TLAETEMBEERS -

RZE—ttF+_A=+—
H ' REEFAA 183,152,000
B ooz E — £ F:
344,206,000/ 7C) - ZRE A
EE - 2B RBER12{EA
REE o

—EF—\F+=ZA=1+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 December 2018

On 30 November 2017, the Company issued
3,700,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each at a
price of HK$0.36 and 4% coupon convertible bond with
principal amount of HK$420,000,000, in aggregate, as
consideration for the acquisition of Fullocean Group,
pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement entered
into by Capital Idea Investments Limited, the Sure Sino
Global Limited, Century Sunshine and the Company.

Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group:

Further details of directors’ fee end emoluments are
included in note 8 to the financial statements.

The related party transaction in respect of items (a)(ii)
and (a)(iii) above also constitute connected transaction as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

As at 31 December 2018, the loan to shareholders is
approximately HK$183,152,000 (2017: HK$344,206,000).
The amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and are
not repayable within 12 months.

MERHEEEZER AR AR
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b, RERE D 2E€RTH 4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
ERMNEMIARRERRZER The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
BT : instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as

follows:

—g-\F+-A=+—H
31 December 2018

B
FEURFRIE
Loans and
Financial assets receivables
F@T
HKS'000
U E F BRI K B I Trade and bills receivables
A 217,980
P EiE e R H A IR Financial assets included in
LERMEE deposits and
other receivables 64,462
BEMIRITIER Pledged bank deposits 24,732
ReMReEEER Cash and cash equivalents 131,276
438,450
EFEpemIANBRERARZER The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
BT : instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:

—E2-NFE+=-H=+—H
31 December 2018

R AR

e

ol =R

Financial

liahilities at

amortised

Financial liabilities cost

T8

HKS'000

B2 SR Trade payables 41,849
PIAEMEMBERESEAZ  Financial liabilities included in other

cREE payables and accruals 48,570

gk Borrowings 376,627

FEST R SR 2 kI8 Amounts due to shareholders 183,152

AR E Convertible bond 350,336

1,000,534
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ky, HBERIE 22T A %)

e
5

44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)

—2—t&F+-HA=+—AH

31 December 2017

I=§ 7958 S
FEY w18 tREE e
Available-
for-sale
Loans and financial
EMEE Financial assets receivables assets Total
Fi&x FExT FExT
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000
AHHERE Available-for-sale investments = 3,000 3,000
T AEREIRE ZER  Financial assets included in
BE long term deposits 60 - 60
FEUE ZERZ I EUL  Trade and bills receivables
E 296,988 - 296,988
G AE¥RE REMEY  Financial assets included in
HEBZSREE deposits and
other receivables 9,903 - 9,903
B & ERRIERK Amounts due from joint
ventures 844 - 844
ERARITER Pledged bank deposits 33,981 - 33,981
R RIRESFMBEIEE Cash and cash equivalents 172,854 - 172,854
514,630 3,000 517,630
—E2—+tF+=-H=+—H
31 December 2017
HBRE A
iTEZ
SHMaE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
EHaE Financial liahilities cost
T8t
HK$'000
FETE BRI Trade payables 113,516
TIABHMEMNFIENESEBR Y Financial liabilities included in other
TRAE payables and accruals 63,370
EE Borrowings 462,082
e — M B A E)FEHE S Amounts due to a non-controlling shareholder
IR R 2 FRIR of a subsidiary 152
e AR 3R 2 FIB Amounts due to shareholders 344,206
AR ES Convertible bond 318,684
1,302,010
MR BB R AR
2018 BERE 173
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EEEEHEASRECEREEN
BEZATFEAREROERS
WHBEAREARLEETASRE
HARZIH]

RZZE—-N\E+-_A=+—8" K
EEBETAZATFEFEZSR
BERAGB(ZCE—+HFRAFEST
EZCRMEENARE  E) -

RAFEER cREEREBAR
FI1REF 2R A FEAE ZEAL
W BIMNALBBEAREH(Z
T—tF:HE)-

AEEXIZRIABRERKES
R R EMEWTIE  Re MEE
FEEE REPRS D EWRT
Tk AN E SRR - E A
B B U REN —REHE AR
— B IFERIRIR 2 FOH o

AEESRTAELANETERR S
EERR REBES AR NINEE
Re-EFERIMAEEELER
BB R - Bhattan T

AREBEER AEEBRIFNE=T
EITR G o AEBENBRRE » IA
MAEEHRETRZNEFPI9AE
STEERERRR o I NEBEE
B RUGRIRAE S - MANEERIRER
RBRBTEKX - BRIEAREZES
fIMDREEWEHENR S - KEEE
ZHI T ENRFREE AEBTRIE
HIEEGK
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Management has assessed that the fair values of the Group's
financial assets and liabilities, the balance were approximate
to their carrying amounts largely due to the short term
maturities of these instruments.

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at
fair value as at 31 December 2018 (2017 financial assets and
liabilities measured at fair value: Nil).

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial
liabilities (2017: Nil).

The Group's principal financial instruments mainly comprise
trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, long
term deposits, pledged bank deposits, trade payables, other
payables, borrowings, and amount due to a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments
are credit risk, liquidity risk and foreign currency risk. The
board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below.

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on
an ongoing basis and the Group's exposure to bad debts is not
significant. For transactions that are not denominated in the
functional currency of the relevant operating unit, the Group
does not offer credit terms without the specific approval of the
Head of Credit Control.
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4. IR EEBER K 2)
=B E )

R-E-N\E+-_A=+—HBHFEK
JEL B ik 1 % S 4R PR ER

TRETERBEAEEEERRNEER
BERGAGEERRMO  EXEXR
RBEBBER  HEEMERAHE
[T BRI Z ) BRI BRS 5
BERAIBRIN - UREBE—T—N\F—
A—BE=ZF—-\F+=-_A=+—H
R FLRFEER D4R ©

k. BIIEEMEBEEEEREE 2
SERMZ)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31 December
2018

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group's credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and
year-end staging classification as at 1 January 2018 and 31
December 2018.

FEHAES 1R R IREAE EERE
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
F#n TEn
HKS'000 HK$'000

RZE—N\F As at 31 December 2018

+=-—A=+—H

BNER (AR ER) Current (not past due) 0.06% 211,308 135
BHLP N F Less than 1 year past due 100% 3,409 3,409
214,717 3,044

HERZEEZEEERAR
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure as at 31 December 2017

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade
receivables. The Group has been largely dependent on a small
number of customers for a substantial portion of its business.
Over 32% of the Group's trade receivables as at 31 December
2017 were due from the Group's five largest customers. The
failure of these customers to make the required payments
could have a negative impact on the Group's operating results.
In order to minimise the credit risk, management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for the determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group regularly reviews the recoverable
amount of each individual trade receivable to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors consider that the Group's
credit risk is properly managed and significantly reduced.
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BEbeREE(RRERS MR
TEEER  FBREZRINRER
EF-AHEERE  BRAER
A K B R R IR e B B R TR K
B BeREMRKHIARNZ R
BE)ZEERRREHHTRE
mARz&m ELRESENHEFTE
ZARMEE -

L 7N 5= [ P I 34 2R B B B 5 BR AR
ZIEERR  HE—FPHNELHE
A B 5 R Y °E 23 % o

AEBUKEMERBDESHRETA
ERAEESRERER ZTEES
HemTANSREE(WMEWRES
R Z BIERIER - WIRRRE X
ZBREREBR -

AEBERARTERRRITEE
B BRNCEESFEERERES
BEFFE - AEER-_T—\F
ToA=t+—HB—FRIBPZRT
18I R IR AR T 1B R MR 0 B 7S ¥R R
A o

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties, there is no requirement for collateral.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which
comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade and bill receivables
available-for-sale investments, amounts due from joint
ventures and the associate and financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, arises from
default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal
to the carrying amounts of these instruments.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure
to credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in
notes 23 to the financial statements.

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liguidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial
assets (e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows from
operations.

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of
bank borrowings and banking facilities. The Group’'s bank
borrowings would mature in less than one year as at 31
December 2018 based on the carrying value of borrowings
reflected in the financial statements.

MERHEEEZER AR AR
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

—E-\§+-A=+-H
31 December 2018
EERXR 2R={EAR iich ot @t
Less than

On demand 3 months Over 1 year Total

Tign Tign Tign T

HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000

EHEZER Trade payables 9,060 32,789 - 41,849
N ARMENFERESERZ Financial liabilities included in

cRaRE other payables and accruals 48,570 - - 48,570

T Borrowings 65,706 - 310,921 376,627

(TR 2 3R Amounts due to shareholders - - 183,152 183,152

aRES Convertible bond - - 350,336 350,336

123,336 32,789 844,409 1,000,534

—2—+F+-A=+-H
31 December 2017
EERX 2PR=@EAR HB—F @t
Less than

On demand 3 months Over 1 year Total

Tign Tign Tign Tigx

HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS'000

EHEZER Trade payables 54,817 58,699 - 113516
NARMENTEREERZ Financial liabilities included in

THAE other payables and accruals 63,370 - - 63,370

T Borrowings 83,815 - 378,267 462,082

FEfT— KB AFEEHIRE 2 Amounts due to a non- controlling

IR shareholder of a subsidiary 152 - - 152

PR 2 7R Amounts due to shareholders - - 344,206 344,206

aRES Convertible bond - - 318,684 318,684

202,154 58,699 1,041,157 1,302,010
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46.
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(continued)

Foreign currency risk

46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the
Renminbi and Japanese yen exchange rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group's profit before tax (due to

changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities).

gHaak

Change
in rate
%
%

—E-N\F+=A
=+—H
EETTE AT ERIE R
BefE
AR
BIE
EETTE AT ERIE R
F1E :
AR
BIE
—ET—+tF+=A
=+—~”
AEBETTE AT EIE R
BefE
AR
BIE
AEBETTE AT EIE R
F1E :
AR
BIE

TEERTER

31 December 2018

If the Hong Kong dollar weakens

against:
Renminbi 4
Japanese yen 4
If the Hong Kong dollar

strengthens against:
Renminbi 4
Japanese yen 4
31 December 2017
If the Hong Kong dollar weakens

against:
Renminbi 4
Japanese yen 4
If the Hong Kong dollar

strengthens against:
Renminbi 4
Japanese yen 4

Excluding accumulated losses

WaET 2 &gm,
28 (RS

Change Increase/

in profit (decrease)
before tax in equity*
TFi#x Fi#x
HKS'000 HK$'000

13,274 -

(13,274) -

7,666 =
57 =

(7,666) -
(57) -

BERBEERERARAR
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46.

180

Bt i E b E IR B R R BUER

(%&)

EAXER

AREEZEXRER  TR2RBIIR
EASEERELE  UEKRE

ZERLE  UXFKEEBRES
BIREE -

AEBEEEEAERE  THAEL
B 2 EE) B ER RS
AR ERFBIAABELELRERE
B AEEKERRERRE AL
BITHBRD - REE-_T—N\F
T A=+ —HEZE—+tF+=
A=+—HBLEFE HBE - BR
HIEFIEEE) o

AREBREN L R OREE ER AR
HEBERER AEBIZBRR
ERBEEREFBE— - MEBK
2 mBN LR :

46.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(continued)
Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management are
to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may return
capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the year ended 31 December 2018 and 31
December 2017.

The Group monitors capital using a current ratio, which is
current assets divided by current liabilities. The Group’s policy
is to maintain the current ratio over one. The current ratios as
at the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

—E-N\F —E—+tHF

+=A=+—H =l

31 December 31 December

2018 2017

FiEx FiEgx

HK$'000 HK$'000

TMEBEE Current assets 689,070 763,067
TmEaE Current liabilities 172,078 300,843
mELL = Current ratio 4.01 2.54
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41, AR E) 2B kiR & 47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY
KRB mERRZFBERAKRE Information about the statement of financial position of the
N Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

—2-N\F —E—-tF
= bl -l +—A=+—H

31 December 31 December
2018 2017
FTigx FiEx
HK$'000 HK$'000
FRBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
MEBARZKRE Investments in subsidiaries 1,752,000 1,752,000
REBEE CURRENT ASSETS
JE U B B8~ B 508 Amounts due from subsidiaries 743,976 555,294
UG Prepayments 720 707
H i & WK Othe receivable 56,021 =
He MIRTTH Cash and bank balances 270 87,081
MBNEERLER Total current assets 800,987 643,082
REBEE CURRENT LIABILITIES
Hib e IE R ERTE A Other payables and accruals 1,657 6,426
REBEEZFE NET CURRENT ASSETS 799,330 636,656
EEHAEBERABAES TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES 2,551,330 2,388,656
ERBERE NON-CURRENT LIABILITY
JEASHBT B A B Fk IR Amounts due to subsidiary - 60,000
EEN Borrowing 160,147 155,314
FET B A8 R R R SRR Amount due to ultimate holding company 182,942 347
BEETIBAE Deferred tax liability 11,731 16,717
Al E S Convertible bond 350,336 318,684
705,156 551,082
BEFE Net assets 1,846,174 1,837,574
MERHEEEZER AR AR
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47. AP Z2BBRRRR ) 47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

e\ LT
+=B=+—R [ECERE:

31 December 31 December

2018 2017
FT#&rx T&n
HKS'000 HK$'000
f EQUITY
BEITRA Issued capital 657,439 657,439
i (KIsT) Reserves (note) 1,188,735 1,180,135
IRrEsaze Total equity 1,846,174 1,837,574
Eﬁ%iﬁﬁﬁé:;ﬁ—j}iz AZ+N The financial statement was approved and authorized for issue
AREEeEALEERE - SFH by the board of directors on 28 March 2019 and was signed on
THEEREKEE - its behalf by:
Mt ERE WER L+
Mr. Shum Sai Chit Ms. Chi Bi Fen
o EZE
Director Director

182 | Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2018



B 35 3R R M 5 (485
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(2T — )\F+-H=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2018

4. ARB 2R T2 47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY
(continued)
B3E Note:
AARZFEEHEELT - A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows:
RRES
[R5 E A R BXEEGE REGE BRERE
Share  EAZRER Capital  Convertible Share  EFTER
premium Contributed redemption bond equity option Accumulated k]
account surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Total
Fign FTiEn Fign FiBgx FiEn Fign FiBxT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
RZE—R"E+ZA=+—H As at 31 December 2016 and
k=Z—+%—A—H 1 January 2017 601,060 21,976 419 - - (467,592) 155,863
FEFEREABBRE Loss and total comprehensive
loss for the year - - - - - (21,293) (21,293)
BATE AR (NBRAR D Issue of ordinary share, net with
BITER) shares issuing expenses 959,017 - - - - - 959,017
BETARRESF B Deferred tax related to
RERIA issuance of convertible bond - - - (17,102) - - (17,102)
BITARRESR Issue of convertible bond - - - 103,650 - - 103,650
RZE—tF+=-A=+—H As at 31 December 2017 and
k=F-\E—A—H 1 January 2018 1,560,077 21,976 419 86,548 - (488,885) 1,180,135
FEEBRBREABBERE Loss and total comprehensive
loss for the year - - - - - 233 233
REEERHEIRZRS Equity settled share-based transactions - - - - 8,367 - 8,367
RZE—-\E+=ZA=+—H As at 31 December 2018 1,560,077 21,976 419 86,548 8,367 (488,652) 1,188,735
KRR T EARBBIERE— A= The Company's contributed surplus represents the excess
EANT TR ETHRFgT Y & of the fair value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired
EETNEHE ARG Y pursuant to the Group reorganisation prior to the listing of
NTAERB S B AT I IR 5 T B 4T the Company:s shares in 1993, over the nominal value of
SARAFBRGEET BB o BIE the Company's shares issued in exchange therefor. Under
—AN—EFEEATE —HL the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, a company may make
TAEEFERT - M ARSE distributions to its members out of the contributed surplus
R HIBEEREELE D o in certain circumstances.
MRS R AR A F)
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48. LLESBUE

KREGR 2 BUBE_F
—N\F+-_A=+—HLEFEZE
RIEREEBN L BRMEE KL

49. RIETIENGRE B 58k

HEMBHRENR_Z-—NF=ZH
“TNHEESESTSHEREKE
TIED
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48.

49.

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

The comparative statement of profit or loss has been re-
presented as if the operation discontinued during the year
ended 31 December 2018 had been discontinued at the
beginning of the comparative period.

AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and

authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March
2019.



B 35 B 2=

A EW IS E LI HRR CEF— This summary does not form part of the audited financial
B9 © statements.
e RESULTS
e L
mA—RAZ
e L
+=H BE
=+—-A ZZ3—t&§
HAf +=H
For the =+-H
period EEE
from For the year For the year
HE=-A=+-RHIEE 1 April ended ended
For the year ended 31 March 2016t0 31 3 3
-1 ZE-/F December December December
2015 2016 2016 2017 2018
TEx T T TET TR
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(&)
(Restated)
Viof 4] Viof 4] Hriz (i) M (i)
Note (i) Note (i) Note (i) Note (i)
BELEXK Continuing operations
WA Revenue 223,933 139,537 1,122,905 1,158,260 1,537,781
Bial(&8),/mH (Loss)/profit before tax (110,504) 265 215,163 233,073 267,526
FEH Income tax (13) - (56,811) (55,291) (49,835)
AEE/HEREHE  (Loss)/profit for the year/period
EEK(B1B),/ 45 from continuing operations (110,517) 265 158,352 177,782 217,691
KERHELLERZEF  Profit from discontinued
operations - - - 6,285 68,169
KEE /HR(B18),/ B H (Loss)/profit for the year/period (110,517) 265 158,352 184,067 285,860
FEfEaF/ (BR) Profit/(Loss) attributable to;
AREIRERA A Equity holders of the Company (107,460) 268 137,061 168,320 285,772
Flar ey ey Non-controlling interests (3,057) (3) 21,291 15,747 88
KEE/HR(E8) (Loss)/profit for the year/period
Ve vl (110,517) 265 158,352 184,067 285,860
HERBEEZERER AR
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY (CONTINUED)

EEHAE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

ZE-ARF ZZT—+tF = It
+=A +=A +=A
EEHAE =+—HB =+—H BESmml:
As at 31 March As at 31 As at 31 As at 31
—E-1F —E—RF December December December
2015 2016 2016 2017 2018
FEx TEx FiEx FEx FiEx
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BiEE i) Bzt i) Bzt i) B EE (i)

Note (i) Note (i) Note (i) Note (i)
BERE Total assets 339,496 853,742 2,126,175 2,558,801 2,372,218
ABfERE Total liabilities (129,756)  (367,240)  (967,240) (1,435,557) (1,101,001)

209,740 486,502 1,158,935 1123244 1,271,217

RREIREREA Equity attributable to equity

JFEAG IR HE holders of the Company 250,509 492,765 1,016,076 1,131,080 1,271,217
FEIEHI MR S Non-controlling interests (3,579) (6,263) 142,859 (7,836) -

246,930 486,502 1,158,935 1123244 1,271,217

B3 Note:

(i) ¥EREAERBEZEBRET NREEFED T (i) The comparative figures of the results and asset and liabilities have been prepared based
ZEFFRMAER o on the previous annual report published in the corresponding years.

(ii) AEEZ 2V BNEE—T-NF+=ZA=+—H (i) The Group has re-presented as if the operation discontinued during the year ended 31
IEFEZERIEEEBN L EBOEERIE - December 2018 had been discontinued at the beginning of the comparative period.
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